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HEARING ON: LONG-TERM BUDGET OUTLOOK

THURSDAY, JANUARY 11, 2007

U.S. SENATE,
COMMITTEE ON THE BUDGET,
Washington, DC.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:34 a.m., in room
SD-608, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Judd Gregg, chair-
man of the committee, presiding.

Present: Senators Gregg, Domenici, Grassley, Allard, Graham,
Conrad, Murray, Cardin, Sanders, and Whitehouse.

Staff present: Scott Gudes, Majority Staff Director and Mary
Naylor, Staff Director for the Minority.

Chairman GREGG. Let me call this hearing to order, which is—
I am sure some people are saying, what is he doing that for, he is
?o% in charge any more? They are saying, what is he doing that
or’

Due to the vagaries of the Senate’s arcane rules, I technically am
still chairman, I guess. But that is obviously a technical point. I
look forward to working with Chairman Conrad. We have had a
very good, strong relationship. I very much appreciate his and his
staff’s extraordinarily cooperative and positive approach during my
tenure as chairman. I intend, and our staff intends, to take the
exact same approach and really use his example as our template
as to how we will proceed.

So at this time I will yield to Senator Conrad as chairman and
relinquish my chairmanship, even if it is only technical.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR KENT CONRAD

Senator CONRAD [presiding]. I thank my colleague. I thank Sen-
ator Gregg very much for the way he has conducted this committee.
Senator Gregg has been an exemplary chairman. He has conducted
this committee professionally and with good humor and with fair-
ness. He gives us all a good example of how committees should be
chaired in the U.S. Senate.

He has also graced this committee with outstanding staff. We
have had just a very good, very positive working relationship on
this committee and we intend to continue it.

Senator Gregg and I have had lengthy discussions about the
enormous fiscal challenges facing the country and our desire that
we enter into a process to be able to address those issues and to
do it this year. Obviously, whether or not that goes forward is at
a higher pay grade than ours. It involves the President of the
United States. It involves the leadership of both the House and the
Senate. But I think it is fair to say that we are prepared to work
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in good faith to try to find solutions to these vexing long-term
issues that, I believe, fundamentally threaten the long-term eco-
nomic security of the country if they are not addressed.

Senator Gregg has repeatedly demonstrated that he is serious
about this. So I very much look forward to the opportunity to work
with him and others of our colleagues to try to address these
issues.

I also want to take this moment to thank and welcome the new
members of this committee. I see Senator Whitehouse is here. We
are delighted to have you.

Sheldon, let me just say to you that when I started on this com-
mittee that is where I was.

Chairman GREGG. No, you were behind the screen.

Senator CONRAD. I was behind the screen.

I also want to welcome Senator Ben Cardin of Maryland, who
served on the Ways and Means Committee and is deeply knowl-
edgeable. We are delighted to have him as a member. Senator
Sanders of Vermont as well.

I also should indicate that Senator Lautenberg, the former dis-
tinguished ranking member of this committee, has agreed to tem-
porarily serve in Senator Johnson’s spot pending Senator Johnson’s
recovery.

Let me say that all of our colleagues are hoping and praying for
Senator Johnson’s full and swift recovery. We have been delighted
by the reports of recent days of Senator Johnson’s progress and we
eagerly await his return. But we so thank Senator Lautenberg for
his willingness, as a former ranking member of this committee, to
come back to temporarily serve in Senator Johnson’s slot.

With that, I want to commend you, Mr. Walker. You are the
head of the General Accounting Office. You could sit in your office
and issue reports and nobody could fault you for that. But really
these circumstances demand more and you are giving more. I want
to publicly thank you. We do not have to agree on every single
thing, every statement you have made. I have had a number of
members of the press closely quizzing me in the last 24 hours, do
I agree with this Walker statement, that Walker statement. That
is not the point. I agree with the overall message that you are at-
tempting to deliver to the Nation they we are on an unsustainable
course and it has simply got to be changed.

Before I go further I want to again thank Senator Gregg for his
assistance in organizing this hearing, because we could not have
proceeded without him as he is still chairman of this committee in
a formal sense. Again, I deeply appreciate the way he has cooper-
ated so we could have this hearing.

Since 2001, the Nation has undergone a dramatic budget deterio-
ration. We all know the pattern; record deficits. But more impor-
tantly, the debt is going up more rapidly than the size of the defi-
cits. This is a point that I think is too often lost. Last year the def-
icit was $248 billion, but the debt increased by $546 billion. I think
this is a point that has too often been lost.
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Dramatic Deterioration
in Budget Picture

(Deficit in billions of $)
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Source: CBO, OMB/Treasury, and SBC Democratic staff
Note: For 2007, reflects CBO August 2006 Budget and Economic Outlook, with President’s policies
as reestimated by CBQ in March and CBQ’s estimate of ongoing war costs and AMT reform.
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Increase in Debt in 2006 is Far Greater
Than the $248 Billion Deficit

($ in billions)
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Gross Debt

Source: OMB/Treasury, SBC Democratic staff

We are facing a wall of debt. At the end of 2001 the gross debt
of the country was $5.82 trillion. At the end of 2006 that had
mushroomed to $8.5 trillion. And if we continue on the President’s
course we will have the debt soar to $11.6 trillion by 2011.
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Building a Wall of Debt

Gross Federal Debt Soars

($ in trillions)
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Source: OMB, CBO and SBC Democratic staff
Note: CBO August 2006 Budget and Economic Outiook, with President’s policies
as reestimated by CBO in March and CBO’s estimate of ongoing war costs and AMT reform.

The result is that increasingly we are borrowing these very large
amounts of money from abroad. Fifty-two percent of our debt now
is financed abroad. We have doubled foreign holdings of U.S. debt
in just the last 5 years. We owe enormous sums of money to Japan,
to China, to the United Kingdom.
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Top Ten Foreign Holders
of Our National Debt

Japan $641 B
China $345B
United Kingdom $208 B
“Qil Exporters” $98 B
South Korea $69B
Taiwan $64 B
“Caribbean Banking Centers” $56 B
Germany $53 B
Hong Kong $51B
Canada $50 B

Source: Department of Treasury
Note: As of October 2006

This increase in debt is happening at the worst possible time,
right on the brink of the retirement of the baby boom generation,
a point that you, General Walker, have made repeatedly, that right
now is in many ways the budget sweet spot. We have coming at
us something we have not seen before and perhaps it is one reason
our colleagues have a difficult time adjusting to it. It is this demo-
graphic tsunami of the baby boom generation and it is going to
change everything, and that is not a projection. These people have
been born. They are alive today. They are going to retire and they
are going to be eligible for Social Security and Medicare, and we
have to get ready.
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Number of Social Security Beneficiaries Explodes
with Retirement of Baby Boom Generation

Millions of people
85, people)

22 el will rdeive
Social Securily refirement —#
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Source: 2006 Social Security Trustees Report
Note: OASI beneficiaries May ©

The number of Social Security beneficiaries is projected to climb
to 82 million people by 2050. But we need to remember that Social
Security is not the biggest budget challenge. Because of rising
health care costs over the next 75 years, the shortfall in Medicare
is seven times the projected shortfall in Social Security. And by the
way, I believe it is far more likely to come true, that is the shortfall
in Medicare, than the shortfall in Social Security.
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Comparing Long-Term Costs of

Medicare and Social Security
Present Value of Costs Over Next 75 Years

($ in trillions)
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Source: Social Security Trustees 2006 Annual Report

The growing cost of Medicare and Medicaid is simply staggering.
By 2050, if nothing changes, more than 20 percent of our gross do-
mestic product will be spent on Medicare and Medicaid alone. That
is about what all of Government costs us now.
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Medicare and Medicaid Spending

as a Percent of GDP
1980-2050

{Percent of GDP}

198 1990 2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 i

Source: CBO Lang-Term Budget Qutlook, December 2005. Projections
assume excess cost growth of 2.5 percent for Medicare and Medicaid.

We do not just have an entitlement spending problem. We also
have, I believe, a revenue problem. If all of the President’s tax cuts
are made permanent, the cost will explode at the very time the
cash surpluses in Social Security and Medicare become deficits. In
other words, the President’s tax cuts will dramatically worsen an
already deteriorating budget picture.

Now the good news is these problems are not insurmountable.
The fact is, we could make a meaningful difference in these long-
term projections if we took action here in the Congress and the
President agreed.

I believe 1t is going to take a bipartisan effort. I believe neither
party can do this acting alone. I think we have to work together
and act together. It can and must be done, and the American peo-
ple deserve nothing less.

The CHAIRMAN.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN JUDD GREGG

Chairman GREGG. Mr. Chairman. I thank you, Mr. Chairman,
and I look forward to working with you, and I want to echo your
words relative to cooperation and very much appreciate the profes-
sional and constructive way that you worked with us over the
years, and we look forward to doing the same. Also I appreciate
your starting your tenure with this hearing because it highlights
the issue.

I want to thank the Comptroller General for being with us. He
has basically been the person who has sounded the alarm most ef-
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fectively and whose numbers most of us have been using aggres-
sively to carry the message which you have delivered to us. I ap-
preciate your being here today to deliver it again.

To pick up where the chairman left off, this chart, I believe, sum-
marizes the problem in the most concise way.

Avg. Post-War
Spending = 20% of G

Actual Total Federzl /

Spending as a % GDP

They are numbers which were referred to by the chairman. Es-
sentially by about the year 2025—three programs, three entitle-
ment programs, Social Security, Medicare and Medicaid, will ab-
sorb the historical amount of spending which the Federal Govern-
ment has done as a percentage of gross domestic product which is
20 percent. In other words, those three programs will cost as much
als the Federal Government has historically cost the American peo-
ple.

So it would mean at that point that you would either have to
give up doing everything else the Federal Government does, such
as national defense, which is the first priority of a Federal Govern-
ment, or education or environmental protection. Or alternatively
you would have to dramatically start to expand the taxes, because
this share consumed by Social Security, Medicare, and Medicaid
does not level off at 20 percent, which is the historical norm for all
Federal spending. It actually continues to go up. I think the num-
ber was cited by the chairman of 27 percent by 2032 of gross do-
mestic product being absorbed. That, as you can see from that
chart there, it just keeps going up.

So you have unchecked entitlement spending in the Federal Gov-
ernment as we head out into the next two decades. You can see
that it is simply staggering. It is not sustainable. The point has
been made that this is not an arbitrary number. This is not one
of those projections which is suddenly thrown on the table by look-
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ing at tea leaves. The problem exists because the generation that
is going to cost us this problem has already been born and is about
to retire. We will double the size of the retired generation, the larg-
est retirement generation in history, 80 million people will be re-
tired versus about 35 million today. The level of effort required to
support that generation will simply stagger those Americans who
are working during this period, and that will be our children and
our grandchildren.

The way I have tried to describe it is that we need to pass on
a government to our children that is affordable for them and still
delivers the quality of services that a retired generation needs. And
that means you have to balance this exercise between spending on
benefits and revenues.

But you cannot anticipate, you cannot put the whole burden of
this exercise on the next generation through raising revenues be-
cause you would simply wipe out our children’s capacity to have
the quality of life we had. We would have to raise their taxes so
high that they would be unable to send their kids to college, buy
their homes, and live a good lifestyle. So it has to be a balanced
approach.

If you were trying to tax your way out of this problem, the tax
burden would have would to rise to a level that essentially gives
us the same tax burden that some of our neighbors in Europe have,
which has led to, in my opinion, the diminution of their lifestyle,
their productivity, and their ability to compete with us. So it is
simply not an affordable event under the present fact pattern.

Now where the chairman and I depart paths here is how the
President’s tax cuts affect this exercise. If you look at revenues
which we have received under the President’s tax cut, we are today
receiving more than the historical amount of revenues collected by
the Federal Government. This year we are receiving about 18.5
percent of gross domestic product in revenues. Historically, the
Federal Government has collected about 18.2 percent of gross do-
mestic product in annual tax revenue. So actually the President’s
tax cuts are generating revenues that are equal to, essentially, our
historical norm.

In fact, we now have a tax law that is even more progressive
than the historical tax law. Today, 85 percent of revenues come
from the top 20 percent of taxpayers. Under the Clinton years, 82
percent of tax revenues came from the top 20 percent of taxpayers.
The bottom 40 percent of taxpayers are getting back about twice
today as they used to get back. They do not pay taxes. They are
getting about twice as much because of the earned income tax cred-
it as they did under the Clinton years.

So we have a more progressive law. We have a tax law which is
generating more revenue than the historical norm. And if we were
to repeal this tax law, in my opinion, that would be counter-
productive. But if you repeal this tax law, you would see that the
revenues would go well above 18.2 percent which is the historical
norm. They would end up in the 23, 24, 25 percent range.

We have never had that type of a tax burden put on the Amer-
ican people by the Federal Government. It would stifle produc-
tivity, creativity, entrepreneurship and the creation of jobs, and I
am not sure that is the way we want to go to solve this problem.
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In fact it would not solve the problem because the entitlement
growth would still be so staggering that you could not catch it up
with tax revenues.

So the issue is huge, and it has to be approached in a balanced
way which is that you are going to have to look at the benefit side,
you are going to have to look at the revenue side, and you are
going to have to face up to the reality that our generation has no
right to pass on to our children this problem.

We are the Governors now. We are in charge of this nation. The
baby boom generation is responsible for the leadership of this na-
tion. If we pass on this issue, we will have done a total disservice
to our children by having passed to them a problem which was our
creation and our generation’s responsibility to resolve.

So I very much appreciate the Comptroller General being here
because most of these numbers are based off of his numbers. We
look forward to his characterizing the problem for us again. And
then I look forward to working with the chairman to try to come
up with some process for actually addressing the problem.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator CONRAD. Thank you, Chairman Gregg.

Again I want to thank the Comptroller General for coming back
from Ohio early. He was there on the Fiscal Wake-Up Tour. I do
not know if that is what it is called but I think that is what it is
intended to do. We very much appreciate your coming back early
so that you could be our first witness before this committee.

Welcome, General Walker.

STATEMENT OF DAVID M. WALKER, COMPTROLLER GENERAL
OF THE UNITED STATES

General WALKER. Thank you, Chairman Conrad, Chairman
Gregg, other members of the Senate Budget Committee. Let me
apologize in advance for my voice. I do not feel as bad as a sound,
thank God, but I do have a challenge with my voice.

As you pointed out, I have just come back this morning from
what was the sixteenth Fiscal Wake-Up Tour outside Washington,
DC, which was held in Columbus, Ohio. We had probably 300 to
500 citizens there last night. We had members of the Concord Coa-
lition, fellows from the Brookings Institution and the Heritage
Foundation, former Senator John Glenn, OMB director Rob
Portman and myself.

Many of the numbers that I will use today were in graphics I
used last evening. And let me say that the American people are
smart enough to get this. If you state the facts, if you speak the
truth, if you help them understand where we have been, where we
are, and where we are headed, what the consequences are to our
country, our children and our grandchildren, they will enable peo-
ple to act without losing their jobs.

In fact, what the Fiscal Wake-Up Tour is all about is to try to
help till the ground and prepare the way for elected officials, who
will ultimately have to make the tough choices, to be able to do so
without losing their jobs.

I am going to lay out a picture this morning that is not a pretty
one. It is also getting worse with the passage of time. It is fair to
say that we have made some progress on our short range deficits
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in the last few years. And that is good. It is better to have smaller
deficits than bigger deficits. But our financial condition is worse
than advertised. We are on an imprudent and unsustainable long-
term fiscal path. While the short-term deficits have improved in re-
cent years, the long term is getting worse every second, of every
minute, of every day, and the time for action is now.

If I can, let me show you a few graphics. I understand that each
of you have your own copies of these available if you have difficulty
in seeing the screen.

Surplus or Deficit as a Share of GDP

Fiscal Years 1962-2006

= = On-budget - Ol-budget — Unitied
19621966 1970 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2006
Fiscal Years
Bource: Office of Managemant and Budget, Departmant ol the Troasury and e Congressional Budgat Ciffice

This represents our historical Federal deficits as a percentage of
the economy. So inflation is taken out. The red represents the on-
budget deficit, excluding the Social Security surplus primarily. The
blue represents the off-budget surplus, primarily Social Security.
The black line represents the unified deficit; the combination of the
two.

You will see that ran larger deficits as a percentage of the econ-
omy in the 1980’s. But we got something for it. We bankrupted the
Soviet Union. We won the cold war. And we declared a peace divi-
dend.

Then in the early 1990’s the Congress got serious, imposed a
number of budgetary constraints. We had strong economic growth.
A variety of things came together and we went from significant
deficits to surpluses. We even went to on-budget surpluses. We ac-
tually started paying down the debt. People were actually con-
cerned that we may pay off all the Federal debt. Oh my God, would
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that be terrible. Obviously, I am being facetious here. People actu-
ally were concerned about thought that that was going to be a
problem. Needless to say, that problem did not come to pass.

We took a big turn in the wrong direction, but as I said before,
things have not better in the short term over the last several years.
But do not focus on this because this is not the problem.

By the way, there are plenty of people out there that say, do not
worry about the deficits. We have had larger deficits as a percent-
age of the economy. That is like flying a plane or driving a car look-
ing in the rearview mirror. What is important is not where we
have been. What is important is where we are heading. And by set-
ting goals to say we want to achieve a certain level in 5 years,
while it is good to make progress, that is not adequate. It is like
heading to the Grand Canyon at 100 miles an hour and your goal
is to slow the car to 50 by the time you get to the edge. Quite
frankly, that is not going to get the job done. So our problem is the
long term.

Fiscal Year 2005 and 2006

Deficits and Net Operating Costs
[ =

Fiscal Year 2005 Fiscal Year 2006

{$ Billion)
On-Budget Deficit (494) (434)
Unified Deficit (318) (248)
Met Operating Cost (760) (450)

Sources: Tha Ol of Managsment and Budgst and e Departrant of B Tioasury.

Part of the problem is we have three numbers for the Federal
deficit, which in and of itself confuses people. These are not three
sets of books, but there are three different numbers for the deficit.
And unfortunately, the press tends to only focus on the smallest
one. Last year we ran a unified budget deficit of $248 billion. As
you know, you have to draw nine zeros to the right of the 248. You
do not really appreciate it till you write it out.
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But we spent every dime of the Social Security surplus, as we
have in most years. So the on-budget deficit was $434 billion. We
have not been in a recession since November of 2001. We had
among the highest GDP growth rates of any country on earth last
year and yet we are running deficits of that size. Most of that def-
icit did not have anything to do with Iraq and Afghanistan, al-
though they currently do not help. And we had a net operating cost
on an accrual basis for financial reporting of $450 billion.

All of these were down from the prior year but they are still im-
prudently high.

Unified Surpluses and Deficits
as a Share of GDP

Under Alternative Fiscal Policy Simulations

Basalires

Discretionary spending = Entended

grown with the scanomy -
aned sl Expiring
providians axbended

=20
2000 2005 2000 25 2020 025 200 2035 2040 2045 2050

Fiacal yoar

Wiote Aatume curenaly Sohbiuled Socil Securly benells mee oaal ir Al Trougheul B Sifalaten faoed

Bourns: (A Augs! 2006 sk

Here is the real problem. As has been shown, whether you go
baseline extended or whether you assume that discretionary spend-
ing grows with the economy and all tax cuts are extended, the
math just does not work. You have already seen this graph. I am
going to move on the next one because it is clear.
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Composition of Spending as a Share of GDP

Under Baseline Extended (January 2001)

Parcent of GDP
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In January of 2001 I testified before the Senate and this was our
long-range fiscal simulation in January of 2001. We had fiscal sus-
tainability for 40-plus years in January of 2001. Now this simula-
tion was based upon assumptions, as all simulations are. Some
proved valid, some did not. But let me show you where you are
today on two scenarios.
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Composition of Spending as a Share of GDP

Under Baseline Extended (August 2006)
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No. 1, this is CBO baseline extended, which assumes that all of
the tax cuts expire, which assumes that discretionary spending
grows by the rate of inflation for the next 10 years. You can see,
even on that basis, we have a long-range problem because if the
bar is above the line that is a deficit.

Let me show you the next one.
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Composition of Spending as a Share of GDP

Assuming Discretionary Spending Grows with GDP After 2006
and All Expiring Tax Provisions are Extended

a Percent of GDP
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This one assumes that all tax cuts are extended, something is
done about the AMT, and that discretionary spending, which in-
cludes national defense, homeland security, judicial system, edu-
cation, transportation, environment, grows by the rate of the econ-
omy.

Under this scenario the fiscal simulation blows up in the 2040’s.
So we have gone from fiscal sustainability for 40-plus years to the
model blowing up in 40-plus years.
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Social Security, Medicare, and Medicaid

Spending as a Percent of GDP
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As has been shown, this is primarily but not exclusively, due to
the explosive growth in Medicare, Medicaid, and Social Security. It
is not the only problem. But entitlements are clearly the biggest
problem.
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Major Reported Fiscal Exposures
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Now these are in trillions, tens of trillions. So you would have
to write 12 zeros to the right of these numbers if they were round-
ed to the tens of trillions.

In 2000, the United States had major reported liabilities social
insurance commitments, and unfunded promises in current dollar
terms for Social Security, Medicare and other major items totaled
about $20 trillion. Last year that total had risen to $50 trillion—
in 6 years, a 147 percent increase primarily due to Medicare.

Medicare prescription drugs did not exist in 2000. It is about an
$8 trillion obligation. Medicare prescription drugs alone added
more unfunded commitments to the U.S. Government than all of
Social Security. Medicare was already underfunded $15 trillion to
$20 trillion when the Medicare prescription drug bill was passed.
We cannot afford the doughnut, much less to fill the doughnut hole
with jelly.
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Projected Cash Surpluses and Deficits in the

Combined Social Security Trust Fund
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This figure shows the Social Security surplus. The budget will
start to suffer withdrawal pains in 2009 because starting in 2009
the Social Security surplus will start to decline. In 2017 the Social
Security surplus will be gone and therefore we will have to redeem
these bonds. That means raise taxes, cut other spending, or borrow
more from foreign players.

By the way, before I summarize, if you take that $50 trillion
number, let me benchmark that for you because frankly it is too
big for anybody to relate to. Fifty trillion dollars is 95 percent of
the total net worth of every American, up from 91 percent last
year. Fifty trillion dollars is 5440,000 per American household.

The median household income in America is less than $47,000.
That is like having an implicit debt or mortgage equal to over nine
times your annual income. And like a mortgage, it will be paid out
over a number of years. But unlike a mortgage, there is no house
to back this debt. It is only your citizenship and your ability to
earn and the opportunity that one is given by being a citizen of the
United States to reach one’s full potential.

In summary, our financial condition is worse than advertised. We
are on an imprudent and unsustainable long-term fiscal path. We
cannot grow our way out of this problem. Anyone who says we can
grow our way out of this problem has not studied economic history
and probably is not very proficient at math. The numbers do not
come close to working under reasonable assumptions.

Yes, we want to maximize economic growth. Yes, we want to
minimize tax burdens. But in the final analysis you have to have
enough revenue to pay your current bills and deliver on your prom-
ises for the future.
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We need to enhance truth and transparency in our financial re-
porting and budgeting processes. We need to reimpose meaningful
budget controls on both sides of the ledger and impose those con-
trols not just on discretionary spending but also impose mandatory
reconsideration triggers for mandatory spending both that done di-
rectly and that done indirectly through tax preferences. We need
to reengineer and reprioritize the base of the Federal Government
because it is based on the 1940’s through the 1970’s and most of
Government is not necessarily generating positive results that can
be identified.

We have to reform entitlement programs. We have to reengineer
and constrain spending. And we have to engage in comprehensive
tax reform that hopefully will generate more revenues in an eco-
nomically efficient manner.

We are going to have to do all three because the numbers do not
come close to working if you just focus on one or two of the three.
And the longer you wait, the bigger the gap you are going to have
to close. And the longer you wait, the less transition time you have.
And the longer you wait, the more people who are vested in the
status quo.

So the time to act is now, not just for the country but also for
our kids and our grandkids.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Walker follows:]
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Chairman Conrad, Senator Gregg, Members of the Committee,

1 appreciate this invitation to talk with you about our nation’s long-term fiscal outlook
and the challenge it presents. Your decision to begin this Congress with a hearing on this
important issue demonstrates the seriousness with which this Committee views this

challenge and your commitment to begin to address it.

The picture I will lay out for you today is not a pretty one and it's getting worse with the
passage of time. But this nation has met difficult challenges—including challenges to its
very existence—in the past and I'm confident that we can do so again.. This is a great
nation with much to be proud of and much to be thankful for. But today we are failing
in one of our most important stewardship responsibilities—our duty to pass on a country
better positioned to deal with the challenges of the future than the one we were given.
As members of this Committee know, continuing on our current fiscal path would
gradually erode, if not suddenly damage, our economy, our standard of living, and
ultimately even our domestic tranquility and our national security.

My “bottom line” message today is no surprise to members of this Committee:
s Our cqrrent financial condition is worse than advertised
e Our long-term fiscal outlook is both imprudent and unsustainable
¢ Improvements in information and processes are needed and can help

e Meeting our long-term fiscal challenge will require tough choices, bi-

partisan cooperation and compromise,

e The time for action is now!

As widely reported the $248 billion fiscal year 2006 unified budget deficit was lower than
originally forecast and lower than last year’s deficit of $318 billion. While this
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improvement in the one-year fiscal picture is better than a worsening in that picture, it
did not fundamentally change ourlong-term fiscal outlook. In fact, the I.S.
government's total reported liabilities, net social insurance commitments, and other
fiscal exposures continue to grow and now total approximately $50 trillion, representing
approximately four times the Nation’s total output (GDP) in fiscal year 2006, up from
about $20 trillion, or two times GDP in fiscal year 2000,

The overall picture of the long-term fiscal outlook is not news to this Committee,
However, the long-term challenge is fast becoming a short-term one as the first of the
baby boomers become eligible for early retirement under Social Security on January 1,
2008—Iless than one year—and for Medicare benefits in 2011—less than 4 years from
now. The budget and economic implications of the baby boom generation’s retirement
have already become a factor in CBO’s 10-year baseline projections and will only
intensify as the baby boomers age. Simply put, our nation is on an imprudent and
unsustainable fiscal path. Herbert Stein once said that something that is not sustainable
will stop. That, however, should not give us comfort. It is prudent to change the path

than to wait until some crisis comes.

And that brings me to my next point. While restraint in the near term and efforts to
balance the budget over the next 5 years can be positive, it is important that actions to
achieve this also address the long-term fiscal outlook. The real problem is not the near-
term deficit—it is the long-term fiscal outlook. It is important to look beyond year 5 or
even year 10. Both the budget and the budget process need more transparency over and
focus on the long-term implications of current and proposed spending and tax policies. [

will suggest a number of things that I believe will help in this area in this testimony.

OUR FISCAL AND FINANCIAL CONDITION IS WORSE THAN ADVERTISED

Our government produces two types of measures—budget and financial—which further
break down into three different numbers that can be seen as indicators of our current
financial condition: the unified budget deficit, the on-budget deficit and the net operating
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cost or accrual deficit. No one of these alone is enough—we should look at all of them.
The most commonly reported measure is the unified budget deficit. This is a largely
cash-based number that represents the difference between revenues and outlays for the
government as a whole. It is an important measure since it is indicative of the
government’s draw on today’s credit markets—and its claim on today’s economy. This
measure, however, masks the difference between Social Security's cash flows and those
for the rest of the budget. Therefore we also need to look beneath the unified deficit at
the on-budget deficit—what I like to call the “operating deficit.” And, finally, we should
be looking at the financial statement’s report of net operating cost—the accrual-based
deficit.

The difference between the on-budget deficit and the unified budget deficit is the surplus
in Social Security and the Postal Service. Excluding consideration of the $185 billion
surplus in Social Security’s cash flows and a $1 billion surplus in the Postal Service, the
on-budget deficit was $434 billion in 2006. Figure 1 shows graphically how the on-
budget deficit and the off-budget surplus have related and combine to lead to the unified
deficit. Since the Social Security Trust Fund invests any receipts not needed to pay
benefits in Treasury securities, this surplus reduces the amount the Treasury must
borrow from the public. As I will note later, this pattern of cash flows is important—and

it is projected to come to and end just 10 years from now.
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Figure 1: Surplus or Deficit as a Share of GDP Fiscal Years 1962-2006
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Source: Office of Management and Budget, Department of the Treasury and the Congressional Budget
Office.

The third number, net operating cost, is the amount by which costs exceed revenue and
it is reported in the federal government'’s financial statements which are prepared using
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Costs are recorded on an accrual
basis—namely, in the period when goods are used or services are performed as opposed
to when the resulting cash payments are made. However, most revenues, on the other
hand, are recorded on the modified cash basis—that is, they are recorded when
collected. The net operating cost can be thought of as the accrual deficit. The accrual
measure primarily provides more information on the longer-term implications of today’s
policy decisions and operations by showing certain costs incﬁrred today but not payable

for years to come, such as civilian and military pensions and retiree health care.'

! For a discussion of how the accrual and cash deficits relate to each other see GAO, Undersianding Similarities and
Differences between Accrual and Cash Deficits, GAO-97-117SP (Washington, D.C.; December 2006) and
forthcoming update.
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All three of these numbers are informative. However, neither the accrual nor the cash
budget deficit alone provides a full picture of the government's fiscal condition or the
cost of government. Used together, they present complementary information and
provide a more comprehensive picture of the government’s fiinancial condition t,qday
and fiscal position over time, For example, the unified budget deficit provides
information on borrowing needs and current cash flow. The accrual deficit provides
information on the current cost of government, but it does not provide information on
how much the government has to borrow in the current year to finance government
activities. Also, while accrual deficits provide more information on the longer-term
consequences of current government activities, they do not include the longer-term cost
associated with social insurance programs like Social Security and Medicare. In
addition, they are not designed to provide information about the timing of payments and
receipts which can be very important. Therefore, just as investors need income
statements, statements of cash flow, and balance sheets to understand a business’s
financial condition, both cash and accrual measures are important for understanding the
government’s financial condition.” Figure 2 below shows the three measures for FY 2005
and FY 2006.

Figure 2: Fiscal Year 2005 and 2006 Deficits and Net Operating Cost
($ Billion)

Fiscal Year 2005 Fiscal Year 2006
On-Budget Deficit (494) (434)
Unified Deficit (318) (248)
Net Operating Cost’ (760) (450)

Sources: The Office of Management and Budget and the Department of the Treasury.

* Fiscal year 2005 net operating cost included a significant negative actuarial adjustments and 2006
included a significant positive adjustments primarily due to changes in interest rate assumptions.

2 GAQ is responsible for auditing the financial statements included in the Financial Report, but we have
been unable to express an opinion on them for ten years because the federal government could not
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Although looking at both the cash and accrual measures provides a more complete
picture of the government’s fiscal stance today and over time than looking at either a.ldne
does, even these together do not tell us the full story. For example, all of these show an
improvement been FY 2006 and FY 2006. However, the fundamental drivers of our long-
term challenge are largely the same. To understand the long-term implications of our
current path requires more than a single year’s snapshot. In this regard, the long-term
outlook has worsened significantly in the last several years. That is why for more than a
decade GAO has been running simulations to tell this longer-term story.

THE LONG-TERM FISCAL OUTLOOK

Long-term fiscal simulations by GAO, CBO and others all show that we face large and
growing structural deficits driven primarily by rising health care costs and known
demographic trends. GAO runs simulations under 2 sets of assumptions; one takes the
legislatively-mandated baseline from CBO for the first 10 years and then keeps
discretionary spending and revenues constant as a share of GDP while letting Social
Security, Medicare, and Medicaid grow as projected by the Trustees and CBO under mid—-
range assumptions.” The other—perhaps more realistic scenario based on the
Administration's announced policy preferences—maodifies this baseline by letting
discretionary spending grow with the economy and extending all expiring tax
provisions.' As Figure 3 shows, deficits spiral out of control under either scenario. We
will be updating these figures with the release of the new CBO baseline later this month,

but even with the lower deficit in 2006, the long-term picture will remain daunting,

demonstrate the reliability of significant portions of the fi in connection with
the Department of Defense. Accordingly, amounts taken from the Financial Report may not be reliable.

? Social Security and Medicare spending is based on the May 2006 Trustees' intermediate projections.
Medicaid spending is based on CBO's December 2005 long-term projections under mid-range assumptions.
“Additional information about the GAQ model, its assumptions, data, and charts can be found at
http://www.gao.gov/special.pubs/longtermy/.
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Figure 3: Unified Surpluses and Deficits as a Share of GDP Under Alternative
Fiscal Policy Simulations

Percent of GDP
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Looking more closely at each scenario gives a fuller understanding of what the impact of
continuing these trends would have on what government does. And looking back to 2001
also shows us how much worse the situation has become. As Inoted, despite some

recent improvements in short-term deficits, the long-term outlook is moving in the wrong

direction.

Figures 4 and 5 show the composition of spending under our “Baseline Extended”
scenario in 2001 and 2006. Even with short-term surpluses, we had a long-term problem
in 2001, but it was more than 40 years out. Certainly an economic slowdown and budget
decisions driven by the attacks of 9/11 and the need to respond natural disasters have
contributed to the change in outlook. However, these items alone do not account for the
dramatic worsening. Tax cuts also contributed but the single largest contributor to the
deterioration of our long-term outlook was the passage of the Medicare Prescription
Drug Bill in 2003.
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Figure 4: Composition of Spending as a Share of GDP Under Baseline Extended,
January 2001
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Source: GAQ’s January 2001 analysis.

Figure 5: Composition of Spending as a Share of GDP under Baseline Extended,
August 2006
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Source: GAQ’s August 2006 analysis.
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Figure 6 illustrates today’s cold hard truth, that neither slowing the growth in
discretionary spending nor allowing the tax provisions to expire—nor both together—
would eliminate the imbalance. This is even clearer under the more realistic scenario as
shown in Figure 7. Estimated growth in the major entitlement programs results in an
unsustainable fiscal future regardless of whether one assumes future revenue will be
somewhat above historical levels as a share of the economy as in the first simulation (fig.

6) or lower as shown in figure 7.

Figuyyre 7: Composition of Spending as a Share of GDP Assuming Discretionary
Speiyding Grows with GDP After 2006 and All Expiring Tax Provisions are
Extemued
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Source: GAQ’s August 2006 analysis.

Both these simulations illustrate that without policy changes on the spending and/ or
revenue side of the budget, the growth in spending on federal retirement and health
entitlements will encumber an escalating share of the government’s resources. A
government that in our children’s lifetimes does nothing more than pay interest on its

debt, mail checks to retirees, and to some of their health providers is unimaginable.

Although Social Security is a major part of the fiscal challenge, contrary to popular
perception, it is far from our biggest challenge. Spending on the major federal health

programs (i.e., Medicare and Medicaid) represents a much larger and faster growing
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problem. Over the past several decades, health care spending on average has grown
much faster than the economy, absorbing increasing shares of the Nation'’s resources,
and this rapid growth is projected to continue. For this reason and others, rising health
care costs pose a fiscal challenge not just to the federal budget but also to states,

American business, and our society as a whole.

While there is always some uncertainty in long-term projections, two things are certain:
the population is aging and the baby boom generation is nearly at retirement age. The
aging population and rising health care spending will have significant implications not
only for the budget, but also the economy as a whole. Figure 6 shows the total future
draw on the economy represented by Social Security, Medicare, and Medicaid. Under the
2006 Trustees’ intermediate estimates and CBO’s long-term Medicaid estimates, federal
spending for these entitlement programs combined will grow to 15.5 percent of GDP in
2030 from today’s 9 percent. It is clear that, taken together, Social Security, Medicare,
and Medicaid under current law represent an unsustainable burden on future

generations.
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Figure 6: Social Security, Medicare, and Medicaid Spending as a Percent of GDP
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Source: GAO analysis based on data from the Office of the Chief Actuary, Social Security Administration,
Office of the Actuary, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, and the Congressional Budget Office.

Notes: Social Security and Medicare projections based on the intermediate assumptions of the 2006
Trustees’ Reports. Medicaid projections based on CBO's August 2006 short-term Medicaid estimates and
CBO’s December 2005 long-term Medicaid projections under mid-range assumptions.

While Social Security, Medicare and Medicaid dominate the long-term outlook, they are
not the only federal programs or activities that bind the future. The federal government
undertakes a wide range of programs, responsibilities, and activities that obligate it to
future spending or create an expectation for spending and potentially limit long-term
budget flexibility. GAO has described the range and measurement of such fiscal
exposures—from explicit liabilities such as environmental cleanup requirements to the
more implicit obligations presented by life-cycle costs of capital acquisition or disaster

assistance.’

As shown in figure 7, despite improvement in both the fiscal year 2006 reported net
operating cost and the cash-based budget deficit, the U.S. government’s major reported
liabilities, social insurance commitments, unfunded promises, and other fiscal exposures
continue to grow. They now total approximately $50 trillion—about four times the
Nation’s total output (GDP) in fiscal year 2006—up from about $20 trillion, or two times
GDP in fiscal year 2000. We all know that it is hard to make sense of what “trillions”
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means. One way to think about it is: if we wanted to put aside today enough to cover
these promises, it would take $170,000 for each and every American or approximately
$440,000 per American household. Clearly, despite recent progress on our short-term
deficits, we have been moving in the wrong direction in connection with our long-range

imbalance in recent years.

Figure 7: Major Reported Fiscal Exposures ($ Trillions)

20004 2006 % Increase
« Explicit liabilities ‘ $6.9  $10.4 52

« Publicly held debt
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* Other
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Future Medicare Part D benefits ; )
$20.4: $50.5¢
Source: 2000 and 2006 Financial Report of the United States Government.

Note: Estimates for Social Security and Medicare are at present value as of January 1 of each year and all
other data are as of September 30. Totals and percent increases may not add due to rounding.

PROCESS AND PRESENTATIONAL CHANGES TO INCREASE TRANSPARENCY
AND FOCUS ON LONG-TERM CONSEQUENCES CAN HELP

Since at its heart the budget debate is about the allocation of limited resources, the
budget process can and should play a key role in helping to address our long-term fiscal
challenge and the broader challenge of modernizing government for the 21* Century. 1
have said that Washington suffex'fs from myopia and tunnel vision. This is can be
especially true in the budget debate in which we focus on one program at a time and the
deficit for a single year or possibly the costs over 5 years without asking about the bigger
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picture and whether the long term is getting better or worse. We at GAO are in the
transparency and accountability business. Therefore it should come as no surprise that [
believe we need to increase the understanding of and focus on the long term in our
policy and budget debates. To that end—as I noted earlier—I have been talking with a
number of members of the Senate and the House as well as various groups concerned
about this issue concerning a number of steps that might help. I attach a summary of .

some of these ideas to this statement. Let me highlight several critical elements here.

o The President’s budget proposal should again cover 10 years. This is especially
important given that some policies—both spending and tax—cost significantly
more [or lose significantly more revenue] in the second 5 years than in the
first. In addition, the budget should disclose the impact of major tax or
spending proposals on the short, medium and long term.

o The executive branch should also provide information on fiscal exposures—
both spending programs and tax expenditures—i.e. the long-term budget
costs represented by currently individual programs, policies or activities as
well as the total.

¢ The budget process needs to pay more attention to the long-term implication
of the choices being debated. For example, elected representatives should be
provided with more explicit information on the long-term costs of any major
tax or spending proposal before it is voted upon. It is sobering to recall that
during the debate over adding prescription drug coverage to Medicare, a great
deal of attention was paid to whether the 10-year cost was over or under $400
billion. Not widely publicized—and certainly not surfaced in the debate—- was
that the present value of the long-term cost of this legislation was about $8

trillion!

Of course, when you are in a hole, the first thing to do is stop digging. I have urged
reinstitution of the statutory controls—both meaningful caps on discretionary spending
and PAYGO on both the tax and spending sides of the ledger—that expired in 2002.

Given the severity of our current challenge, Congress may wish to look beyond the
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return to PAYGO and discretionary caps. Mandatory spending cannot remain on
autopilot. We have suggested that Congress might wish to design “triggers” for
mandatory programs—some measure that would prompt action when the spending path
increased significantly. In addition, Congress may wish to look at rules to govern the use
of “emergency supplementals,” However, as everyone in this committee knows, these
steps alone will not solve the problem. That is why building in more consideration of the

long-term impact of decisions is necessary.

MEETING THE LONG-TERM FISCAL CHALLENGE REQUIRES COOPERATION
AND COMPROMISE—AND ACTION SHOULD NOT BE DELAYED.

The government can help ease future fiscal burdens through spending reductions and/or
revenue actions that reduce debt held by the public, and enhancing the pool of economic
resources available for private investment and long-term growth. Economic growth is
essential, but we will not be able to simply grow our way out of the problem. The
numbers speak loudly: our projected fiscal gap is simply too great. To “grow our way
out” of the current long-term fiscal gap would require sustained economic growth far

beyond that experienced in U.S. economic history since World War II.

While the appropriate level of revenues will be part of the debate about our fiscal future,
making no changes to Social Security, Medicare, Medicaid, and other drivers of the long-
term fiscal gap would require ever increasing tax levels—and that seems both
inappropriate and implausible. Accordingly, substantive reform of Social Security and
our major health programs remains critical to recapturing our future fiscal flexibility.
Similarly, given demographic and health care cost trends, the size of the spending cuts
necessary to hold revenues at the share of GDP seems inadequate and implausible.
Waiting only makes matters worse. GAO's simulations show that if no action is taken,
balancing the budget in 2040 could require actions as large as cutting total federal
spending by 60 percent or raising federal taxes to 2 times today's level. There are no

“easy answers,” and everything must be on the table.
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Although the long-term outlook is driven by Social Security and health care costs, this
does not mean the rest of the budget can be exempt from scrutiny. Many tax
expenditures operate like entitlement programs—but with even less scrutiny. Other
programs and activities were designed for a very different time. To recapture our fiscal
flexibility and bring our government and its programs in line with 21st century realities
requires a fundamental reexamination of major spending and tax policies and priorities.’
Ultimately this reexamination will entail a national discussion about what Americans
want from their government and how much they are willing to pay for those things. This

discussion will not be easy, but it is critical.

For many years those of us who talk about the need to put social Security on a
sustainable course and to reform Medicare have talked about the benefits of early action.
Acting sooner rather than later can turn compound interest from an enemy to an ally.
Acting sooner rather than later permits changes to be phased in more gradually and
those affected to adjust to the changes. Delay does not avoid action—it just makes the
steps that have to be taken more dramatic and potentially harder. Unfortunately, there
has already been too much delay. And now the future is upon us.

Next year members of the baby generation start to leave the labor force. Reflecting this
demographic shift, CBO projects the average annual growth rate of real GDP will decline
from 3 percent in 2008 to 2.6 per cent in the period 2012-2016. This slowing of economic
growth will come just as spending on Social Security, Medicare and Medicaid will begin-
to accelerate—accounting for 56 percent of all federal spending by 2016 compared to 43

percent in 2006.

As I noted earlier, today Social Security’s cash surplus helps offset the deficit in the rest
of the budget, but growth in Social Security spending is expected to increase from an
estimated 4.8 percent in 2008 to 6.5 percent in 2016. The result, as shown in figure 8
below, is that the Social Security surpluses begin a permanent decline in 2009, At that
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time the rest of the budget will begin to feel the squeeze since the capacity of Social
Security surpluses to offset deficits in the rest of the budget will begin to shrink. In 2017
Social Security will no longer run a cash surplus and will begin adding to the deficit. That
year the Social Security will need to redeem the special securities it holds in order to pay
benefits. Treasury will honor those claims—the U.S, has never defaulted. But there is no
free money. The funds to redeem those securities will have to come from higher taxes,
lower spending on other programs, higher borrowing from the public or a combination of

all three.

Figure 8: Projected Cash Surpluses and Deficits in the Combined Social Security Trust
Fund (Billions of 2006 dollars)
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Note: Projections based on the intermediate assumptions of the 2006 Trustees’ Reports. The CP1 is used to
adjust from current to constant doilars.

Source: GAO analysis based on data from the Office of the Chief Actuary, Social Security Administration.

* Cite 21 century challenges AND the oversight letter here
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CONCLUDING REMARKS

1t is a hopeful sign that we are here today—by beginning the year not with a discussion
of the current year’s budget but with a focus on the long term this Committee is showing
the kind of leadership needed to tackle this challenge.

I have long believed that the American people can accept difficult decisions as long as
they understand why such choices are necessary. They need to be given the facts about
the fiscal outlook: what it is; what drives it; what it will take to address it. As most of
you know, I have been investing a good deal of time in the Fiscal Wake -Up Tour (FWUT)
led by the Concord Coalition. Scholars from both the Brookings Institution and The
Heritage Foundation join with me and Concord in laying out the facts and discussing the
possible ways forward. In our experience, having these people with quite different policy
choices agree on the nature, scale and importance of the issue—and on the need to sit
down and work together—resonates with the audiences. Although the major
participants have been Concord, GAO, Brookings and Heritage, others include such
organizations as the Committee for Economic Development (CED), American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), the Association of Government Accountants
(AGA), the National Association of State Comptrollers and Treasurers (NASCT), State
Auditors, and AARP. The FWUT also has received the active support and involvement of
community leaders, local colleges and universities, the media, the business community
and both former and current elected officials. We have been to 17 cities to-date. The
discussion has been broadcast on public television stations in Atlahta and Philadelphia.
Just this moming I returned from an event at The John Glenn School of Public Affairs at
Ohio State University in Columbus, Ohio in which OMB Director Portman and former
Senator Glenn participated.

The specific policy choices made to address this fiscal challenge are the purview of
elected officials. The policy debate will reflect differing views of the role of government
and differing priorities for our country. What the FWUT can do—and what I will
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continue to do—is lay out the facts, debunk various myths and prepare the way for tough
choices by elected officials. If the American people understand that there is no magic
bullet—if they understand that:

« we cannot grow our way out this problem;

o eliminating earmarks will not solve the problem

* wiping out fraud, waste & abuse will not solve the problem;

* ending the war or cutting way back on defense will not solve the problem
and

o letting the recent tax cuts expire will not solve this problem

Then they can engage with you in a decision about what government should do and how.

This is a great nation. We have faced many challenges in the past and we have met them.
It is a mistake to underestimate the commitment of the American people to their children
and grandchildren; to underestimate their willingness and ability to hear the truth and
support the decisions necessary to deal with this challenge. We owe it to our country,
children and grandchildren to address our fiscal and other key sustainability challenges.

The time for action is now.

Mr. Chairman, Senator Gregg, members of the Committee, let me repeat my appreciation
for your commitment and concern in this matter. We at GAO stand ready to assist you in

this important endeavor.
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ATTACHMENTI: Ideas for improving the transparency of long-term costs and the
attention paid to these costs before decisions are made

Supplemental reporting in the President’s annual budget submission

¢ Produce an annual Statement of Fiscal Exposures: including a concise list and description of
exposures, cost estimates where possible, and an assessment of methodologies and data used
to produce such cost estimates.

o Increase the transparency of tax expenditures by including them in the annual Fiscal
Exposures Statement and, where possible, also showing them along with spending and credit
programs in the same policy area.

o Provide information on impact of major tax or spending proposals on short-term, mid-term,
and long-term fiscal exposures and on the path of surplus/deficit and debt as % of GDP over
10-year and longer term horizons (and assuming no sunset if sunset is part of the proposal).

e Cover 10 years in the budget

¢ Consider requiring the President to include in his annual budget submission a long-term
fiscal goal (e.g., balance, surplus, or deficit as % of GDP).

Additional Executive branch reports

s Preparation & publication of a Summary Annual Report or Citizen’s Summary that
summarizes, in a clear, concise, plain English, and transparent manner, key financial and
performance information included in the Consolidated Financial Report.

s Preparation and publication of a report on long-range fiscal sustainability every 2 to 4 years.

donting -

on proposals before p

Additional cost infor

o Require improved disclosure—at the time proposals are debated but before they are
adopted—of the long-term costs of individual mandatory spending and tax proposals over a
certain size and for which costs will ramp up over time.

GAQO reports

An annual report or reports by GAO including comments on the Consolidated Financial
Statement (CES), results of the latest long-term fiscal simulations, comments on the adequacy of
information regarding long-term cost implications of existing and proposed policies in the
previous year as well as any other significant other financial and fiscal issues .



43

* ok k

In previous reports GAO has also suggested that Congress might wish to consider changing
the budget treatment in certain areas

e Use accrual budgeting for areas where cash basis obligations do not adequately represent the
government’s commitment:
* Employee pension programs (pre-FERS employees)
= Retiree health programs
= Federal insurance programs, such as PBGC and crop insurance
e Explore techniques for expanding accrual budgeting to:
= Environmental cleanup
* Social insurance - could consider deferring recognition of social insurance
receipts until they are used to make payments in the future (this was
suggested in GAO’s accrual budgeting report as an idea to explore,
possibly with a commission designed to explore budget concepts).

LN

Senator CONRAD. General Walker, thank you for that really out-
standing testimony. This is precisely why we wanted to have you
as the first witness before this committee, to lay out clearly and
concisely and in a compelling way the seriousness of the challenge
confronting us.

Let me go back to a couple of the statements you made. Yester-
day or perhaps the day before I read in one of the major news-
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papers, the Washington Post, they had a little sidebar story in
which they said, the deficit is only 1.8 percent of GDP and econo-
mists say that that is sustainable indefinitely. True or not true?
Misleading or not misleading? How would you characterize that? If
you were to write the story trying to advise people of our fiscal con-
dition, how would you characterize it?

General WALKER. It is accurate but misleading. We probably can
sustain a deficit of less than 2 percent of GDP for a number of
years. But that is not where we are headed. Where we are headed
is to deficits of multiple times 2 percent of GDP. As both of you
have noted, Chairman Conrad and Chairman Gregg, we are headed
to the point where Social Security, Medicare, and Medicaid alone
will consume all of the historical Federal revenues as a percentage
of the economy.

And that does not count interest on the Federal debt. The fast-
est-growing cost in the Federal budget today is interest on the Fed-
eral debt. It went up from 7 percent of the budget in 2005 to 9 per-
cent in 2009. And we have relatively modest interest rates.

When, not if, foreign investors decide, as a matter of mere pru-
dence and diversification, that they are not going to continue buy-
ing as much U.S. debt, then interest rates will rise and that will
start a compounding effect. So what is important is that we act so
to mitigate the impact and to help avoid their seeking to hold less
of our debt. We can. We must. I think we will, hopefully, with bi-
partisan leadership.

Senator CONRAD. General Walker, you have outlined here what
the risk is to the economy, that increasingly we are financing this
debt abroad. Fifty-two percent is the latest figure I have, 52 per-
cent of our debt is now financed abroad. We have doubled the
amount of our borrowing from foreign countries in the last 5
years—doubled. We borrowed 65 percent of all of the money that
was borrowed by countries in the world last year.

So to me it is clearly an unsustainable course now. And that is
before the baby boomers retire. How much more serious does it be-
come as the baby boomers become eligible for these programs?

General WALKER. It becomes clearly unsustainable. Basically
what is going on right now is we have a national credit card. But
unlike most credit cards it does not have a credit limit. And so we
are continuing to charge our national credit card, compounding in-
tefz‘fljest. But we are expecting our kids and our grandkids to pay it
off.

We have four deficits today that relate to your point: (1) a budget
deficit which we have talked about, (2) a balance of payments def-
icit of which the trade deficit is a subset, (3) a savings deficit. In
2005 for the first time since 1933, which was not a good year for
America, Americans spent more money than they took home last
year.

And (4) the worst deficit of all is the leadership deficit. That is
what we have to address on a bipartisan basis because Social Secu-
rity, Medicare, and Medicaid represent a tsunami of spending. And,
unlike most tsunamis, this one never recedes. It is a permanent
change in the landscape.

What is going on now is as if we are on the beach and we are
saying, let us just focus on the short-term. We are making progress
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on the short-term, but right on the horizon we can see this tsunami
building. We need to recognize reality and start to act to deal with
that.

Senator CONRAD. Final question from me. General Walker, Sen-
ator Gregg and I and others have been talking about a structure
that would be a bipartisan effort to devise a plan to address our
long-term fiscal imbalances, including but not limited to Medicare
and Social Security, also looking at the structural deficit, and ask
the group—Republicans and Democrats equally divided—to come
back with a plan that would require a super-majority vote here to
pass.

Would you endorse such an effort? Do you think it is important
that we make that attempt in this year?

General WALKER. I think it is important to figure out mecha-
nisms that will allow the Congress to be able to deal with this
issue sooner rather than later. Realistically those mechanisms
must involve the both executive and the legislative branches. They
must be bipartisan in nature. At least the recommended package,
I would respectfully suggest, should be subjected to a super-major-
ity vote of the members who comprise this group.

Senator CONRAD. And it would.

General WALKER. Whether or not you should require a super-ma-
jority vote once it gets to the Congress is a different issue. I think
you clearly need a super-majority vote on something that comes to
the Congress but I think it is a different issue as to whether or not
you should require a super-majority vote once it gets to the Con-
gress. Obviously you have to be concerned to make sure that the
President is not going to veto the package because then you would
have to have a super-majority vote. All the more reason why you
have to have the President engaged in this. Expedited consider-
a}i;ion I think would clearly be a desirable feature; no doubt about
that.

So without knowing the details, I think that to the extent that
you could put together something without a commission, that is de-
sirable. But we have to figure out how to get it done and how to
get it done sooner rather than later in a bipartisan manner.

Senator CONRAD. I thank you for that and I want to make clear
that it would require a super-majority of the group that would be
given the responsibility to come up with a plan. It would involve
the White House. The President would have members of this work-
ing group.

The reason for both a super-majority from the group and a super-
majority when you come back is if it is on an expedited basis and
you are restricting members’ right to amend, which is the most
fundamental right of a Senator, people are not going to give up
that without the assurance that there is going to be a tough hurdle
here to pass. That is the reality that we confront here.

I just think what you say is absolutely the case. The sooner we
get at this the better. Those things we cannot agree on will have
to wait.

Senator Gregg.

General WALKER. Senator, if I may just add something quickly,
sir. I understand what you are saying about why you are proposing
a super-majority vote of this body and the other body. Obviously,
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one of the possible tradeoffs for your consideration is limited
amendments and not requiring a super-majority vote. That is
S(l))mething I would respectfully suggest you may want to think
about.

The other thing is the scope. Does it include all of the elements
that I talked about? I think it is important that it include all of
the elements that I talked about: more transparency in financial
reporting and the budget process, strong budget controls on both
sides of the ledger, discretionary and mandatory spending includ-
ing entitlements, and tax preferences. I think it is really important
that all of these items be on the table in order to be able to get
to the point where we can really do something meaningful and
where you can achieve the vote requirement.

Senator CONRAD. Thank you. Senator Gregg.

Senator DOMENICI. Senator Gregg, I wonder if you would yield 30
seconds so I can ask the chairman a question.

Chairman GREGG. I am sure the chairman will allow it at this
time.

Senator DOMENICI. I just wondered, so the whole public will
know, you keep using and we all keep using the word it. We have
to do it. What is it?

Senator CONRAD. It is to address these long-term entitlement
challenges, these long-term fiscal imbalances, but not limited to
Medicare and Social Security, but including the imbalances be-
tween projected revenue and expenditures so that we are getting
at not only the long-term entitlements but the structural deficits
thﬁic we have going into this process as well, with everything on the
table.

Senator DOMENICI. Senator, I just want to try one more time be-
cause I think if it was as easy as you say we would just do it. The
problem is when you put this budget together or this instrument
that solved the problem of the world toward America, what are we
going to have to do to Social Security? What are we going to have
to do to Medicare? We are talking about fixing it. When we look
at there at Americans we say we are not going to be able to afford
Medicare in its current form. So what is going to happen? Gen-
erally, what do we have to do?

Senator CONRAD. I would just say to the Senator, we cannot give
the results of the exercise before we have started the exercise. We
cannot give an answer to what the solutions are until we devise a
process to have a proposal brought back before the Congress.

So I do not think you can say what the conclusions are until we
begin and engage in the process. And do it together and do it in
a very serious way.

Chairman GREGG. Just to followup on that, I think the issue here
is to set up a procedure that drives policy. But the key to the proce-
dure is that it be unquestionably bipartisan, that nobody feels they
are being gamed, that the American people feel that when the pro-
cedure is concluded and the policy is proposed that it has been
reached in a way that is totally fair. That means you have to have
the presidency in the room and you have to have the Congress in
the room.

The situation that we have now is that we have a divided gov-
ernment where that type of fairness is inherent in the process if
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everybody’s in the room and the structure is such that you have
super majorities for reporting and for passage.

So I think the opportunity is here and let us hope somebody
takes advantage of it.

Senator DOMENICI. Thank you.

Chairman GREGG. If I could pursue some of the thoughts you
had, Mr. General, to get a little bit into the weeds here, historically
we have had 18.2 percent of gross domestic product in tax revenue.
For the last few years we have had 20 percent in spending. If we
are on this path of entitlement spending, we are looking at 28, 29,
30 percent spending, which is not sustainable. We all know that.

The question becomes at some point—we are going to have to
make a decision where these lines should appropriately cross. In
other words, the only way you are going to solve the out year im-
balance of liability and revenue is to pick a number which is sus-
tainable and which maintains a strong economy for expenditures
and revenues that is the same. I mean, that is just the way it is.

So I guess my question to you is do have an idea, do you have
a thought of what is a number where those lines cross that the
economy maintains its strength, that you do not undermine the
economy by having too large a government to support?

General WALKER. I understand.

Chairman GREGG. Looking in the historical terms of somewhere,
I presume, between 18.2 percent and—

General WALKER. Let me try to provide you meaningful informa-
tion here.

First, I believe that the imbalance is requires you to address all
three issues that I mentioned. You are going to have to get most
of the money through entitlement reform. That has to be No. 1.

Second, you can and should get money from spending restruc-
turing and constraint outside of entitlement reform.

And third, you are going to have to get more revenues hopefully
through fundamental tax reform which, among other things, would
broaden the base, try to keep rates as low as possible.

My personal view is you are going to need additional revenues;
18.2 percent of GDP will not get the job done even if you end up
restructing entitlementa and constrain spending . The gap is just
too great. It is going to have to be more than 18.2 percent.

I believe that you need to try to keep it as low as you can for
three reasons. No. 1, to maximize economic growth. No. 2, to maxi-
mize disposable income. And No. 3, to maximize our competitive
advantage compared to Europe.

Europe’s tax levels are about 10 plus percent higher than ours
when you compare Federal, State and local. They have much high-
er unemployment rates. They have slower growth rates and much
higher employment rates. We need to learn from that.

Now, where will we end up? Is it 20 percent of GDP? Is it 22 per-
cent of GDP? What the exact number is I cannot tell you. But it
is more than 18.2 percent and it is below 25 percent.

Chairman GREGG. What I most appreciate is the lead in to it
where you outline the issues, the spending restraint and the ben-
efit reform and some sort of revenue reform.

When you are talking revenue reform, there has been proposals
out there that we should maybe have a dedicated stream of rev-
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enue from a consumption tax. Have you ever thought of that? And
what is your reaction to that?

General WALKER. There is absolutely, positively no question you
are going to need more revenues for health care. If there is one
thing that can bankrupt America, it is health care.

Frankly, you could reform Social Security and exceed the expec-
tations of every generation of Americans without additional rev-
enue. You may have to have additional revenue to get a political
deal, but you do not need it to make it work. You are going to need
it for health care.

In health care, candidly, I think there are four things we are ul-
timately going to have to shoot for in health care and it is going
to take us probably 10 to 20 years to get to where we need to be
in installments.

We are going to have to limit the percentage of the Federal budg-
et that is dedicated to health care. If you do not do that, that is
the ultimate put option on our children and grandchildren. Every
other industrialized nation does that in some way. We ration
health care today, we just do not ration it rationally.

Second, we need to try to move toward providing basic and essen-
tial health care coverage for everybody. Basic and essential. Inocu-
lations against infectious diseases, wellness services, protection
against financial ruin due to unexpected catastrophic illness where
you are not using heroic measures, and ability to purchase more in-
surance if you want. Right now we spend 50 percent more of our
economy on health care than any country on earth. We have the
largest uninsured population.

By the way, the third element is quality. We need to achieve
above average health care outcomes. Today, we are below average
for an industrialized nation on health care outcomes. We have
lower average life expectancy, higher than average infant mor-
tality, and way higher than average medical error rates. Finally,
increase personal responsibility and accountability for one’s own
health and wellness activities.

I believe that we can do this but it requires fundamentally re-
thinking Medicare and fundamentally rethinking what our future
will look like 20-plus years from now and then taking installment
steps to get there over years.

We are not going to be able to move from plan A to plan B over-
night. It will have to be done in installments over a number of
years. But this kind of system, quite frankly, I think could be af-
fordable and sustainable. But where we are at now, no way.

Chairman GREGG. Thank you for that explanation. That was
very cogent, to say the least.

Senator CONRAD. Senator Murray.

Senator MURRAY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

First of all, let me congratulate you on your leadership on this
committee. I am glad you are the chair.

And Senator Gregg, I want to thank you for your tremendous re-
spect of all of us on this committee under your leadership over the
last several years, and look forward to working with you.

Mr. Chairman, I am interested in the process you have outlined
for all of us to try and work our way forward under a very, very
difficult scenario that General Walker has set out for us. And I
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want to thank you for being here today, and putting all of this in
perspective as we move forward under very, very difficult—dismal
I might say—budget situation that we have been left with after
deficit spending for a number of years.

I think we know that unsustainable budget deficits have become
the norm and we have to look at the long-term picture and make
some very difficult and strategic decisions. And it cannot be done
alone. We need to all work together to accomplish that.

Let me go from the macro down to a question I had because this
situation that you have presented to us in this hearing comes with-
in the timing of the President addressing us last night on his plan
on his military efforts in Iraq. That will be debated outside of this
committee, I am certain. We all have our opinions on that.

But I wanted to ask you, particularly in terms of the budget,
about the realistic estimate of the long and short-term costs of the
war in Iraq. Do you think Congress has a clear understanding of
the cost estimates of the war? And are we budgeting for it in a way
that is sustainable in the long term?

General WALKER. No, I do not think Congress has as good of an
understanding of the cost of the war as it should have.

No. 2, I have serious concerns about some of the past numbers
that have been associated with it and the numbers that we are
hearing with regard to the most recent proposal. For example, I
have heard that there will be a request for $5.6 billion associated
with a surge of 21,500 troops.

Well, the average total annual compensation for a member of the
active duty military is close to $120,000, fully loaded, with benefits
and everything. It is about $1.2 billion per 10,000 troops. If you
multiply that by 2.15, you do not get anywhere close to $5.6 billion.

Plus, on top of that, most of those people are already getting
paid. Yes, you have to pay war zone supplementals, you have to get
them there and back, you have to properly equip them—but that
is less than the total dollar amount I cited.

But I honestly have to tell you, I think the defense budget is a
serious problem. There is a tremendous amount of waste going on.
And I think that it is important that as much of the defense budget
get into the base as possible so that it can be subject to Congres-
sional scrutiny and oversight.

Only time will tell how much longer we will be in Iraq and how
much it will cost us. I do not think anybody knows that but God
today.

Senator MURRAY. There is a number of different scenarios out
there and the long-term budget projections that you are looking at
today, what scenario were you basing those long-term projections—

General WALKER. CBO. We do not try to compete with CBO. We
start with the CBO baseline and, as you know, they must assume,
that whatever funding was provided for Iraq will continue.

And then what we do longer-term, Senator Murray, is we do not
segment out Iraq or Afghanistan or the global war on terrorism.
We basically make an assumption as to what is total discretionary
spending going to be as a size of the economy? After the 1st 10
years it grows with the economy, we assume? So we do not get
down to that level of detail long-term.
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Senator MURRAY. Just as a quick followup, the CBO estimated
that the care of the veterans from Iraq before the recent plan from
the President is going to cost about %1 billion per year over the
next ?10 years. Have you looked at that and put that into your long-
term?

General WALKER. I will be happy to provide something for the
record, but the real question is how is it included in the CBO base-
line? We are piggybacking on CBO. I will check it and provide
something for the record.

General WALKER. GAQO’s long-term simulations do not make any
assumptions about the path of any specific program within the
“other” category shown in the figures. This “other” category in-
cludes both discretionary spending and mandatory programs other
than Social Security, Medicare, Medicaid (and of course net inter-
est). Under the “Baseline Extended” scenario we use the CBO base-
line for the first 10 years. This baseline assumes that discretionary
spending in the aggregate grows with inflation. After the first 10
years we keep the level of spending in this category constant as a
share of GDP. Under the alternative scenario we assume that
spending in this category grows with the economy for the first 10
years and the longer-term.

Senator MURRAY. I do think, Mr. Chairman, that is something
we are going to have to look closely at and monitor as well, as we
do this.

General WALKER. If I may add, Senator Murray too, and I think
this is important, one of the reasons that the Defense Department
budget is out of control is because of health care. It is one of many.
And Congress passed expansion of TriCare benefits for defense.

I sent letters up to the Hill talking about that was going to just
enable employees to exercise a huge put option on our kids and our
grandkids, and that is exactly what is going on.

Senator CONRAD. Senator Domenici.

Senator DOMENICI. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Walker, thank you so much for coming up. Over time I kind
of wondered what your role was vis-a-vis this effort we are doing
and that started back when we were not getting along too well. But
I want to say to you that I think you are a big help. We have our
own, they have their own, we have you. You have many other jobs
besides this, but I think that you are very helpful.

Let me say first, as we all listen, that when we talk about having
to do something with a long-term program such as Medicare, Med-
icaid, Social Security, it is not—fellow Americans, it is not that
what we have to do is easy, or we would just do it.

The truth of the matter is that something has to change. Nor-
mally, when we look at that, we do not want to tell the American
people that the program that saves America changes these pro-
grams so that over time they do not cost as much. That means
something will change in the program that it will be different 10
years from now or 15 than it is now. We might as well say the
truth: it will be less, probably less benefits.

That is why I was hinting when I was talking to you, not that
you ever hide from it, Mr. Chairman. But when we speak of doing
something to it, what we mean is doing something to the programs
that people currently want because they are getting them. They
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like them and they fight for them. And we are just sitting here and
saying to them well, they will keep on coming.

You keep telling us but when will it stop? And then we get peo-
ple saying it is not going to matter, we are going to be able to take
care of it. And then we are up here as budgeteers saying oh, but
we have to make some changes. And in the middle of this line, good
faith Senators are trying to figure out some formulation that would
put this in a position where we could call upon ourselves in a
meaningful way.

Nobody wants to be part of a program of trying to fix these pro-
grams when it is not going to fix them. That is a total, total polit-
ical waste, so you will not do it. So it has to be something that will
work; right?

And people have to feel like it will work when they join it. And
I am not sure that people want to risk that much of their political
strength. But they are going to have to.

I want to laud this Chairman and this ranking member and say
if they can begin to put this together, they will go down much more
in history than any of the other things that we are talking about
that Government has to do.

I, myself, haveten so frustrated, Mr. Walker and Mr. Chairman,
that I am planning to put together a bill with Senator Feinstein,
and it is almost finished, and I will bring it to you all, which would
set up the commission which would do this business for us and re-
port to the public and to Congress on how to solve the problem.
Sooner or later we are going to have to do that. Somebody is going
to have to set it together and put it together and move on with it.

I have a brief summary that I would have given and I would like
to put it in the record, Mr. Chairman, at this point.

And with that, thank you for giving me time. Mr. Walker, thanks
again for your public service. It is admirable and we need it.

GENERAL WALKER. Thank you. If I can, Mr. Chairman, I think
we have to be realistic. Senator Domenici, as you properly point
out, we are talking about real tough choices here. Real tough
choices, dealing with benefits, dealing with other spending, dealing
with tax policy.

Realistically, whether you go the approach that you are talking
about, Senator Conrad, or whether you go with the approach that
you are talking about, Senator Domenici—one does not involve a
commission and the other one does—I would respectfully suggest
that you are not going to solve the problem in one fell swoop.

But I do think you could do several things as the first install-
ment. Start by poroviding, additional transparency in a financial
reporting and the budget. Second, impose tough budget controls to
stop or slow the bleeding. In terms of sbstantive installment could
do 3 things: First, a comprehensive Social Security reform that is
not preprogrammed to have to come back. That is easily doable.

Second, round one of tax reform.

And third, round one of health care reform focused on Medicare
and Medicaid. Those things, I believe, would mean a meaningful
down payment, would provide more transparency and a structure
in place to help you going forward, would be a credibility enhancer
with the American people and a confidence builder for the Con-
gress.
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Senator CONRAD. Mr. Walker, let me just say that I think you
have described very ably and very succinctly what would be real-
istic goals for this kind of effort.

Let me say to my colleague, Senator Domenici, who has been
such an important force on this committee for so long, as chairman,
as ranking member, as senior member, the notion of a commission,
we decided that it would be better if it were all members, people
that have skin in the game, rather than asking outside experts who
ultimately are not accountable. Because it has to pass here. And
we need the people who have responsibility here, and I include the
White House. I want to make very clear that if the White House
is not on board with his effort, there is no sense even beginning.
Because ultimately the President has to agree to sign or to veto.

So everybody has to be on board. And Senator Domenici is ex-
actly right. This is not easy. This is going to be excruciatingly dif-
ficult. But if we fail to act, kick this can down the road, that only
makes the ultimate solution more draconian.

Senator WHITEHOUSE.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Walker, I applaud your remarks on the health care system.
If there is one thing that can bankrupt America, it is health care.
And you have identified a lot of the problems that our health care
system is burdened with.

My view is that our health care system is ridiculous and that it
would be disgraceful for the U.S. Congress to seek to cut health
care spending without taking as hard a look as we can add at the
reforms that are necessary to drive the costs down not with the
tough budget knife but by actually making the system work better
and be more efficient.

I think it is probably the most inefficient system in the world.
Many years ago in Rhode Island, I led a reform of the workers com-
pensation system. And we put discipline to that process by hiring
actuaries who prices the reform legislation as it went. And we
could not put that thing through until they had signed off on yes,
this will save the money that you have said it will.

It is an imperfect discipline but it was a good discipline. I am
wondering if your office is interested in and capable of providing
that kind of discipline and support to a health care reform effort
in this body?

General WALKER. First, Senator, we are here to support the Con-
gress in any way that you think would be helpful. Obviously, most
of our work, as you probably know, is focused on supporting the
committees because those are the entities that end up moving leg-
islation, holding hearings, et cetera. In addition, we do not want to
compete with our sister agency, the Congressional Budget Office,
which you know is the official scorekeeper for the Congress.

But I will tell you this, one of the things that you touch on is
the need better metrics and for more disclosure of not just the 1-
year, the 5-year and the even 10-year cost of proposals. We need
a sense as to what the longer-term implications of any major policy
or proposal would be.

One of the things I think we have to do, for example, Medicare
prescription drugs. As you may recall, and I know you were not in
this body then but I am sure you read the papers then.
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Senator WHITEHOUSE. It is a thrill to arrive with this kind of
problem looking at us.

General WALKER. You have a challenge and there is an oppor-
tunity.

Let me take that as an example because it goes to your point.
Congress decided that it could spend several hundred billion dol-
lars over 10 years on Medicare Part D when we had a surplus.
When the bill passed we had a deficit. There were differences be-
tween what CBO said it was going to cost and what the actuary
at Medicare said it was going to cost, but the actuary was not able
to disclose his numbers. More importantly, there was never any
discussion of the discounted present value dollar cost; not until
{:hree and a half months after the bill passed—and it was $8 tril-
ion.

For big-ticket spending and tax items we need to have good num-
bers and those numbers need to go beyond on the short term to
help us get a sense for affordability and sustainability over the long
term.

And so yes, we are willing to help in any way we can. At the
same point in time, we do not want to duplicate the efforts of our
sister agency.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. The other question I have, as I said, the
budget knife can be pretty unwieldy. If you want to cut your trans-
portation budget in half you do not go out and cut your car in half.
That takes you to zero transportation. You have to be a little bit
more sophisticated about it and understand the underlying system.

My experience as an attorney general, particularly in education,
was that very often we were saving money at the $7,000 per pupil
level, say in a middle school, and losing so many kids through that
school that then turned up at $100,000 per kid in the training
school, and whose trajectory of life was dramatically compromised
by their failure in middle school.

I have always surmised that the cost of losing them at that age
and of their ceasing to be productive citizens and creating enor-
mous law enforcement and other costs, was enormous. But I have
never seen a calculation of that or a looking forward consequences
analysis of where a failure to invest creates enormous costs later
on, as opposed to simply cutting as you go.

General WALKER. I have not seen that either. I can go back and
see if we have done anything on that in the past.

I do think this, Washington tends to suffer from two maladies:
myopia, or nearsightedness, and tunnel vision where you are just
looking narrowly at one issue at a time. One of the things we have
to do, which you are touching on, we need to look longer range, and
we need to understand the collateral effects of things that we do
or we do not do.

Education, frankly, is a problem in and of itself because we are
not even top 20 in the world in math and science. And yet we have
to compete based on brain power in a more advanced economy. So
there are a number of issues there I think that are worth explor-
ing.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator CONRAD. Thank you, Senator.

Senator ALLARD.
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Senator ALLARD. Mr. Chairman, thank you.

I just want to raise a word of caution as far as talking about
things like infant mortality, disease occurrence, and hospital asso-
ciated accidents or however you want to delineate them. Because
many times the World Health Organization builds these off of
records that are kept within the country.

And so you take a country like Mexico, who does not record
births, does not record marriages, does not record deaths. These
figures are not as accurate as what we have in this country, where
we require physicians and health care professionals to report ad-
verse reactions in hospitals. Infant deaths are recorded. We have
had a birth certificate, a death certificate, where all of this is docu-
mented for the public record.

I do think that when we make comparisons with other countries
that we can get some misleading figures there and I think we need
to keep that in mind when we are working with those figures.

The thing I would like to bring up is that I agree with everything
that has been said. We have a complicated problem. I think we
have put this problem off to the point now where we cannot tax our
way out of it. You cannot simply cut spending. It is going to take
a group of things that has to happen. And I think that we need
to put together a group of experts who can recommend to us what
groups of things need to happen in order to make sure that our en-
titlement programs can survive.

You mentioned the health care sector. As deep a trouble as it is,
that is new information and I appreciate you bringing that to our
attention this morning.

One of the things that we struggle with, obviously, is what is the
proper level of taxes in order to get the economy to grow? Obvi-
ously you cannot tax 100 percent of production or you are not going
to get any revenues because nobody is going to produce. Similarily,
you cannot have zero taxes because you will not have any revenue.

But somewhere in between there is a magic level. And that will
vary, depending on tax levels and what kind of taxes you are talk-
ing about. I think this is part of your discussion on tax reform.

What tax reform do you think might be easiest to manage by the
Congress? Answer that question first and then I will bring up an-
other one.

General WALKER. First, I think you have several issues. One,
how much of the economy do taxes represent? You are correct in
saying you want to keep that as low as possible in order to maxi-
mize economic growth, maximize disposable income, and maintain
our competitive advantage compared to Europe.

Then you have to decide how are you going to go about raising
that revenue? And then you get into how much are you going to
rely on individuals? How much are you going to rely on corpora-
tions? How much are you going to rely on income taxes? How much
are you going to rely on payroll taxes? How much are you going
to rely on consumption taxes or other excise taxes? And then how
are you going to allocate the burden within those groups? How pro-
gressive is it going to be, et cetera.

A few preliminary thoughts. We want to maintain a competitive
advantage as compared to Europe. We want to minimize tax bur-



55

dens while dealing with our fiscal imbalance. So that means we are
going to need more revenues.

Corporations do not have duties of loyalty to countries. They
have duties of loyalty to their shareholders. You must be competi-
tive in your tax structure vis-a-vis corporations because they have
the ability and an incentive to do business elsewhere if you do not.

As to individuals: obviously, you want to be fair and equitable
with regard to the tax burdens there. But most Americans are not
looking to be citizens of someplace else. Most other citizens are
looking to be citizens of America. We have to keep that in mind.

I think that our tax system today is so mind numbingly complex
it is virtually impossible for persons in good faith who itemize to
do their taxes and know they have done it corretly. Many Ameri-
cans pay more in payroll taxes than they do income taxes. That is
a fact. And yet we are using some of the payroll taxes to pay oper-
ating expenses of the Government. We have to keep that in mind.

I think we need to do several things. We need to broaden the tax
base, reduce and eliminate a number of tax preferences to keep
rates as low as possible to be able to help assure equity, consist-
ency, and economic efficiency. We are also going to need to consider
some type of a consumption tax that may or may not be dedicated
because income and wealth in this country is distributed fun-
damentally differently today than it was in the early 1900’s, when
income taxes came into effect.

The $345 billion tax gap would be a good place to start—with
more information returns, more withholding, more targeted IRS en-
forcement. But you are not going to solve the tax gap until you do
comprehensive tax reform with simplification.

Lastly on simplication, I have paid AMT several times now. I
think that is a massive bait and switch surtax. I think you would
be much better off to build it into the rates and just be honest with
people. If you want to have a surtax on the really wealthy, then
have a surtax on the really wealthy. But the idea of AMT, where
you in good faith fill out your tax return and think you are done
and then all of a sudden you have to go do this other one—all it
is is a surtax. You would be better have a streamlined and sim-
plified income tax that builds it into the rates. And then if you
want to have a surtax, target it.

Those are a few thoughts.

Senator ALLARD. Mr. Chairman, my time is run over but for the
committee’s benefit I would like to ask for a clarification, if I may
have the time.

Senator CONRAD. Sure.

Senator ALLARD. You talked about consumption tax. I have read
tax policy experts who will say that a flat tax and a sales tax are
both consumptive taxes, depending on how they are structured. So
when you talk about a consumption tax, which one are you refer-
ring to?

General WALKER. It depends on how they are structured. You
could have an income tax that does not tax savings and does not
tax certain items that do not represent consumption and pretty
much get a consumption-based tax, if you will. So there is different
ways you can get there.
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The last thing that I would mention, let me give you one example
of something that really needs to be on the table. The single largest
tax preference in the budget or probably in the Government today
is the fact that no American, no matter how much money they
make, no matter how wealthy they are, pays a dime of income or
payroll taxes on the value of employer-provided and paid health
care, even if they have a very lucrative health care package. That
is approaching $200 billion a year.

And it is part of the problem with health care cost explosion be-
cause it disassociates people from the cost of health care. And that
is something that the Mack-Breaux Commission put on the table.

The good news is there is lots of good work that has been done
on entitlement reform and taxes. You do not have to reinvent the
wheel. You can pull from work that has already been done and
come up with something that hopefully addresses the elements we
talked about.

Senator ALLARD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator CONRAD. I thank the Senator from Colorado for his good
questioning.

Senator CARDIN. Again, Senator Cardin, you were not here when
I welcomed the new members to this committee. We are delighted
that you and Senator Whitehouse are here. Senator Sanders was
here earlier.

We very much appreciate your coming and replacing a former
No. 2 person on our side on this committee, Senator Sarbanes, who
was an essentially valuable member of this committee. We antici-
pate that you will make significant contributions here, as well.

Senator CARDIN. Mr. Chairman, I thank you very much for these
comments. Serving in the other body, I served on only one com-
mittee so it was very much expected I would make those hearings.
In this body they put me on a lot of committees.

So I apologize for the fact that Secretary Rice is before the For-
eign Relations Committee and that has divided my time today.

I want to thank you very much for holding this hearing. I had
a chance to work with you, Mr. Walker, when I was in the House,
and I always found your information to be extremely helpful, par-
ticularly your projections regarding areas that we need to address.

Today we are talking about the long-term budget outlook. Let me
just caution you, as you were talking about the Alternative Min-
imum Tax—and I agree with you on AMT. Remember, we got the
AMT because Congress wanted to simplify, broaden, and reduce
rates.

So let us be careful as to how we move forward because our ac-
tions may very well not produce the results that we anticipate. Our
tax code is the most complicated it has ever been and we have gone
through I do not know how many tax simplifications. So we should
be very cautious about that.

The other point I want to make is that as we look at ways of
solving the budget dilemma that we are in, and I know that Con-
gress will examine entitlement spending, let us remember that it
was not too many years ago that the projections for our budget
were pretty good.

I remember some of the documents that you prepared for the
Ways and Means Committee as to how we got this reversal, par-
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ticularly your analysis of the 2001 and 2003 tax cuts and the effect
our budget situation if those provisions are made permanent.

You already mentioned earlier the impact of the medicare pre-
scription drug law has.

As we look for ways of dealing with our budget problems today,
let us be mindful of how we got here so that we do not repeat the
mistakes we have made in the past.

Medicare and Medicaid are clearly a challenge for the Federal
budget. There is no question about that. I do not how we deal with
that if we address the overall issue of health care in this country.
How do you get a handle on the Federal Government’s costs health
care unless you address the lack of affordable health insurance, the
rising cost of long-term care, and as you point out, a more respon-
sible approach to Medicare prescription drug coverage?

I do not know whether you have done any projections in this or
not, or whether you have any views on that, but it seems to me
that we will not benefit taxpayers or consumers if we just attempt
attempt to rein in Medicare and Medicaid but do little about the
entire health care system itself.

General WALKER. My personal view is, Senator, that while there
are a number of things that we can and should do in the short
term to try to moderate health care costs, including moving to na-
tional practice standards,—something that would help to reduce
costs, improve quality, and reduce litigation risk, among other
things,—that ultimately we are going to have to engage in com-
prehensive health care reform in installments. Medicaid is really
not just health care. It is also long-term care. About two-thirds of
Medicaid now is long-term care. That is really a hybrid. It is really
life maintenance. It is really not health care.

So I think that ultimately we are going to have to engage in
much broader reforms, but we are going to have to do it in install-
ments. We are also going to have to do something about our sav-
ings rate. And I would respectfully suggest for your consideration
one of the things that we might want to think about for Social Se-
curity is to reform Social Security to make it solvent, sustainable
and secure indefinitely, keeping it as a defined benefit program for
a variety of reasons and adding a supplemental individual account
on top with mandatory personal savings through payroll deduc-
tion—money put into a real trust fund with real investments, with
real fiduciary responsibilities where people go to jail if they violate
that responsibility.

I think that combination could help us not just with Social Secu-
rity, but also with long-term care; it could help us with our savings
rate; it could help us with a number of things. And I think that
could be done in a way that would be broadly supported.

Senator CARDIN. Some of us have looked at that option for Social
Security and support trying to provide supplemental accounts. The
difficulty, of course, is that there is a budget score associated with
these accouonts.

General WALKER. Actually, you can because what I am talking
about is you reform Social Security—and we can talk about that if
you want, how to do that—to where you make it solvent, sustain-
able and secure. And then you have individuals, through payroll
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deduction, have 2 percent of their pay go into an individual ac-
count. It is their money, not our money. It is not a budget item.

Senator CARDIN. But if you take it out of the Social Security sys-
tem, you are compounding—

General WALKER. I am not taking it out. It is not a carve-out.
But Congress is probably poised to increase the minimum wage.

Senator CARDIN. I think it is an intriguing suggestion, but as you
pointed out, payroll taxes are rather oppressive already for a large
number of Americans.

General WALKER. It is. It is a regressive tax and I think one
needs to be concerned with that. But here is the difference, this is
not a tax increase. This is your money.

The other thing is this would provide for a very substantial pre-
retirement death benefit that one does not get in Social Security
today, et cetera, et cetera.

Senator CARDIN. I want to continue this, Mr. Chairman, but this
is not the right time. I would just urge that for lower-wage work-
ers, supplemental accounts are not feasible unless someone puts
money on the table in addition to the worker. But we can debate
that issue at a different point.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator CONRAD. Let me just say I, for one, I like this basic con-
struct. I think it has to be part of an overall tax reform plan be-
cause we are using payroll taxes to fund operating expenses. If you
were doing this in the private sector, if you were taking retirement
funds of employees, and using it to pay operating expenses, you
would be on your way to a Federal institution. It would not be Con-
gress, it would not be the White House. You would be headed for
the big house. That is a violation of Federal law.

We have just an incredible mismatch here in terms of our fund-
ing mechanisms and the outgo.

I would like to go for just a minute back to the health care issue
because that really is the 800 pound gorilla, and that is what has
the potential to swamp the boat around here unless we address it.
And I agreed you entirely. I do not think we can solve this in one
fell swoop. I think it is going to take a series of bite-sized chunks
over time. Frankly, I do not think we know enough at this moment
to solve the long-term problem of Medicare. But we have to make
progress.

One thing I have talked about repeatedly on this committee is
the fact that about 5 percent of Medicare beneficiaries use half of
the money. It is not quite that, is about 6 percent use half of the
money currently. But it has been in that range, 5 percent or 6 per-
cent use half the money. Now my business school training says you
focus like a laser on that kind of fact.

Can you help us understand, we know that these are the chron-
ically ill, people with multiple conditions. Have you had a chance
to study this? And have you had any sense of how we might make
progress with respect to that population?

General WALKER. Clearly, there is an opportunity to use more
case management approaches, which is what you are talking about.
A very high percentage of the cost for Medicare relates to a fairly
small percentage of those that are covered by Medicare. And in the
private sector typically, and even frankly in the public sector with
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regard to some governments, you typically have a much more ag-
gressive case management which is not just to control cost but it
is also to try to assure quality. For examplel, if you are taking too
many prescriptions that can actually be a detriment, for example,
to the individual involved.

I think clearly that is an area that needs to be explored as well
as, as I said, national practice standards for medical standards, as
well as a few other areas.

But one of the things you have to keep in mind under our cur-
rent health care system, the incentives are for everybody to do
more, more, and more. Why? Because providers get paid more, be-
cause they reduce their litigation risk, and because individuals are
not paying for it.

So the current incentives under our system are, whether it is
technology, whether it is drugs, or whether it is procedures, is to
do more, more, more. One of the things we are all going to have
to come to grips with is there is a difference between whether or
not people ought to have opportunity to gain access to every tech-
nology procedure and drug that exists versus whether the tax-
payers ought to pay for it. Because the fact is that if there is one
thing that could swamp the ship of state and bankrupt America,
it is health care. There are lots of ways you can get there but one
of the ways that forces you to get there is to have a budget for
health care.

I mean, there are a number of procedures that could be done that
do not meaningfully improve or extend life but they cost a tremen-
dous amount of money. And it is reality. It is tough but it is reality.

Senator CONRAD. Senator Gregg, any final comments?

Chairman GREGG. I want to followup on that, but I had another
issue I wanted to followup on, too. But let me followup on that.
This concept of a separate budget for health care might make a lot
of sense since it is such a large percentage of our budget.

I have been thinking about how do you address this? How do you
address this health care issue? Obviously everyone is thinking
about it.

But your point earlier that because health insurance premiums
are fully deductible and health insurance is therefore subsidized
dramatically by our tax laws, then that creates this disincentive for
market forces to play a role and creates, in many instances, over-
utilization and costs which should not have to occur.

I have always thought that a better health care system might be
one where we absolutely make sure that everybody is insured for
a catastrophic event. So nobody has to fear being wiped out be-
cause they discover they have cancer in their family or they have
a serious accident that harms them, so that every American knows
that they are not going to lose their home or their life savings as
a result of a catastrophic event. And then you allow the market-
place and individuals, with obviously some support for lower in-
come people, to decide what percentage they are going to want to
personally cover of the difference through insurance.

And you could pay for that, it would seem to me, by first allow-
ing the market to create the catastrophic insurance but subsidize
that by basically limiting the amount of deductibility for health in-
surance to a number that is reasonable so that gold plated plans
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are no longer fully deductible at the corporate level. Does that
make any sense to you?

General WALKER. Let me take that, elements of it, I think, do
make a lot of sense.

First, as you know Senator, it is not a deduction on health care
that I am talking about. It is the exclusion.

Chairman GREGG. Yes, I mean it does not—

General WALKER. But it is bigger that way.

Chairman GREGG. Of course it is.

General WALKER. The reason it is bigger that way is because you
do not pay payroll taxes on it either. You can get a deduction for
your income tax but you do not get a deduction from the taxable
wage base. But with an exclusion you get both. It is not included
in the taxable wage base for Social Security and Medicare nor is
it in the income tax.

I think you are on to the right path. My personal view is that
if you look long-term that if we were somehow to move to a system
that assured every American that they had certain basic and essen-
tial health care services, and I would suggest that might include
catastrophic, definitely protection against financial ruin due to un-
expected catastrophic illness. Now catastrophic is different if you
are Bill Gates or one of us.

But I think you also have to think about wellness and inocula-
tions. Those are things I think you have to think about. And I
think then to create options for people to get more than that if they
want, but they have to decide how much of their resources do they
want to allocate off for that.

And one of the things we have to do, we have to do more to help
individuals assume more personal responsibility for their own
health. Right now, even for Federal programs, if you have very
poor health habits you do not pay a different premium. So people
who are behaving properly with regard to smoking, eating, drink-
ing, whatever, they are subsidizing people who are not. And I think
we need to do more to figure out how we encourage people to as-
sume more personal responsibility for their own health because we
have a number of very negative leading indicators on health.

For example, we are No. 1 in the world in obesity. Nobody is
even close. And that is a pre-indicator for heart disease and diabe-
tes. And we need to start doing something about it. But part of
that has to do with the individual. The individual has to assume
more responsibility.

Chairman GREGG. Thank you for that.

I was pointing out to my colleague that the obesity issue is more
a function of the subsidized agricultural industry than anything
else.

[Laughter.]

General WALKER. We can get into that in a different hearing if
you want.

Senator CONRAD. You will not be invited to that hearing.

[Laughter.]

Chairman GREGG. You used the term mandatory reconsideration
trigger. What did you mean by that?

General WALKER. What I mean by that is that when a certain
mandatory programs, take Medicare, Medicaid, whatever, reaches
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a certain size of the Federal budget and/or the economy, that it
forces reconsideration.

Now something like that was put in the prescription drug bill.
The alarm is supposed to go off this year to say that by 2012 you
are going to hit that trigger point. But that is only Medicare. Time
will tell what is done with that alarm, when that alarm goes off.
But you need to think about other segments of the budget—both
the spending side and tax preferences—
hCl‘l?airman GREGG. Have you looked at my SOS bill, which has
that?

General WALKER. I have not, but I will.

Senator CONRAD. Mr. Walker, I was at an event last week with
former President Clinton and he was very focused on this health
care issue. One of the things that he said in his remarks was that
we are now of 16 percent of GDP on health care. The next highest
country in the world is 11 percent. And that Delta, that difference
between 11 percent and 16 percent of GDP amounts to $800 billion
a year in terms of health care expenditure in this country.

The second thing he mentioned, and I hesitate to quote him be-
cause I am just remembering this from his description and so I
may have misheard. But he had an extraordinarily high figure of
over 30 percent on the administrative costs of health care in this
country.

Have you looked at that issue?

General WALKER. I have heard 20 to 30 percent. I can take a
look at it when I get back. It is very high, there is no question.

Senator CONRAD. That seems to me, if we were analyzing this
like in business, these outliers where you have 5 percent using half
of the money, where you have an administrative cost that is much,
much higher than you would see in almost every other economic
segment, those are places it seems to me we have to focus like a
laser. I would be very interested in any analysis you can provide
the committee with respect to this administrative cost issue, any
additional information you could provide the committee with re-
spect to the 5 percent of Medicare beneficiaries who use half of the
money, any proposals that you would have for how we address that
to both save money and, I believe, improve health care outcomes.
(See additional information)

I would also be interested in your national practice standards
and any proposal that you would have there because we now know
that there are vast disparities across the country in how much
money is being allocated to various health care problems without
differences in health care outcomes. (See additional informa-
tion)

In other words, I have seen studies in the last 10 days that show
a 500 percent difference in cost to deal with various health care
conditions, one part of the country to another, with virtually no dif-
ference in the quality of outcomes. That is another thing that ought
to jump out at us.

If you could provide that. (See additional information)

Senator Whitehouse, if you have an additional question or
thought?

Senator WHITEHOUSE. Mr. Chairman, I was hoping that I could
add to Mr. Walker’s homework with an additional request along
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the lines of the things that you have so wisely asked about. And
that would be for you to take a look at the information infrastruc-
ture in health care.

The Economist magazine reported not long ago that the adoption
of information technology in the health care industry is the second
worst of any American industry, lagging only behind the mining in-
dustry. The RAND Corporation has indicated that with adequate
investment in information technology in the health care sector, we
could save as much as $162 billion, with a B, per year.

Those are public reports and public information. I would love to
have those added to the list for review by your organization if the
Chairman would permit me to add to his list. (See additional in-
formation)

Senator CONRAD. I certainly would. I think it is an excellent
question. General Walker.

General WALKER. If 1 can, first, there are actually a few areas
where Government leads by example other than GAO. VA is one.

VA probably has the best technology for medical records in the
country. And we need to learn from that.

You are correct, national practice standards could help reduce
costs, improve consistency and enhance quality.

Last thing, I want to come back to something that is relevant to
this discussion that Senator Allard mentioned before. This country
directly spends $2.5 trillion to $3 trillion per year. It issues tax
preferences equal to $700 billion to $800 billion a year in foregone
revenue. And that is backdoor spending. That is what tax pref-
erences are. They both affect the bottom line.

But for the most part, we do not really know whether the spend-
ing programs are effective and whether the tax policies are effec-
tive. I think one of the things that we sorely need in order to be
able to make intelligent decisions to help reengineer not just spend-
ing policy but tax policy is a set of key national indicators, out-
come-based indicators—economic, safety, security, social, environ-
mental—that will help us to answer three questions: Where are we
today? How are we trending? And how do we compare with others?

Senator Allard is correct to say that there are differing degrees
of reliability of data. But we need to seek to work to develop these.
Some countries have them. Others do not. We are working with the
National Academy of Sciences to try to make this a reality, as well
as with the OECD.

Frankly, I think it is a great opportunity for a public/private
partnership because if Congress had this data it could make a lot
more informed judgments in the executive branch about where we
should and should not be spending and where we should and
should not be issuing tax preferences. I think it is something that
needs to be on the radar screen.

Senator CONRAD. One final thought, and I like that idea very
much. We would hope that as you develop these that you would let
this committee know, because I think there would be strong inter-
est here in this notion of national indicators. (See additional in-
formation)

One of the things I have always thought we should do is have
a periodic review of programs to see how much money is actually
being delivered to where it is intended. One of the things that has
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really concerned me is in the few times I have had a chance to look
at a program, it may have started a very well intended way, it may
have worked well at the beginning, but over time hasten ossified
and calcified and is not delivering the benefits to where they are
intended at all, or not at least even a majority of the benefits. In-
stead, it is getting caught up in some kind of administrative
stream.

Do you do a review of major programs to see how much of what
goes in actually comes out the other side for the purposes intended?

General WALKER. To my knowledge we have not but it is a good
idea. Obviously, as you know, the executive branch has something
called the Program Assessment Rating Tool, which is supposed to
help assess the effectiveness of certain programs. Unfortunately,
that is just spending programs, it is not tax policies. But I am not
sure that this is even part of that effort.

Clearly, it is similar to what you said before about overhead costs
for health care. We need to understand how much money is actu-
ally going to the targeted players. And there is little doubt in my
mind that we have way too much overhead. I mean, think about
it.

Senator CONRAD. Way too much overhead.

General WALKER. Think about this for a second. I have sent up
to you and every member of the Senate our 21st Century Chal-
lenges document, Re-Examining the Base of the Federal Govern-
ment.

Just look at how the Government is organized. We have over 10
regions. We have all of these different grade levels. That is based
on the 1950’s. It is based on technology and transportation systems
and management models of the 1950’s and we are still trying to op-
erate that way.

Take the Pentagon. If it was 20 percent smaller, it could prob-
ably be 50 percent more productive. For example it takes over 20
units to sign off on activating and deploying 10 reservists or more.
There is tremendous opportunity to delayer, de-silo, and streamline
Government.

Senator CONRAD. And it will never happen unless we have the
information.

We would like to talk to you further about this matter because
I really do think we have to find a way to bring this to the atten-
tion of our colleagues. And it will never happen unless we set up
some kind of structure to periodically review.

I tell you, I am appalled by what I am seeing in terms of admin-
istrative overhead. These agencies take a cutoff the top before the
money ever gets delivered for the purpose intended. It is not un-
usual for this to be 20 percent. Now there is no excuse for adminis-
trative overhead to be of that magnitude.

So I would very much like to have a discussion with you about
how we set up an ongoing program to review the administrative
overhead that is on these programs.

With that, I want to again thank you so much for being here
today. And thanks once again, Chairman Gregg, for his many cour-
tesies that have been extended to our side of the aisle during his
chairmanship.

[Whereupon, at 12:19 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
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ADDITONAL INFORMATION FROM GENERAL WALKER

Information Provided in Response to Requests for Additional Information
by Chairman Conrad and Senator Whitehouse. -7

Health System Administrative Costs
While GAO has not conducted a study of overall health system administrative

costs, a 2001 GAO report analyzed existing data among private insurers. In this
report, GAO found that, “overall, insurers’ administration costs and expenses,
other than benefits, typically account for about 20 percent to 25 percent of small
employers’ premiums compared to about 10 percent of large employers’
premiums. These expenses can range from around 5 percent to 30 percent of the
premium dollar, depending on the size of the employer, type of plan, and insurer.”
(Private Health Insurance; Small Employers Continue to Face Challenges in
Providing Coverage, GAO-02-8)

Distribution of Medicare Costs Among Beneficiaries
As indicated in the Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation’s Medicare Chartbook (3rd

Ed., Suramer 2005, pp. 52, 56), “Medicare spending is highly concentrated among a
rinority of beneficiaries. In 2002, 7 percent of beneficiaries incurred
expenditures of $25,000 or more, accounting for just over half of program
spending. Twelve percent of beneficiaries accounted for more than two-thirds of

program spending.”

National Practice Standards
At a forum sponsored by GAO in January 2004 on Health Care, experts with a

variety of backgrounds discussed strategies for controlling costs and enhancing
value in health care. The group determined that effective evidence-based
medicine required authoritative standards of practice. Such standards would
guide clinical decision-making and payers' determination about whether services
claimed were medically necessary. They may also help address the problem of
wide variability observed in medical practices in the United States. (Comptroller
General's Forum entitled Health Care: Unsustainable Trends Necessitate
Comprehensive and Fundamental Reforms to Control Spending and Improve
Value, GAO-04-793SP).
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Health information technology (IT) provides a promising solution to help irnprove
patient safety, reduce inefficiencies, improve the quality of care, bolster the
preparedness of our public health infrastructure, and save money on
administrative costs. We reported in 2003 that technologies such as electronic
health records and bar coding of certain human drug and biological product labels
have been shown to save money and reduce medical errors.! Health care
organizations reported that IT contributed other benefits, such as shorter hospital
stays, faster communication of test results, improved management of chronic
diseases, and improved accuracy in capturing charges associated with diagnostic
and procedure codes. Even with these reported benefits, however, our work in
2003 also highlighted the lack of an overall IT strategy to support federal agencies'
abilities to respond to public health emergencies. Accordingly, we recommended
that HHS develop an IT strategy to support public health emergency response that
sets priorities for IT initiatives and coordinates the development of IT standards
for the health care industry.? Subsequently, in July 2004, we testified on the
benefits that effective implementation of IT can bring to the health care industry
and the need for HHS to provide continued leadership, clear direction, and
mechanisms to monitor progress in order to bring about measurable
improvements.?

Recognizing the potential for the effective implementation of health IT to prevent
medical errors, reduce costs, improve quality, and produce greater value for
health care expenditures, in April 2004 President Bush called for the widespread
adoption of interoperable electronic health records within 10 years and issued an
executive order that established the position of the National Coordinator for
Health Information Technology within the Departinent of Health and Human
Services (HHS). The National Coordinator was designated to be the government
official responsible for the development and execution of a strategic plan to guide
the nationwide implementation of interoperable health IT in both the public and
private sectors.! In July 2004, the Secretary of HHS and the National Coordinator
released a framework for strategic action that described goals for achieving
nationwide interoperability of health IT and actions to be taken by both the public

'GAO, Information Technology: Benefits Realized for Selected Health Care Funetions, GAO-04-224
(Washington, D.C.: Oct. 31, 2003). [ATL170607, p.10 R2—OK, EJS, 1/20/07}

2GAO, Biaterrorism: Information Technology Strategy Could Strengthen Federal Agencies’ Abilities to
Respond to Public Health Emergencies, GAO-03-139 (Washington, D.C.: May 30, 2003). [ATL170651, p.1 R1-R3
and p.7 R1 & R2 - Ok, EJS, 1/29/07]

3GAO, Health Care: National Strategy Needed to Accel, the Impls ion of Information Technology,
GAO-04-947T (Washington, D.C.: July 14, 2004). {ATL170607, p.12 R4 - OK, EJS, 1/29/07}

4Executive Order 13335, Incentives for the Use of Health Infc ion Technology and Establishing the
Position of the National Health Information Technology Coordi (Washington, D.C.: Apr. 27, 2004).

[ATLL70607, .6 R3 - OK, EJS, 1/20/07]
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and private sectors in implementing a strategy.® Since then, we have reported or
testified on several occasions on HHS's efforts to define its national strategy for
health IT and to meet the goals defined in its framework.®* We recognized that HHS
has taken steps through various initiatives to develop and implement a national
strategy and has continued to move forward with its mission to guide the
nationwide implementation of interoperable health IT in the public and private
health care sectors. However, we found that HHS lacked the detailed plans and
milestones needed to implement and integrate the various initiatives intended to
support the implementation of its national strategy. Therefore, we recommended
that HHS develop detailed plans and milestones for implementing its strategy and
to ensure that its goals are met. HHS agreed with our recommendation and has
taken some steps to develop detailed plans, including further refinement of the
goals, objectives, and strategies described in its framework.”

*Department of Health and Human Services, “The Decade of Health Information Technology: Delivering
Ci tric and Infor ion-rich Health Care: A F k for Str: ic Action” (Washi , D.C.:
July 21, 2004). [ATL170607, p.7 R5 - OK, EJS, 1/20/07}

$GAO, Health Information Technology: HHS Is Taking Steps to Develop a National Strategy, GAO-05-628
{Washington, D.C.: May 27, 2005); GAO, Health Information Technology: HHS Is Continuing Efforts to Define
a National Strategy, GAO-06-346T (Washington, D.C.: Mar. 165, 2006); GAO-06-1071T. JATL170607, p.12 R2 & R6
~OK, EJS, 1/29/07]

"GAO, Health Information Technology: HHS Is Continuing Efforts to Define Its National Strategy, GAQ-06-
1071T (Washington, D.C.: Sept. 1, 2006). [ATL170607, p.12 R5 - OK, EIS, 1/29/07}
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Information on Key National Indicators Provided

The Key National Indicators Initiative (KNII) emerged after GAO—in cooperation with
the National Academies—convened a forum in Febrmary 2003. At this forum, a cross-
section of public and private sector leaders provided their views on whether and how to
develop such a national system and believed that it was an important idea that should be
explored further.! Participants at the GAO forum suggested that any effort to create a
comprehensive indicator system in the U.S. should build on lessons learned from other
efforts both around the country and worldwide. In November 2004, GAO published a
report which looked at the current state of the practice of developing comprehensive key
indicator systems—by studying the indicator systems of various jurisdictions across the
U.S. as well as those of several other countries and supranational organizations—and
identified design features and organizational options that could help inform the
development of such a system in the United States.” GAO has also studied topical

indicators, such as environmental indicators, within the U.S.*

Development of key national indicators to measure progress toward national outcomes,
assess conditions and trends, and help communicate complex issues is one tool to help
deal with the new and more complex challenges that face the U.S, in the future. Some
other countries have key national indicator systems, but not the United States.

In the Oversight letter I sent to Congress in November 2006, I suggested that
Congressional interest and attention would be critical to the successful developrent of a
comprehensive national indicator system. The Key National Indicators Initiative, under
the auspices of the National Acaderies, has begun efforts to develop such a system
which could be used to inform strategic planning, enhance performance and

accountability reporting, inform congressional oversight and decision making, facilitate

' GAO, Forum on Key National Indicators: Assessing the Nation’s Position and Progress, GAO-03-672SP
(Washington, D.C.: May 2003).

2 GAO, Informing Our Nation: Improving How to Understand and Assess the USA s Position and Progress, GAO-
05-1 (Washington, D.C.: Nov. 10, 2004).

* For le, GAO, Envi ! Indi Better Coordination Is Needed to Develop Environmental Indicator
Sets that Inform Decisions, GAO-05-52 (Washington, D.C.: Nov. 17, 2004) and Environmental Information: Status
of Federal Data Programs that Support Ecological Indicators, GAO-05-376 (Washington, D.C.: Sep. 2, 2005).
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oversight, and stimulate greater citizen engagement. GAQ’s work has pointed to the need
for a governmentwide strategic plan, supported by key national indicators to assess
performance, position, and progress. A governmentwide strategic plan could provide an
additional tool for re-examining existing programs and proposing new programs. GAQ
has also called for a governmentwide performance report linked to key indicators to
articulate the government’s accomplishments.
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PREPARED STATEMENT AND QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR
GRASSLEY

Uhnek

Statement and Questions of Senator Charles E. Grassley
Budget Committee Hearing on Long-Term Budget Outlook
January 11, 2007

General Walker, we all know that the tax gap is not a new
issue. Michael Brostek from your office testified before a
subcommittee hearing in the Finance Committee that the
voluntary compliance rate has ranged from around 81 percent to
84 percent over the past three decades. In the Finance
Committee, we take the tax gap very seriously, because it’s not
fair to the vast majority of taxpayers that pay their taxes on
time. We have had several hearings to examine the size,
sources, and solutions to the tax gap, and we have enacted
several steps to reduce the tax gap, such as boosting the IRS’
whistleblower program and authorizing the private debt collection
program. But we need to do more. Dozens of factors contribute
to the tax gap and dozens of solutions are needed to close it. I
am completely in support of taking appropriate measures to close
the tax gap — and I will work aggressively towards enacting
legistative changes to help close it - but it has to be done in an
effective manner. I don't think that there is any easy solution.

There seems to be a general consensus that potential
solutions to the tax gap fall into three categories: (1) Additional
and more efficient enforcement by the IRS; (2) Additional
enforcement tools for the IRS, such as information reporting and
withholding; and (3) changes to our tax base that reduce the
complexity of our current system, including reforming or
eliminating some tax expenditures, as recommended by the staff
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of the Joint Committee on Taxation in a report called “Options to
Improve Tax Compliance and Reform Tax Expenditures”. I would
note that some of the JCT staff's recommendations have been
enacted, but there are many other proposals in that report that
have not been enacted, such as repealing the deduction for
interest on home equity loans, modifying the social security tax
and self-employment tax rules, and moving to a territorial
system for foreign business income. Others have suggested
even more fundamental reform, like shifting to a consumption
tax. Many of these changes, of course, would create winners and

losers, making them controversial.

Do you agree that IRS enforcement, information reporting
or withholding, and changes to the tax base are the three general
categories of tax gap solutions, and how much tax gap reduction
do you think is achievable in each of these categories?

Last year, Commissioner Everson testified before this
committee that the tax gap could be reduced by $50 to $100
billion without changing the way the Government interacts with
taxpayers. That's quite a bit, but it's only a quarter to a third of
the tax gap, as calculated by the IRS. So I find it hard to believe
that going after the bulk of the tax gap with IRS enforcement
would not result in @ much more intrusive IRS. In your view,
how would the IRS have to change its enforcement practices to
actually close the tax gap, how much more intrusive would the
IRS be in the lives of taxpayers, and what kind of time frame
should Congress expect for the resulting revenues to come in to
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the Treasury?

As we examine proposals for new reporting and withholding
requirements, such as basis reporting for securities transactions,
what additional types of income should we consider subjecting to
withholding or reporting, and what factors should be considered
in evaluating such proposals.

In your view, what role should tax reform and simplificatior
play in reducing the tax gap, and what factors should Congress
consider in evaluating these types of proposals as a way to
reduce the tax gap?
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ANSWERS TO QUESTIONS SUBMITTED

Questions for the Record from Senator Grassley
Senate Budget Committee Hearing on Long-Term Budget Outlook
January 11, 2007

General Walker, we all know that the tax gap is not a new issue. Michael Brostek
from your office testified before a subcommittee hearing in the Finance
Committee that the voluntary compliance rate has ranged from around 81 percent
to 84 percent over the past three decades. In the Finance Committee, we take the
tax gap very seriously, because it's not fair to the vast majority of taxpayers that
pay their taxes on time. We have had several hearings to examine the size,
sources, and solutions to the tax gap, and we have enacted several steps to reduce
the tax gap, such as boosting the IRS' whistleblower program and authorizing the
private debt collection program. But we need to do more. Dozens of factors
contribute to the tax gap and dozens of solutions are needed to close it. Iam
completely in support of taking appropriate measures to close the tax gap—and |
will work aggressively towards enacting legislative changes to help close it—but it
has to be done in an effective manner. Idon't think that there is any easy solution.

There seems to be a general consensus that potential solutions to the tax gap fall
into three categories: (1) Additional and more efficient enforcement by the IRS;
(2) Additional enforcement tools for the IRS, such as information reporting and
withholding; and (3) changes to our tax base that reduce the complexity of our
current system, including reforming or eliminating some tax expenditures, as
recomnmended by the staff of the Joint Committee on Taxation in a report called
"Options to Improve Tax Compliance and Reform Tax Expenditures.” I would
note that some of the JCT staff’'s recommendations have been enacted, but there
are many other proposals in that report that have not been enacted, such as
repealing the deduction for interest on home equity loans, modifying the social
security tax and self-employment tax rules, and moving to a territorial system for
foreign business income. Others have suggested even more fundamental reform,
like shifting to a consuraption tax. Many of these changes, of course, would
create winners and losers, making them controversial. I have four questions for
you General Walker, and I'd like to ask them all first, then have you answer each
of them.

1) Do you agree that IRS enforcement, information reporting or
withholding, and changes to the tax base are the three general
categories of tax gap solutions, and how much tax gap reduction is
achievable in each of these categories?

Devoting additional resources to IRS enforcement; providing IRS with more
enforcement tools, such as information reporting and withholding; and
simplifying or fundamentally reforming the tax code are three general
approaches we believe would contribute to reducing the tax gap in the
following ways:
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+ Devoting additional resources to enforcement has the potential to help
reduce the tax gap by billions of dollars. However, determining the
appropriate level of enforcement resources to provide IRS requires taking
into account factors such as how effectively and efficiently IRS is currently
using its resources, how to strike the proper balance between IRS’s
taxpayer service and enforcement activities, and competing federal funding
priorities.

* Providing IRS with more enforcement tools, particularly additional
withholding and information reporting, also has the potential to reduce the
tax gap by billions of dollars, especially if those tools help IRS deal with the
largest contributor to the tax gap—underreported income. However,
designing new withholding or information reporting requirements to
address underreporting can be challenging given that many types of
income are already subject to at least some form of withholding or
information reporting, there are varied forms of underreporting, and the
requirements could impose costs and burdens on third parties.

» Tax law simplification and reform both have great potential to reduce the
tax gap by billions of dollars. The extent to which the tax gap would be
reduced depends on which parts of the tax system would be simplified and
in what manner as well as how any reform of the tax system is designed
and implemented. Further, changes in the tax laws and system to improve
tax compliance could have unintended effects on other tax system
objectives, such as those involving economic behavior or equity.

Multiple options to reduce the tax gap exist within each of these approaches,
and using multiple approaches may be the most effective strategy to reduce
the tax gap, since no one approach is likely to address noncompliance fully
and cost effectively. While we can and should take steps to reduce the tax
gap, it is unrealistic to expect that we will ever eliminate it.

Although these three approaches have promise to reduce the tax gap,
providing quality services to taxpayers is an important part of any approach to
improve compliance and thereby reduce the tax gap. For example, if the
forms and instructions taxpayers use to prepare their taxes are unclear,
taxpayers may be confused and make unintentional errors. IRS's taxpayer
service efforts include education and outreach programs and simplifying the
tax process, such as by revising forms and publications to make them
electronically accessible and more easily understood by diverse taxpayer
communities. Improving taxpayer service would also be a key consideration
in implementing the three approaches summarized above. For example,
expanding enforcement efforts would result in increased interactions with
taxpayers, requiring improved processes to more efficiently communicate with
taxpayers. Also, changing tax laws and regulations would require educating
taxpayers of the new requirements in a clear, timely, and accessible manner.
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2) Last year, Commissioner Everson testified before this committee that
the tax gap could be reduced by $50 to $100 billion without changing
the way the Government interacts with taxpayers. That's quite a bit,
but it's only a quarter to a third of the tax gap, as calculated by the
IRS. So I find it hard to believe that going after the bulk of the tax
gap with IRS enforcement would not result in 2 much more intrusive
IRS. In your view, how would the IRS have to change its enforcement
practices to actually close the tax gap, how much more intrusive would
the IRS be in the lives of taxpayers, and what kind of time frame
should Congress expect for the resulting revenues to come in to the
Treasury?

Reducing the tax gap is an important goal, as when taxpayers do not pay all of
their taxes, honest taxpayers carry a greater burden to fund government
programs and the nation is less able to address its long-term fiscal challenges.
However closing the entire tax gap through enforcement is neither feasible nor
desirable because of costs and intrusiveness.

Devoting additional resources to enforcement would help IRS contact and
assess additional taxes for millions of taxpayers it believes to be potentially
noncompliant but cannot otherwise contact because of resource constraints.
However, it is unlikely that IRS would be able to close the tax gap strictly
through these additional contacts. In 2002, IRS estimated that a $2.2 billion
funding increase would allow it to take enforcement actions against the
potentially noncompliant taxpayers it identifies but cannot contact and would
yield an estimated $30 billion in revenue. Expanded enforcement efforts could
also have an indirect effect through increases in voluntary tax compliance,
although the precise magnitude of the indirect effects of enforcement is not
known with a high level of confidence. In order to further reduce the tax gap,
it is likely that additional strategies would need to be employed such as
expanding information reporting or withholding and tax simplification and
reform, as previously described.

Reductions in the tax gap that could be derived from additional enforcement
action may not be immediate. The reductions may occur gradually as IRS is
able to hire and train enforcement personnel. For example, for a recent
compliance initiative, IRS forecasted that in the initial year after expanding
enforcement activities, the additional revenue it expects to collect is less than
half the amount it expects to collect annually in later years.
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3) As we examine proposals for new reporting and withholding
requirements, such as basis reporting for securities transactions, what
additional types of income should we consider subjecting to
withholding or reporting, and what factors should be considered in
evaluating such proposals?

In the past, we have identified a few specifig areas where additional
withholding or information reporting requirements could serve to improve
compliance:

Require more data on information returns dealing with capital gains
income from securities sales. Recently, we reported that an estimated 36
percent of taxpayers misreported their capital gains or losses from the sale
of securities, such as corporate stocks and mutual funds. Further, around
half of the taxpayers who misreported did so because they failed to report
the securities’ cost, or basis, sometimes because they did not know the
securities’ basis or failed to take certain events into account that required
them to adjust the basis of their securities. When taxpayers sell securities
like stock and mutual funds through brokers, the brokers are required to
report information on the sale, including the amount of gross proceeds the
taxpayer received; however, brokers are not required to report basis
information for the sale of these securities. We found that requiring
brokers to report basis information for securities sales could improve
taxpayers’ compliance in reporting their securities gains and losses and
help IRS identify noncompliant taxpayers. However, we were unable to
estimate the extent to which a basis reporting requirement would reduce
the capital gains tax gap because of limitations with the compliance data
on capital gains and because neither IRS nor we know the portion of the
capital gains tax gap attributed to securities sales.

Requiring tax withholding and more or better information return reporting
on payments made to independent contractors. Past IRS data have shown
that independent contractors report 97 percent of the income that appears
on information returns, while contractors that do not receive these returns
report only 83 percent of income. We have also identified other options for
improving information reporting for independent contractors, including
increasing penalties for failing to file required information returns,
lowering the $600 threshold for requiring such returns, and requiring
businesses to report separately on their tax returns the total amount of
payments to independent contractors. IRS’s Taxpayer Advocate Service
recently recommended allowing independent contractors to enter into
voluntary withholding agreements.

Requiring information return reporting on payments made to corporations.
Unlike payments made to sole proprietors, payments made to corporations
for services are generally not required to be reported on information
returns. IRS and GAO have contended that the lack of such a requirement
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leads to lower levels of compliance for small corporations. Although
Congress has required federal agencies to provide information returns on
payments made to contractors since 1997, payments made by others to
corporations are generally not covered by information returns. The
Taxpayer Advocate Service has recommended requiring information
reporting on payments made to corporations, and the administration’s
fiscal year 2007 budget has proposed requiring additional information
reporting on certain good and service payments by federal, state, and local
governments.

¢ Requiring tax withholding or information reporting on payments made to

partners or shareholders. Due to concerns about the tax compliance of
partners and shareholders, IRS recently has studied their reporting of their
share of the net income and losses passed through from partnerships and S
corporations, respectively.l These areas can be complex to administer.
Requiring some form of withholding or enhanced information reporting by
these pass-through entities could boost voluntary compliarnce and help IRS
to collect at least some of the taxes owed.

When evaluating proposals to expand information reporting or withholding
requirements, it may be instructive to consider the following factors:

« Is there a practical, reliable third party that can withhold taxes from or
report information on income taxpayers earn? For example, informal
suppliers by definition receive income in an informal manner through
services they provide to a variety of individual citizens or small businesses,
Whereas businesses may have the capacity to perform withholding and
information reporting functions, it may be challenging to extend
withholding or information reporting responsibilities to the individual
citizens that receive services, as they may not have the resources or
knowledge to comply with such requirements.

e Are the costs and burdens imposed on reporting/withholding parties
reasonable given the expected improvement in tax compliance? For
example, expanding information reporting on securities sales to include
basis information will impose costs on the brokers that would track and
report the information. Further, trying to close the entire tax gap with
these enforcement tools could entail more intrusive recordkeeping or
reporting than the public is willing to accept. Considering these costs and
burdens should be part of any evaluation of additional withholding or
information reporting requirements.

!Partnerships and S corporations are flow-through entities that distribute net income and losses to
their partners and shareholders who are required to report them on their individual tax returns
and pay any taxes.
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4) In your view, what role should tax reform and simplification play in

reducing the tax gap, and what factors should Congress consider in
evaluating these types of proposals as a way to reduce the tax gap?

Simplification has great potential to reduce the tax gap for at least 3 broad
reasons. First, it could help taxpayers to comply voluntarily with more
certainty, reducing inadvertent errors by those who want to comply but are
confused because of complexity. Second, it may limit opportunities for tax
evasion, reducing intentional noncompliance by taxpayers who can misuse the
complex code provisions to hide their noncompliance or to achieve ends
through tax shelters. Third, tax code complexity may erode taxpayers’
willingness to comply voluntarily if they cannot understand its provisions or
they see others taking advantage of complexity to intentionally underreport
their taxes.

Although retaining but simplifying tax code provisions may help reduce the tax
gap, doing so may not be easy, may conflict with other policy decisions, and
may have unintended consequences, For example, eliminating or
consolidating certain tax credits and deductions would simplify the tax code.
However, these credits and deductions serve purposes that Congress has
judged to be important to advance federal goals. Eliminating them or
consolidating them likely would be complicated, and would likely create
winners and losers. Elimination also could conflict with other objectives such
as encouraging certain economic activity or improving equity.

Fundamental tax reform would most likely result in a smaller tax gap if the
new system has few tax preferences or complex tax code provisions and if
taxable transactions are transparent. However, these characteristics are
difficult to achieve in any system and experience suggests that simply adopting
a fundamentally different tax system may not by itself eliminate any tax gap.
Any tax system could be subject to noncompliance, and their design and
operation, including the types of tools made available to tax administrators
affect the size of any corresponding tax gap.

Some factors to consider when evaluating fundamental tax reform proposals
include whether proposed tax systems over tiree will generate enough revenue
to fund expected expenditures, whether the base is as broad as possible so
rates can be as low as possible, whether the system meets our future needs,
and whether it has attributes that promote compliance. Our publication,
Understanding the Tax Reform Debate (GAO-05-1009SP), provides
background, criteria, and questions that policymakers may find useful.
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OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN KENT CONRAD

Chairman CONRAD. I will call the hearing to order.

I wanted to especially welcome the Chairman of the Federal Re-
serve, Mr. Bernanke, to the Budget Committee. We have, over the
years, had a tradition in this committee of hearing from the Chair-
man of the Federal Reserve on the economic conditions of the coun-
try and the challenges that we face, the opportunities that are
there. And so this is a continuation of that tradition.

Some weeks ago I had a chance to visit with Chairman Bernanke
over lunch and it was, I thought, a constructive and productive dis-
cussion. We certainly valued it for the insights to the fundamental
underpinnings of our economy and what we could do to make
things better and more secure for the future.

Senator Gregg and I are especially committed to facing up to our
long-term fiscal imbalances, the challenges that we confront with
Medicare and Social Security, and the embedded deficits that we
now face. We are very eager for the Congress of the United States
and the White House to work together to devise a long-term plan
to face up to these challenges because we think they pose a risk
to our long-term economic security.

I have noticed increasing discussion in the press about the need
to address these long-term imbalances. I wanted to just go through
a few slides, if I could, and talk about some of the issues that we
think are important to keep in mind.

First of all, the deficit last year was reported at $248 billion. At
the same time, the debt of the country increased by $546 billion.
All too often these increases in the debt get left out of the report-
ing.

(79
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The biggest reason for the difference is Social Security, where

$185 billion of Social Security Trust Fund money that is in tem-
porary surplus was used to pay other bills.

Increase in Debt in 2006 is Far Greater
Than the $248 Billion Deficit

% in bilbions)

Social Security

$248 B Deficit

2006 Increase in
Gross Debt

The result of this pattern of increasing deficits and debt, on the
debt side of the ledger, is that we are building this wall of debt.
At the end of 2001, we had $5.8 trillion of gross debt. At the end
of last year, that had soared to $8.5 trillion. If we stay on the cur-
rent course, the estimates are by 2011 we will be $11.6 trillion of
debt.
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Building a Wall of Debt
Gross Federal Debt Soars

($ in trillions)

$116T
in 2011 ™~

$85T
in 2006

|

in 2001

/

$5 2001 2003 2005 2007 2009 2011

Source: OMB, CBO and SBC Democratic staff
Note: CBO August 2006 Budget and Economic Outlook, with President’s policies
as reestimated by CBO in March and CBO’s estimate of ongoing war costs and AMT reform.

All of this is compounded by a dramatic reduction in the savings
rate in this country. Of course, when you have dissavings by the
Federal Government, when the Federal Government is running
deficit, that reduces the savings rate. This is the individual savings
rate according to the Bureau of Economic Analysis. We see the first
negative savings rate in 2006 since the Great Depression.
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First Negative Saving Rate
Since the Great Depression

{Percent of Disposable Incoma )
£

-4
1980 1585

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis

As a result of the twin deficits, budget deficit and trade deficit,
we are now borrowing extraordinary amounts of money. Last year
we borrowed 65 percent of all of the money that was borrowed by
countries in the world. The next biggest borrower was Spain, at
about one-tenth as much. Many of us believe this is an
unsustainable level of borrowing and has to be addressed.
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World’s Biggest Borrowers

Other countries
14.1%

United Eutates
1% Turkey 1.9%
Italy 2.2%
France 2.7%

Australia 3.4%

United Kingdom
3.9%

Spain 6.8%

Wote: Percent of world borrowing by country
Som IMF

Of course, all of this is occurring before the baby boomers retire.
The baby boom generation, that is going to dramatically increase
the number of people eligible for Social Security and Medicare from
some 40 million today to over 82 million by 2050, fundamentally
changes the decisions that we must make.
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Number of Social Security Beneficiaries Explodes
with Retirement of Baby Boom Generation

(Millions of people)
85 .

82 million will receive
Social Security retirement —»
benefits in 2050

35
2006 2016 2026 2036

Source: 2006 Social Security Trustees Report
Note: OASI beneficiaries

There’s been a lot of talk about Social Security and the long-term
gap between funding and outgo in that program, the 75-year short-
fall in Social Security is about $4.6 trillion. That is the estimate.
But the 75-year shortfall in Medicare is much bigger, seven times
as much, $32 trillion. This is, many of us believe, the 800-pound
gorilla. These health care accounts, Medicare being the most promi-
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nent but Medicaid and veterans’ health care also part of the consid-
eration.

Comparing Long-Term Costs of

Medicare and Social Security
Present Value of Costs Over Next 75 Years

($ in trillions)

$321 T

$4.6 T

75-Year Shortfall 75-Year Shortfall
in Medicare in Social Security

Source: Social Security Trustees 2006 Annual Report

Not only do we have a problem on the spending side of the ledg-
er, but we also have a problem on the revenue side of the ledger.
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This chart shows what happens if you extend all of the tax cuts
from 2001 and 2003 and you combine them with the trust funds
going negative because out in the future, as we get toward 2017,
2018, these trust funds that are throwing off large cash surpluses
now go cash negative. And at that very time, you can see by the
chart, the cost of making all of the tax cuts permanent explodes as
well, driving us right over a cliff into much deeper deficits and
debt. So we’re going to have to face both the spending side of the
equation and the revenue side of this equation if we are going to
be successful.
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Tax Cuts Explode as Trust Fund

Cash Surpluses Become Deficits
FY 2007-2026

(Billions of Dollars)

B Cost of Extending 2001 and 2003 Tax Cuts
i Medicare Deficits
I Social Security Surplus/Deficits

$1400
000 2010 2013 206 2019 2022

Source: Social Security Trustees 2006 Annual
Report, CBO, CBPP, and SBC Democratic staff

Why does it matter? Are these just numbers on a page, not at-
tached to the economic condition of our country? No. We think
these things are very much linked to the long-term economic secu-
rity of America. We saw in the Wall Street Journal, the Economic
Forum warned that U.S. budget deficits in America are causing our
economy to be less competitive. This is the World Economic Forum
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judgment last year that reduced the competitive ranking of our
country because of our very large deficits, both trade and budget.

THE WALL STREET JOURNAL.

Economic Forum Warns U.S.
Of Budget Deficit’s Ill Effects

By Marcus WALKER

The U.S.’s huge budget deficit threat-
ens to make the country’s economy less
competitive, according to a study by the
World Economic Forum, an institute in
Switzerland.

The institute’s annual study of glo-
bal competitiveness says the U.S. econ-
omy is the sixth most-competitive in the
world, slipping from first place in Jast
year's ranking, a result of mediocre
scores for its public finances.

Switzerland ranks No. 1 in this
year’s survey, thanks to what the forum
sees as a combination of efficient public
administration and flexible markets.
Three Nordic countries—Finland, Swe-
den and Denmark—come next, followed
by Singapore and the U.S.

The competitiveness study ranks coun-
tries according to a range of criteria—in-
cluding macroeconomic policies, market
regulations, technological development,
education systems and public institutions—
that the forum believes influence an econ-
omy’s level of productivity, and thereby
its ability to sustain economic growth
over many years. The ranking combines
economic indicators with the findings
from a survey of business executives.

“The U.S. remains a very competitive
economy,” said Augusto Lopez-Claros, the
forum’s chief economist. “It leads in inno-
vation and patent registrations, has some
of the best universities in the world, and it
has extremely high levels of collaboration
between universities and industry,” he
said. “However, how you manage your
public finances is very important.”

serial budget deficits in the U.S. have
led to rising public debt, which means an
increasing portion of government spend-
ing goes toward debt service. That means
less money is available for spending on in-
frastructure, schools or other investments
that could boost productivity. Heavy gov-
ernment borrowing, which means compet-
ing for money in financial markets with
the private sector, also tends to drive up
businesses’ borrowing costs.

Middling scores were awarded to the
fast-growing emerging economies of the
world considered to be changing the eco-
nomic balance of power: India ranks 43rd
out of 125 countries in the survey, China
ranks 54th, Russia 62nd and Brazil 66th.

Russia and China, despite good scores
for macroeconomic management, are
marked down for a lack of transparency
and even-handedness in their public insti-
tutions, including their bureaucracy and
judiciary, and for protections for property
rights. Brazil is making progress on im-
proving its public finances, but at too slow
a pace, according to Mr. Lopez-Claros. Of
the four countries, only India improved its
ranking in the survey this year.

Although many economists and inves-
tors believe economic output in these four
countries will overtake that of most of the
world’s established economic powers by
midcentury, the World Economic Forum
warns that the emerging economies’
growth could hit barriers unless they de-
velop more-efficient public institutions.

The Comptroller General who was the first witness before the
Budget Committee, said this in his testimony: “When, not if—
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when—foreign investors decide as a matter of mere prudence and
diversification that they are not going to expose themselves as
much to U.S. debt, then interest rates will rise and that will start
a compounding effect. And so what’s important is that we act so
that they don’t take that step.”

GAO Comptroller General Walker on
Danger of Relying on Foreign-Held Debt

“When, not if — when - foreign investors
decide as a matter of mere prudence and
diversification that they’'re not going to
expose themselves as much to U.S. debt,
then interest rates will rise, and that will
start a compounding effect. And so what’s
important is that we act so that they don’t
take that step...”

= Government Accountability Office
Comptroller General David Walker
Testimony before Senate Budget Committee
January 11, 2007

The Financial Times reported that China was forcing the dollar
into the spotlight. “China made its presence felt in the currency
markets this week”—and this was in November of last year—
“China made its presence felt in the currency markets this week
as the prospect of the country diversifying its large foreign ex-
change stockpiles sent the dollar reeling to a 10-week low against
the euro and to its weakest level in 18 months against the ster-
ling.”
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, that shows what has happened to the
-being of the country.

Let’s go to the final chart
dollar against the euro. Since 2002 the dollar is down about 30 per-

tial effect of our fiscal and monetary policies and how it can have

cent. This should be a warning signal to all of us about the poten-
an effect on the larger economic well
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Dollar Down More Than 30 Percent
Against the Euro

1:40 (Euros per Dollar)

1145 |

1.4
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1.0
1.0
0.8
0.8

0.7

0.70
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Source: Federal Reserve Board

Let me indicate to Chairman Bernanke that we are not going to
ask you about dollar valuation. We are not going to ask about
short-term interest rate movements, because we know that is not
appropriate in your role as Chairman of the Fed. We want to indi-
cate to all of the members that the Chairman is constrained in
what he can say on dollar valuation, on interest rates, and we un-
derstand that and respect it.

With that, Senator Gregg.

OPENING STATEMENT OF RANKING MEMBER SENATOR JUDD
GREGG

Senator GREGG. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And thank you, Mr.
Chairman, for joining us today. It is very important to hear your
thoughts.

The Chairman has set the table on the issue that we consider—
the two of us, I believe—to be the primary fiscal policy issue which
we face as a country, which is the out-year cost of our Government
to America.

It is a function, as the Chairman mentioned, of demographics. I
think this just needs to be reinforced. We are facing the largest re-
tirement generation in the history of the country. It will double the
size of the people in the retirement generation. The practical effect
of that, of course, is that you will have fewer people working to
support the retired population.

The implications of this are really reflected in this chart, where
three major Federal programs, Social Security, Medicare, and Med-
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icaid, will absorb what has traditionally been the historical amount
of spending which the Federal Government takes out of the econ-
omy, 20 percent, by about the year 2025. So at that point there will
be nothing else the Federal Government can theoretically do and
maintain a 20 percent burden on our national economy other than
pay for Social Security, Medicare, and Medicaid. National defense
cannot be done, education cannot be done, environmental protec-
tion cannot be done.

And the problem worsens as the baby boom generation goes into
full retirement. The number goes up and almost hits 30 percent,
those three programs, as we head into the 2030 decade.

The practical implications of this are staggering for us as a Na-
tion, as the chairman has outlined. The question becomes how do
we address it? The issue is reflected, I think, in the fact that if his-
torically we have taken 20 percent of the national economy as the
Federal spending, and historically taken about 18.2 percent of the
national economy in tax revenues, how high can the Federal Gov-
ernment go into its burden on the national economy without under-
mining the productivity of the economy and pushing us into some
sort of spiraling down in quality of life, quality of experience for
our next generation? Or to put it in real terms, at what point does
the cost of the retired generation get so high that the younger gen-
eration can no longer afford to have the quality of life that our gen-
eration has had?

This is reflected in the unchecked effect on Federal spending. It
would go as high as, theoretically, 45 percent of the gross national
product just on entitlements if it goes forward into the years 2040.

And that is reflected even though we have seen dramatic in-
creases in taxes. The Chairman has pointed out that, in his view,
tax revenues in the future, if we continue to maintain the tax cuts
which we have in place or the tax burden which we have in place,
would significantly drop. I am not sure. I do not happen to believe
that. That is a static estimate of what tax revenues are.

We have actually seen that with a fair tax rate we create more
productivity in the economy, and has a result we create more reve-
nues for the Federal Government. In fact, in the last 3 years Fed-
eral revenues have jumped more significantly than at any other
time in history. We are seeing that we are now over the historical
norm. We are over 18.2 percent of the national gross product com-
ing in in revenues. We are about 18.5 percent. We headed toward
19 percent if the estimates of the administration are correct, and
I suspect those estimates are going to be assumed in whatever
budget comes out of this committee. As a practical matter, we even
have a more progressive tax law today than we had during the
Clinton years.

So even though we have cut rates, we have actually generated
a higher—we have actually caused the higher income people in this
country to be paying more of the tax burden, 84, 85 percent of the
tax burden, versus 81 percent under the Clinton years, the top 20
percent.

So I do not believe you can tax your way of this problem. There
are basically four different approaches to this problem: increase
taxes, adjust benefits, increase the number of people paying in
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which would be expanding immigration, I presume; or inflating our
way out of the issue.

And I guess what I am going to want to focus on with you, Mr.
Chairman, is at what level will the Federal Government be taking
too much out of the economy to make the economy work right and
be productive? And second, how do we address the issue of the fact
that one of the options here is inflating your way out of this prob-
lem? Which would be a horrific decision on our part as a Govern-
ment, but potentially something that the marketplace might force
on us, looking at this type of debt burden facing us.

So I am going to be interested in your thoughts on this critical
issue of fiscal policy for us and hopefully you can give us some
guidance. Thank you.

Chairman CONRAD. Again, our welcome, and please proceed with
your testimony. We are very pleased that you are here, Chairman
Bernanke.

STATEMENT OF HON. BEN S. BERNANKE, CHAIRMAN, BOARD
OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM

Chairman BERNANKE. Thank you, Chairman Conrad, Senator
Gregg, and other members of the committee.

I am pleased to be here to offer my views on the Federal budget
and related issues. At the outset, I should underscore that I speak
for myself only and not for the Federal Reserve.

As you know, the deficit and the unified Federal budget declined
for a second year in fiscal 2006 following the $248 billion from $319
billion in fiscal 2005.

As was the case in the preceding year, the improvement in 2006
was primarily the result of solid growth in tax receipts, especially
in collections of personal and corporate income taxes. Federal Gov-
ernment outlays in fiscal 2006 were 20.3 percent of nominal gross
domestic product, receipts were 18.4 percent of GDP, and the def-
icit—equal to the difference of the two—was 1.9 percent of GDP.
These percentages are close to their averages since 1960.

The on-budget deficit, which differs from the unified budget def-
icit primarily in excluding the receipts and payments to the Social
Security system—to which Senator Conrad made allusion—was
$434 billion or 3.3 percent of GDP in fiscal 2006. As of the end of
fiscal 2006, Federal Government debt held by the public, which in-
cludes holdings by the Federal Reserve but excludes those held by
Social Security and other trust funds, amounted to about 37 per-
cent to 1 year’s GDP.

Official projections suggest that the unified budget deficit may
stabilize or moderate further over the next few years. Unfortu-
nately, we are experiencing what seems likely to be the calm before
the storm. In particular, spending on entitlement programs will
begin to climb quickly during the next decade. In fiscal 2006, Fed-
eral spending for Social Security, Medicare, and Medicaid together
totaled about 40 percent of Federal expenditures, or roughly 8.5
percent of GDP.

In the most recent long-term projections prepared by the Con-
gressional Budget Office these outlays are projected to increase to
10.5 percent of GDP by 2015, an increase of about 2 percentage
points of GDP in less than a decade. By 2030, according to the
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CBO, they will reach about 15 percent of GDP. As I will discuss,
these rising entitlement obligations will put enormous pressure on
the Federal budget in coming years.

The large projected increases in future entitlement spending
have two principal sources. First, like many other industrial coun-
tries, the United States has entered what is likely to be a long pe-
riod of demographic transition, the result both of the reduction in
fertility that followed the post-World War II baby boom and of on-
going increases in life expectancy. Longer life expectancies are cer-
tainly to be welcomed. But they are also likely to lead to longer pe-
riods of retirement in the future, even as the growth rate of the
work force declines. As a consequence of the demographic trends,
the number of people of retirement age will grow relative both to
the population as a whole and to the number of potential workers.

Currently, people 65 years and older make up about 12 percent
of the U.S. population and there are about five people between the
ages of 20 and 64 for each person 65 and older. According to the
intermediate projections of the Social Security Trustees, in 2030
Americans 65 and older will constitute about 19 percent of the U.S.
population and the ratio of those between the ages of 20 and 64 to
those 65 and older will have fallen to about three.

Although the retirement of the baby boomers will be an impor-
tant milestone in this demographic transition, the oldest baby
boomers will be eligible for Social Security benefits just next year,
the change in the Nation’s demographic structure is not just a tem-
porary phenomenon related to the large relative size of the baby
boom generation. Rather, if the US fertility rate remains close to
current levels and life expectancies continue to rise, as demog-
raphers generally expect, the U.S. population will continue to grow
older, even after the baby boom generation has passed from the
scene. If current law is maintained, that aging of the U.S. popu-
lation will lead to sustained increases in Federal entitlement
spending on programs that benefit older Americans such as Social
Security and Medicare.

The second cause of rising entitlement spending is the expected
continued increase in medical costs per beneficiary. Projections of
future medical costs are fraught with uncertainty, but history sug-
gests that, without significant changes in policy, these costs are
likely to continue to rise more quickly than incomes, at least for
the foreseeable future. Together with the aging of the population,
ongoing increases in medical costs will lead to a rapid expansion
of Medicare and Medicaid expenditures.

Long-range projections prepared by the CBO vividly portray the
potential effects on the budget of an aging population and rapidly
rising health care costs. The CBO has developed projections for a
variety of alternative scenarios based on different assumptions
about the evolution of spending and taxes. The scenarios produce
a wide range of possible budget outcomes, reflecting the substantial
uncertainty that attends long-range budget projections. However,
the outcomes that appear most likely, in the absence of policy
changes, involve rising budget deficits and increases in the amount
of Federal debt outstanding to unprecedented levels.

For example, one plausible scenario is based on the assumptions
that Federal retirement and health spending will follow the CBO’s
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intermediate projection; that defense spending will drift down over
time as a percentage of GDP; that other non-interest spending will
grow roughly in line with GDP; and that Federal revenues will re-
main close to their historical share of GDP, that is, about where
they are today. Under these assumptions, the CBO calculates that
by 2030 the Federal budget deficit will approach 9 percent of GDP,
more than four times greater as a share of GDP than the deficit
in fiscal year 2006.

A particularly worrisome aspect of this projection and similar
ones is the implied evolution of the national debt and the associ-
ated interest payments to Government bond holders. Minor details
aside, the Federal debt held by the public increases each year by
the amount of that year’s unified budget deficit. Consequently, sce-
narios that project large deficits also project rapid growth in the
outstanding Government debt. The higher levels of debt, in turn,
imply increased expenditure on interest payments to bondholders
which exacerbates the deficit problem still further. Thus, a vicious
cycle may develop in which large deficits lead to rapid growth in
debt and interest payments which, in turn, add to subsequent defi-
cits.

According to the CBO projection that I have been discussing, in-
terest payments on the Government’s debt will reach 4.5 percent
of GDP in 2030, nearly three times their current size relative to
national output. Under this scenario, the ratio of Federal debt held
by the public to GDP would climb from 37 percent currently to
roughly 100 percent in 2030, and would continue to grow exponen-
tially after that. The only time in U.S. history that the debt-to-GDP
ratio has been in the neighborhood of 100 percent was during
World War II. People at the time understood the situation to be
temporary and expected deficits and the debt-to-GDP ratio to fall
rapidly after the war, as in fact they did.

In contrast, under the scenario I have been discussing, the debt-
to-GDP ratio would rise far into the future at an accelerating rate.
Ultimately, this expansion of debt would spark a fiscal crisis which
could be addressed only by very sharp spending cuts or tax in-
creases or both.

The CBO projections, by design, ignore the adverse effects that
such high deficits would likely have on economic growth. But if
Government debt and deficits were actually to grow at the pace en-
visioned by the CBO scenario, the effects on the U.S. economy
would be severe. High rates of Government borrowing would drain
funds away from private capital formation and thus slow the
growth of real incomes and living standards over time. Some frac-
tion of the additional debt would be likely financed abroad, which
would lessen the influence on domestic investment. However, the
necessity of paying interest on the foreign held debt would leave a
smaller portion of our Nation’s future output available for domestic
consumption.

Moreover, uncertainty about the ultimate resolution of the fiscal
imbalances would reduce the confidence of consumers, businesses,
and investors in the U.S. economy with adverse implications for in-
vestment and growth.

To some extent, strong economic growth can help to mitigate
budgetary pressures and all else being equal fiscal policies that are
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supportive of growth would be beneficial. Unfortunately, economic
growth alone is unlikely to solve the Nation’s impending fiscal
problems. Economic growth leads to higher wages and profits and
thus increases tax receipts, but higher wages also imply increased
Social Security benefits as those benefits are tied to wages. Higher
incomes also tend to increase the demand for medical services so
that indirectly higher incomes may also increase Federal health ex-
penditures.

Increased rates of immigration could raise growth by raising the
growth rate of the labor force. However, economists who have
looked at the issue have found that even a doubling in the rate of
immigration to the United States, from about one million to two
million immigrants per year, would not significantly reduce the
Federal Government’s fiscal imbalance.

The prospect of growing fiscal imbalances and their economic
consequences also raises essential questions of intergenerational
fairness. As I have noted, because of increasing life expectancy and
the decline in fertility, the number of retirees that each worker will
have to support in the future, either directly or indirectly through
taxes paid to Government programs, will rise significantly. To the
extent that Federal budgetary policies inhibit capital formation and
increase our net liabilities to foreigners, future generations of
Americans will bear a growing burden of the debt and experience
slower growth in per capita incomes than would otherwise have
been the case.

An important element in ensuring that we leave behind a strong-
er economy than we inherited, as did virtually all previous genera-
tions in this country, will be to move over time toward fiscal poli-
cies that are sustainable, efficient, and equitable across genera-
tions. Policies that promote private as well as public saving would
also help us to leave a more productive economy to our children
and grandchildren.

In addition, we should explore ways to make the labor market as
accommodating as possible to older people who wish to continue
working, as many will as longevity increases and health improves.

Addressing the country’s fiscal problems will take persistence
and a willingness to make difficult choices. In the end, the funda-
mental decision that the Congress, the administration, and the
American people must confront is how large a share of the Nation’s
economic resources to devote to Federal Government programs, in-
cluding transfer programs such as Social Security, Medicare, and
Medicaid. Crucially, whatever size of government is chosen, tax
rates must ultimately be set at a level sufficient to achieve an ap-
propriate balance of spending and revenues in the long run.

Thus, Members of the Congress who put special emphasis on
keeping tax rates low must accept that low tax rates can be sus-
tained only if outlays, including those on entitlements, are kept low
as well. Likewise, members who favor a more expansive role of the
Government, including relatively more generous benefits payments,
must recognize the burden imposed by the additional taxes needed
to pay for the higher spending, a burden that includes not only the
resources transferred from the private sector but also any adverse
economic incentives associated with high tax rates.
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Achieving fiscal sustainability will require sustained efforts and
attention over many years. As an aid in charting the way forward,
the Congress may find it useful to set some benchmarks against
which to gauge progress toward key budgetary objectives. Because
no single statistic fully describes the fiscal situation, the most effec-
tive approach would likely involve monitoring a number of fiscal in-
dicators, each of which captures a different aspect of the budget
and its economic impact.

The unified budget deficit projected forward a certain number of
years is an important measure that is already included in the Con-
gressional budgeting process. However, the unified budget deficit
does not fully capture the fiscal situation and its effects on the
economy, for at least two reasons.

First, the budget deficit by itself does not measure the quantity
of resources that the Government is taking from the private sector.
An economy in which the Government budget is balanced but in
which Government spending equals 20 percent of GDP is very dif-
ferent from one in which the Government’s budget is balanced but
spending is 40 percent of GDP, as the latter economy has both
higher tax rates and a greater role for the Government. Monitoring
current and prospective levels of total Government outlays relative
to GDP or a similar indicator would help the Congress ensure that
the overall size of the Government relative to the economy is con-
sistent with members’ views and preferences.

Second, the annual budget deficit reflects only near-term financ-
ing needs and does not capture long-term fiscal imbalances. As the
most difficult long-term budgetary issues are associated with the
growth of entitlement spending, a comprehensive approach to budg-
eting would include close attention to measures of the long-term
solvency of entitlement programs, such as long-horizon present val-
ues of unfunded liabilities for Social Security and Medicare.

To summarize, because of demographic changes and rising med-
ical costs, Federal expenditures for entitlement programs are pro-
jected to rise sharply over the next few decades. Dealing with the
resulting fiscal strains will pose difficult choices for the Congress,
the administration, and the American people. However, if early and
meaningful action is not taken, the U.S. economy could be seriously
weakened with future generations bearing much of the cost. The
decisions the Congress will face will not be easy or simple but the
benefits of placing the budget on a path that is both sustainable
and meets the Nation’s long-run needs would be substantial.

I thank you again for allowing me to comment on these impor-
tant issues and I would be glad to take your questions.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Chairman Bernanke follows:]
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Chairman Conrad, Senator Gregg, and other members of the Committee, I am pleased to
be here to offer my views on the federal budget and related issues. At the outset, I should
underscore that I speak only for myself and not necessarily for my colleagues at the Federal
Reserve.

As you know, the deficit in the unified federal budget declined for a second year in fiscal
year 2006, falling to $248 billion from $319 billion in fiscal 2005. As was the case in the
preceding year, the improvement in 2006 was primarily the result of solid growth in tax receipts,
especially in collections of personal and corporate income taxes. Federal government outlays in
fiscal 2006 were 20.3 percent of nominal gross domestic product (GDP), receipts were
18.4 percent of GDP, and the deficit (equal to the difference of the two) was 1.9 percent of GDP.
These percentages are close to their averages since 1960. The on-budget deficit, which differs
from the unified budget deficit primarily in excluding receipts and payments of the Social
Security system, was $434 billion, or 3.3 percent of GDP, in fiscal 2006." As of the end of fiscal
2006, federal government debt held by the public, which includes holdings by the Federal
Reserve but excludes those by the Social Security and other trust funds, amounted to about
37 percent of one year’s GDP.

Official projections suggest that the unified budget deficit may stabilize or moderate
further over the next few years. Unfortunately, we are experiencing what seems likely to be the
calm before the storm. In particular, spending on entitlement programs will begin to climb
quickly during the next decade. In fiscal 2006, federal spending for Social Security, Medicare,

and Medicaid together totaled about 40 percent of federal expenditures, or roughly 8-1/2 percent

! Excluding the operations of both Social Security and Medicare Part A, the budget deficit in fiscal year 2006 was
$459 billion, or 3.5 percent of GDP. Like Social Security, Medicare Part A pays benefits out of, and receives a
dedicated stream of revenues into, a trust fund.
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of GDP.? In the most recent long-term projections prepared by the Congressional Budget Office
(CBO), these outlays are projected to increase to 10-1/2 percent of GDP by 2015, an increase of
about 2 percentage points of GDP in less than a decade. By 2030, according to the CBO, they
will reach about 15 percent of GDP.> As T will discuss, these rising entitlement obligations will
put enormous pressure on the federal budget in coming years.

The large projected increases in future entitlement spending have two principal sources.
First, like many other industrial countries, the United States has entered what is likely to be a
long period of demographic transition, the result both of the reduction in fertility that followed
the post-World War II baby boom and of ongoing increases in life expectancy. Longer life
expectancies are certainly to be welcomed. But they are likely to lead to longer periods of
retirement in the future, even as the growth rate of the workforce declines. As a consequence of
the demographic trends, the number of people of retirement age will grow relative both to the
population as a whole and to the number of potential workers. Currently, people 65 years and
older make up about 12 percent of the U.S. population, and there are about five people between
the ages of 20 and 64 for each person 65 and older. According to the intermediate projections of
the Social Security Trustees, in 2030 Americans 65 and older will constitute about 19 percent of
the U.S. population, and the ratio of those between the ages of 20 and 64 to those 65 and older

will have fallen to about 3.

% Net of Medicare premiums paid by beneficiaries and amounts paid by states from savings on Medicaid prescription
drug costs, these outlays were equal to 8 percent of GDP.

* These projections are for the CBO’s intermediate spending path. Consistent with the assumptions used by the
Medicare trustees, this path is based on the assumption that, over the long run, per beneficiary health expenditures
will increase at a rate that is 1 percentage point per year greater than the growth rate of per capita GDP. Over the
past twenty-five years, however, per beneficiary Medi pending has actually ded per capita GDP growth
by about 2-1/2 percentage points per year. Thus, a significant slowing in the growth of medical costs per beneficiary
will be needed to keep expenditures close to those projected in the CBO’s intermediate-spending scenario. See
Congressional Budget Office (2005), The Long-Term Budget Outlook, December,
www.cho.gov/ftpdocs/69xx/doc6982/12-15-Long TermOutlook.pdf.
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Although the retirement of the baby boomers will be an important milestone in the
demographic transition--the oldest baby boomers will be eligible for Social Security benefits
starting next year--the change in the nation’s demographic structure is not just a temporary
phenomenon related to the large relative size of the baby-boom generation. Rather, if the U.S.
fertility rate remains close to current levels and life expectancies continue to rise, as
demographers generally expect, the U.S. population will continue to grow older, even after the
baby-boom generation has passed from the scene. If current law is maintained, that aging of the
U.S. population will lead to sustained increases in federal entitlement spending on programs that
benefit older Americans, such as Social Security and Medicare.

The second cause of rising entitiement spending is the expected continued increase in
medical costs per beneficiary. Projections of future medical costs are fraught with uncertainty,
but history suggests that--without significant changes in policy--these costs are likely to continue
to rise more quickly than incomes, at least for the foreseeable future. Together with the aging of
the population, ongoing increases in medical costs will lead to a rapid expansion of Medicare and
Medicaid expenditures.

Long-range projections prepared by the CBO vividly portray the potential effects on the
budget of an aging population and rapidly rising health care costs. The CBO has developed
projections for a variety of alternative scenarios, based on different assumptions about the
evolution of spending and taxes. The scenarios produce a wide range of possible budget
outcomes, reflecting the substantial uncertainty that attends long-range budget projections.‘
However, the outcomes that appear most likely, in the absence of policy changes, involve rising

budget deficits and increases in the amount of federal debt outstanding to unprecedented levels.

*For example, in 2030, five of the six scenarios imply deficits ranging from 1-1/2 percent of GDP to nearly
14 percent of GDP; a sixth scenario is capable of producing a surplus, but it relies on the confluence of a very
favorable set of assumptions.
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Addressing the country’s fiscal problems will take persistence and a willingness to make
difficult choices. In the end, the fundamental decision that the Congress, the Administration, and
the American people must confront is how large a share of the nation's economic resources to
devote to federal government programs, including transfer programs such as Social Security,
Medicare, and Medicaid. Crucially, whatever size of government is chosen, tax rates must
ultimately be set at a level sufficient to achieve an appropriate balance of spending and revenues
in the long run. Thus, members of the Congress who put special emphasis on keeping tax rates
low must accept that low tax rates can be sustained only if outlays, including those on
entitlements, are kept low as well. Likewise, members who favor a more expansive role of the
government, including relatively more-generous benefits payments, must recognize the burden
imposed by the additional taxes needed to pay for the higher spending, a burden that includes not
only the resources transferred from the private sector but also any adverse economic incentives
associated with higher tax rates.

Achieving fiscal sustainability will require sustained efforts and attention over many
years. As an aid in charting the way forward, the Congress may find it useful to set some
benchmarks against which to gauge progress toward key budgetary objectives. Because no
single statistic fully describes the fiscal situation, the most effective approach would likely
involve monitoring a number of fiscal indicators, each of which captures a different aspect of the
budget and its economic impact. The unified budget deficit, projected forward a certain number
of years, is an important measure that is already included in the congressional budgeting process.
However, the unified budget deficit does not fully capture the fiscal situation and its effect on the

economy, for at least two reasons.
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First, the budget deficit by itself does not mzasure the quantity of resources that the
government is taking from the private sector. An economy in which the government budget is
balanced but in which government spending equals 20 percent of GDP is very different from one
in which the government’s budget is balanced but its spending is 40 percent of GDP, as the latter
economy has both higher tax rates and a greater role for the government. Monitoring current and
prospective levels of total government outlays relative to GDP or a similar indicator would help
the Congress ensure that the overall size of the government relative to the economy is consistent
with members’ views and preferences.

Second, the annual budget deficit reflects only near-term financing needs and does not
capture long-term fiscal imbalances. As the most difficult long-term budgetary issues are
associated with the growth of entitlement spending, a comprehensive approach to budgeting
would include close attention to measures of the long-term solvency of entitlement programs,
such as long-horizon present values of unfunded liabilities for Social Security and Medicare.

To summarize, because of demographic changes and rising medical costs, federal
expenditures for entitlement programs are projected to rise sharply over the next few decades.
Dealing with the resulting fiscal strains will pose difficult choices for the Congress, the
Administration, and the American people. However, if early and meaningful action is not taken,
the U.S. economy could be seriously weakened, with future generations bearing much of the
cost. The decisions the Congress will face will not be easy or simple, but the benefits of placing
the budget on a path that is both sustainable and meets the nation’s long-run needs would be
substantial.

Thank you again for allowing me to comment on these important issues. I would be glad

to take your questions.

Chairman CONRAD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think you have
sent a very clear message and one that I hope people are paying
close attention to.

As I hear you describe it, we are on a course that is
unsustainable and requires our action. Let me ask you this, last
week I read in one of the major newspapers that deficits were at
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1.8 percent of GDP and so not to worry, that is sustainable for the
long-term. What would your reaction be to that notion?

Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, the unified budget deficit is at a
normal historical level, but other measures of the deficit would sug-
gest a much more serious situation. For example, there are accrual
methods of the budget deficit which incorporate increased obliga-
tions to Federal pensions, to veterans’ programs and the like,
which show a much higher deficit.

But in particular, as I mentioned in my remarks, the short-term
unified budget deficit really has nothing to say about the long-term
implications of our projected entitlement spending. And that’s why
I suggested that, in making fiscal plans, the Congress should con-
sider not just the current unified budget deficit, which is sort of a
flow measure of current debt, but also measures of long-term sol-
vency such as the present value of unfunded liabilities.

Chairman CONRAD. If we were to put this in plain language for
the American people, and you were asked how urgent is this situa-
tion? How urgent is it that we address these long-term imbalances,
which as you describe could swamp the boat, could have very ad-
verse affect on our economy if we do not take action. How would
you 1:)ate the urgency of the need for a response by the Govern-
ment?

Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, one might look at these projec-
tions and say well, these are about 2030 and 2040 and so we do
not really have to start worrying about it yet. But in fact, the
longer we wait the more severe, the more draconian, the more dif-
ficult the adjustments are going to be.

I think the right time to start is about 10 years ago. I think we
are already well into the process of demographic change. The soon-
er we can make significant progress, the sooner we can begin to lay
out a plan for dealing with these looming fiscal imbalances, the less
the adjustment will be, the less the impact will be on the U.S.
economy and the easier it will be for our fellow citizens to plan for
their own retirements and for the welfare of their children.

Chairman CONRAD. Another thing that is said to me very often
is when Senator Gregg and I have made these presentations, peo-
ple are watching on television. I have had people call my office and
say senators, you are you are talking about projections. You are
talking about projections for what is going to happen in 20 years.
How can you have any confidence in those projections? Aren’t you
being alarmist by suggesting that there is a big problem down the
road?

How would you respond to people who ask that question?

Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, you are correct that the history
of budget projections has not always been the most accurate. We
have had big swings in recent years, of course. But with respect to
the entitlement programs, I would make a couple of comments.

First, the Social Security projections are based on very reliable
estimates of where our population is going to be in 20 and 30
years. We know what the population is going to look like because
the people are already born. We know the composition of our popu-
lation. We know how they are going to age.

Chairman CONRAD. So that part of it is really not a projection
at all?
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Chairman BERNANKE. That part of it is not particularly uncer-
tain.

On Medicare, there is more uncertainty, but I would note that
some of the projections that are made are actually somewhat con-
servative in the following sense: an important assumption about
Medicare projections is how quickly will medical costs grow. The
standard assumption that is made by the Medicare Trustees is that
medical costs per beneficiary will grow at 1 percent a year faster
than the average per capita income. In fact, over the last three dec-
ades the cost of medical care has grown at 2.3 percent a year faster
than average income.

Consequently, to achieve even these very draconian outcomes
that the Congressional Budget Office and the Medicare Trustees
have presented, we would actually have to have a somewhat sig-
nificant decline in the growth of medical costs.

So it is certainly true that there is a lot of uncertainty, but there
is very good reason to believe that unless very extraordinary
changes occur in the cost of medical care, for example, these budget
issues are going to be very large and very soon.

Chairman CONRAD. If you would compare for us the challenge of
Medicare versus Social Security in terms of the gap between the
cost and the revenue associated with it, how would you charac-
terize where the biggest part of the challenge lies?

Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, as I just indicated, there is per-
haps more uncertainty about Medicare than there is about Social
Security. But the best guess estimates that the Medicare Trustees
and others have put together put the very long run imbalances as-
sociated with Medicare on something of the order of six times the
size of the Social Security deficit. So the Medicare issue is very
large.

I would add that to address the Medicare issue we are going to
heed to think more broadly about our health care system overall—
about how to make it more efficient and how to control costs—so
that we can deliver good medical care but without such a rapid in-
crease in medical costs.

Chairman CONRAD. The other thing I think that is important for
us to address is what difference does all of this make? I am sitting
out there in my living room watching this. You have these econo-
mists sitting around a table down in Washington talking about pro-
jections 20 years from now. How is this really going to affect my
life?

If you were to try to say to a person who might be watching out
there, so what? So what if the Government runs a little bigger def-
icit? How is that really going to affect my life?

Chairman BERNANKE. First, we are going to be seeing this im-
pact on the deficit just a few years from now. It is not that far in
the future. If the deficit begins to widen further, we are going to
see more draining of funds away from capital formation. That is
going to mean the economy is going to grow more slowly. It is going
to mean that wages are not going to grow as fast because workers
do not have as much capital to work with. It is going to mean that
we will be borrowing more from foreign lenders and increasing our
obligations to them.
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So it will soon have, even if there’s no change in fiscal policy, an
effect on the vibrancy, the efficiency, the growth rate of our econ-
omy, which will be palpable and which Americans will see.

Moreover, to the extent that Americans are counting, for exam-
ple, on the current-law Social Security benefits and the current
payroll taxes, they are going to have a surprise at some point be-
cause the two sides are not commensurate in the long run, and
they are either going to be finding themselves with lower benefits
at retirement than they expected or higher payroll taxes or some
combination. And that is also going to affect them in a very real
pocketbook kind of way.

Chairman CONRAD. Thank you. I hope people are paying close at-
tention.

Let me just conclude on this question: how about tax cuts? In
your judgment and the considered judgment of economists, do tax
cuts pay for themselves? Do you get more revenue with a tax cut
than you would otherwise have had?

Chairman BERNANKE. The effects of a tax cut depend on the na-
ture of the cut, the type of cut it is, and so on. I think the general
view is that tax cuts do not usually pay for themselves. The fact
that tax cuts can increase growth or increase the size of the econ-
omy means that they partially offset the revenue losses as a usual
matter.

But I think the issue with tax policy is not whether the tax cut
pays for itself. The question really is what is the balance between
taxes and spending that is right for our economy? We do not want
to have wasteful spending because that requires higher taxes
which are detrimental to economic growth. But important spend-
ing, spending we need to do, we are going to have to find a way
to finance, and we just would like to find the best possible way to
finance that that has the minimum adverse impact on our econ-
omy.

Chairman CONRAD. Really the question here is one of balance is
it not? If we are going to have a certain level of spending, we have
to raise the revenue to pay for it. But we have to keep in mind
when we are setting that level of spending that as we raise more
and more revenue that has potential adverse impacts on our eco-
nomic competitiveness, and on economic growth. That is really the
kind of balance that you are talking about, is it not?

Chairman BERNANKE. That is exactly right, Senator.

Chairman CONRAD. Senator Gregg.

Senator GREGG. Thank you. Picking up where the Chairman has
left off, it comes to the question of the point I made in my opening
statement. I happen to believe there are certain tax cuts which pay
for themselves, capital gains, for example. Certainly, in the short
run it pays for itself.

On the reverse side of that, if you raise taxes to a level where
you create a disincentive for productivity or a disincentive to do
taxable activity or create an incentive for tax avoidance, because
you are taking 60 percent or 50 percent or 70 percent of the next
dollar earned, and people say they simply are not going to go out
and be productive because they do not want to give the Govern-
ment the 50, 60, 70 percent. Or they are going to invest in some-
thing that is arbitrary and capital flowed then becomes not more
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efficiently used but inefficiently used to try to avoid taxes, is that
not the reverse? That you get tax burden to a level where it is
counterproductive to the economy?

Chairman BERNANKE. That is right, Senator. When you raise
taxes, you almost always distort incentives. You create what econo-
mists call dead weight loss or loss of efficiency. One estimate that
has been made is that for every dollar you raise in taxes you not
only take a dollar from the economy but you create 20 cents of es-
sentially waste associated with people not making the decisions
they would have made in the absence of those taxes.

That is not to say that you should not have taxes. You have to
have enough taxes to fund your spending. It just says that as you
think about the right level of spending in the economy, as Senator
Conrad said, you need to take into account the full effects of those
taxes on the broader economy as well as on the budget.

Senator GREGG. I agree with that. And that gets to the point of
what is the correct burden of the Federal Government on the econ-
omy which you have to fund? Looking at these charts, which your
testimony was even more stark than ours, quite honestly, you are
looking at numbers that are staggering, 45, 50 percent of GDP
being used to support entitlement programs or Government spend-
ing, if you were to carry these numbers out. But even a conserv-
ative number gets you well over 20 percent, gets you up around 30
percent with the present demographic situation.

So let me ask you four questions, some of which are related and
some which are not. The first, is there a range in which the Fed-
eral Government should find itself as taking a percent of gross na-
tional product? Today it takes 20 percent. It has been as high as
22 percent historically. It has been as low as 18 percent. The reve-
nues for the Federal Government have historically been about 18.2
percent. They have been as high as 22 percent and they have been
well below 18 percent, 16 percent.

What is the range that is a reasonable number? And should we
not back into what we are looking at as an entitlement or a Gov-
ernment burden from that range? That is the first question.

The second question, I think you have focused on what is the es-
sence of the problem for us, which is health care. Social Security
can actually be fixed rather easily and the burden is not dramatic
and we can do it. Health care is complex. GAO says it is $60 tril-
lion in unfunded liability. Your number was, I think, $38 trillion.
It is huge.

Do you have some concepts as to how we approach the health
care? Because that seems to be the gravamen of the question.

On two ancillary issues, because my time will run out before you
get to these—

Chairman CONRAD. Feel free to let him answer that.

Senator GREGG. Let me just put these on the table.

Can you give us your thoughts on hedge funds and monitoring
hedge funds, and on capital markets and the risk of America losing
its role in being the primary premier place where people come to
raise capital?

Thank you.

Chairman BERNANKE. Thank you, Senator.
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On the range of taxes, I should say now what I will probably be
saying several times, which is I am here to try to give economic
analysis and help as much as I can. The Federal Reserve, of course,
is nonpartisan and does not make the value judgments that Con-
gress has to make in the end. And so I am going to try to avoid
making specific recommendations for tax or spending policies. I will
just try to comment as an economist on what the issues are that
you are raising.

With respect to the range, the fact is that the share of Federal
spending in the economy varies a lot across countries. There are
countries in Europe, for example, that have much higher shares
than we do. I think it is arguable that, for example, they pay some
cost for that and it involves, for example, less hours of work in
Western Europe, perhaps slower productivity growth.

So I do not think there is a magic number. But when you think
about the share of the economy that you take in taxes, and think
about the structure of the tax system as well, which is also very
important, you really have to make a tradeoff, a balance, between
the cost that that imposes on the economy versus what you are
paying for.

So I am sorry that I cannot give you a magic number. I will only
say that there is a difficult balance and is a variety of international
experience. It is interesting to look at other countries and see how
they have fared. But ultimately, it is up to the Congress, to make
that judgment.

Health care is an enormous topic and there are many issues as-
sociated with it. We have, in some ways, the best health care sys-
tem in the world—in the sense that when it comes to a difficult
procedure, this is where people come because we have the best
technologies and the best hospitals, the best doctors. But we also
have a very inefficient system in that the total cost we pay is much
higher than other countries and, in many cases, we do not deliver
as productively or as efficiently.

Again it is a large issue. Some of the questions one might want
to ask are the costs and benefits of, and how quickly we should try
to move to, universal coverage. The benefits of universal coverage
include better risk pooling and perhaps lower costs of uncompen-
sated care and the like. But the cost of universal coverage is that
we have to make sure that the poor and people with pre-existing
conditions are able to buy insurance, and that can be very expen-
sive. So there is a tradeoff.

Another question that Congress has to face is, who is going to
manage the health care system? Is it going to be the Government
directly, as in the case in parts of Medicare? Will it be via the pri-
vate sector, as in Medicare Advantage or Part D, where the Federal
Government pays part but the private sector, private insurance,
HMOs and so on actually manage the care? How will it be funded?
There is a raft of questions.

I think one thing that is encouraging to me, as a general matter,
is that we are seeing a lot of experimentation: at the Federal level
with Medicare, for example, and at the various States. We have
seen a number of States which have tried new things, and I think
we will learn from that.
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But it is a very important matter, and we need to keep this front
and center.

I think that even beyond the issue of Medicare for Americans as
a whole, the cost of medical care, the portability of insurance, the
availability of insurance are very crucial issues for well-being.

May I continue with your other questions, Senator?

On hedge funds, the philosophy the regulators have taken since
the President’s Working Group issued a report after the LTCM cri-
sis in 1998 has been a market discipline approach. We have tried
to discipline hedge funds not by direct regulatory oversight but in-
directly, by making sure that the people they trade with, so to
speak, have incentives to pay close attention to what they are
doing.

So in particular, the Federal Reserve and other bank regulators
and the SEC work very hard to make sure that commercial banks
and investment banks who are counterparties to hedge funds, who
provide brokerage services to hedge funds, are doing due diligence
to make sure that the hedge funds are operating in a way that will
not pose excessive risk to those counterparties.

Similarly, the SEC is working to make sure that investors in
hedge funds have the opportunity and the incentive to impose dis-
cipline on those hedge funds, as well.

That system has worked pretty well so far. I think it is always
worth reviewing and thinking about how better to manage the sys-
tem. But that is the general philosophy that we have taken in the
regulatory community.

On the capital markets competitiveness, again this is a very big
issue. It is true, for example, that the number of initial public offer-
ings taking place in U.S. markets has been much lower in recent
years relative to capital markets in other countries. To some ex-
tent, that is simply a result of the fact that capital markets in
other countries, the UK, in Asia and elsewhere, are growing and
maturing, and it is natural that they would take over part of the
business as they go forward.

But we also have to look carefully to make sure that our regu-
latory regime, our broad set of laws and regulations, are not impos-
ing undue burdens on American capital markets and U.S. corpora-
tions to ensure that there is a reasonable balance between the costs
and benefits of those regulations.

Senator GREGG. Thank you.

Chairman CONRAD. Senator Sanders.

Senator SANDERS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. And
thank you and the ranking member for holding this important
hearing. Mr. Bernanke, thank you very much for your thoughtful
comments.

Mr. Bernanke, I would like to discuss with you three issues. No.
1, do you have a concern about the growing income inequality in
the United States of America today? The fact that we have by far
the most unequal distribution of wealth and income of any major
country on earth? The fact that the richest 1 percent own more
wealth than the bottom 90 percent. That the richest 13,000 fami-
lies earn almost income as the bottom 20 million American fami-
lies. The fact that the middle class is shrinking, poverty is increas-
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ing, while the gap between the rich and the poor grows wider? I
would like to comment on that in a moment.

My second question deals with the Federal deficit. We have had
a number of record-breaking deficits, of course, in recent years.
And you and the Chairman and ranking member have highlighted
the long-term problems, which I certainly agree with.

But in the midst of all of these deficits, the President of the
United States has pledged to make all of his tax cuts permanent,
including those to millionaires and billionaires at the time when
the wealthiest people in America have never had it so good. Over
the next four calendar years the cost of the tax cuts for the top 1
percent of households with average incomes of over $1 million will
total nearly $350 billion.

If the President’s tax cuts are made permanent, households with
annual incomes of more than $1 million, a group that comprises
three-tenths of 1 percent, the wealthiest three-tenths of 1 percent
would receive approximately $648 billion in tax cuts over the next
decade.

So my question to you is could you speak to us about the “wis-
dom” of the President’s policies of continuing to give mammoth tax
breaks to the wealthiest people in this country who have never had
g: Eo?good, and in the process significantly driving up our national

ebt’

The third issue I would like you to comment on briefly is our
trade policy. As you know, our trade deficit is on track to exceed
$800 billion in 2006 and we now have a record-breaking $900 bil-
lion current account deficit.

There are a number of us in Congress, I think a growing number
of Americans, who are now catching on that our current unfettered
free trade policy has not only been a disaster in terms of the loss
of millions of good paying manufacturing jobs but it is a disaster
in terms of long-term economic trends when you run up record
breaking trade deficits year after year after year.

In your view, given the fact that we have lost millions of good
paying manufacturing jobs, given the fact that we may be losing or
on the cusp of losing millions of good paying information technology
jobs as a result of unfettered free trade, given the fact that our
manufacturing base is virtually collapsing, do you think it is time
to perhaps rethink the current trade policies that we have?

Those are the areas that I would very much appreciate your com-
menting on.

Chairman BERNANKE. Thank you, Senator. Those are all very im-
portant issues.

On inequality, it is certainly true that the degree of inequality
in our economy has been rising. It has been going on for a long
time, and we now have greater income inequality than many other
industrial countries.

Senator SANDERS. Is there any other country in the world, major
country?

Chairman BERNANKE. There are some, but—

Senator SANDERS. Major countries?

Chairman BERNANKE. Brazil.

Senator SANDERS. OK, Brazil, yes.

Chairman BERNANKE. I think it is an important issue.
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First of all, it is part, of the American ethos that we want every-
one to have opportunity, economic opportunity, and a good eco-
nomic standard of living.

It is important also for political reasons in the following sense:
our growth and our dynamism depend in an important way on the
willingness of the general population to support flexible labor mar-
kets, for example, to support the effects of trade on the economy.
If people are starting to believe that trade, for example, does not
benefit them personally, then they may become less willing to sup-
port trade and that, from my perspective, is a concern.

So it is a very large topic. I hope to give some remarks on this
fairly soon about some of the causes and responses to it.

Senator SANDERS. But it is an issue. The fact that we have such
a huge gap between the rich and the poor and the—

Chairman BERNANKE. Yes, it is certainly an issue. It is some-
thing that would be good to address.

I would just reiterate that it is a very long-term trend. It is not
something that happened yesterday. And trying to understand it is
something economists have been spending a lot of time on. It would
be interesting to think further about it.

On the Federal deficit and the tax cut, as I said, I am not going
to support or defend or oppose specific tax or spending measures.
With tax cuts you face the usual tradeoff: lower taxes tend to im-
prove incentives and generate more efficiency and more growth.

Senator SANDERS. But you just mentioned a moment ago, which
I think most economists agree, that tax breaks do not pay for them-
selves. My question is if you give hundreds of billions of dollars in
tax breaks to the wealthiest people who really do not need it, which
drives up the deficit, I have a hard time understanding how that
makes any sense at all. Can you help me on that?

Chairman BERNANKE. To the extent that—and there is disagree-
ment—but to the extent that the lower marginal rates create addi-
tional effort and additional work and additional productivity, addi-
tional innovation, they will create a broader growth in the overall
economy. Maybe it is worth it. I am just saying there is a balance
of issues here. On the one hand is the progressivity issue which
you are referring to. On the other hand, is whether the tax code
is promoting growth.

May I suggest that there are many ways to increase progres-
sivity. Another way to do it would be to broaden the base. There
are a number of deductions, for example, exemptions and exclu-
sions in the tax code, which are not capped and which benefit high-
er income people more than lower income people. That is another
way to look at it.

So there are many different ways to think about how to address
progressivity. But in doing so you should think also about the im-
plications for economic growth and efficiency.

On the trade deficit, this ties in very well to the debate we are
having today in this meeting. The fundamental source of our trade
imbalance is that we, as a country, are saving much less than we
are investing. Therefore, we have to borrow the difference abroad.
Whereas other countries are saving more than they are investing
and therefore they are lending to us the difference. That is the es-
sence of the imbalance that we have in the world today.
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Senator SANDERS. Let us get back to the question, if we could,
sir. We have an $80 billion trade deficit. We have lost millions of
good paying manufacturing jobs, all of which leads myself and
many millions of Americans to believe that NAFTA, PNTR with
China, et cetera, et cetera, are not working particularly well for the
American people.

Comment?

Chairman BERNANKE. I do not agree with that. I think that there
are certainly people and workers who are displaced, who lose from
trade. But broadly speaking, I believe that trade and openness are
good for the economy. Trade creates broader opportunities for
growth and investment.

Senator SANDERS. We just have a limited amount, so forgive me.
You are giving me the rhetoric. But the fact is you are concerned
about deficits. That is why you are here today; right?

We have an $800 billion trade deficit. Is that a concern?

Chairman BERNANKE. The deficit we have been talking about is
the fiscal deficit.

Senator SANDERS. Well, but you have a trade deficit that is also
of concern.

Chairman BERNANKE. It is a concern, but I do not think it comes
from our trade policies. It comes from our saving and investment
policies.

Senator SANDERS. You do not think our trade deficit comes from
our trade policies?

Chairman BERNANKE. No, I do not.

Senator SANDERS. You do not think a $200 billion trade deficit
with China and the fact that it is hard to buy an American prod-
uct—

Chairman BERNANKE. The connection is very marginal. I would
also like to say that I think it is really a bit of an exaggeration to
say that the U.S. industrial base is decaying. In fact, we just got
good industrial production numbers yesterday. The United States
is the largest manufacturing country in the world. Our manufac-
turing output is growing. We have some of the best high-tech man-
ufacturing industries in the world.

The main reason that manufacturing jobs have declined so quick-
ly is, perversely, because manufacturing has been so productive
that firms have found ways to make do with fewer and fewer work-
ers. And that has led to a smaller number of workers in manufac-
turing. But I do not think it is the trade issue. I think, in that par-
ticular case, it is the productivity issue.

I do believe that the best way to address the current account def-
icit is for a balanced adjustment, for us to increase our saving, both
at the household level and at the fiscal level, and for countries like
China to increase—

Senator SANDERS. Is it not hard for the average household to in-
crease their savings when, in many cases, the jobs they now have
are paying lower wages than what they had 20 years ago?

Chairman CONRAD. Let me just intercede, if I can.

Senator SANDERS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman CONRAD. We are a little past the Senator’s time. We
will go back to another round.

Senator SANDERS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman CONRAD. We will go to Senator Allard.

Senator ALLARD. Dr. Bernanke, welcome to the committee.

I have always believed that there is a certain balance between
the level of taxation and revenues. In other words, if you tax 100
percent, you are not going to get any revenues to the Federal Gov-
ernment. If you do not tax anything at all, you are not going to get
any revenues—but somewhere in between there is this balance. I
think it is referred to as the Laffer curve. I would like to hear you
comment a little bit on Laffer’s curve, if it plays in your thinking.

I am interested to know whether we have the proper balance
today and are maximizing revenues to government, whether it is
Federal Government or State governments. If you look at what has
happened in the last few years, it seems to me that it is working.
But I would just like to get your perspective on that.

Chairman BERNANKE. As I indicated before, the conventional
wisdom among economists is that tax cuts do not necessarily pay
for themselves. That is not really an argument against tax cuts. It
is really a question of balancing the benefits of the tax cuts for the
economy against the fact that you would have to reduce Govern-
ment spending in the long run to get that balance.

I think, in general, that it would be a good idea for us to look
at the tax code, to ask ourselves whether there are ways of simpli-
fying it, broadening the base, reducing complexity, reducing compli-
ance costs, and maybe increasing collection that would allow us to
get more revenue without greater burden on the economy. The tax
code has become a very complex system, and I think periodically
it makes sense for Congress to review it and try to find ways to
improve it.

Senator ALLARD. But do you worry, in general terms, about the
level of taxation and the effect on the economy?

Chairman BERNANKE. The message I am bringing today is only
that there is a decision that Congress has to make about how big
a government you want. Whatever it is, you have to pay for it. That
is what I am saying.

Senator ALLARD. But if you have 100 percent taxation, does that
have an effect on the economy?

Chairman BERNANKE. Of course.

Senator ALLARD. Do you understand what I am trying to get at?

Chairman BERNANKE. Let me try to respond. The Laffer curve
idea is correct if rates are extraordinarily high. If rates are very
high—if they are at 100 percent, 90 percent, so high that they es-
sentially drive out the activity being taxed—then it is true that in
that situation you could actually raise revenue by cutting taxes.
That is correct.

But I do not think—there may be differences of degree—that for
our income tax system we are on that side of the Laffer curve. I
think that where we are now, if we cut income taxes, we will prob-
ably lose some revenue.

Again, that is not the key question. The key question is bal-
ancing the level of taxation and the implications of that for the
economy against a level of spending that is appropriate and is real-
ly providing good benefits for the economy. That is the balance you
have to think about.
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Senator ALLARD. It seems to me that when you look at the eco-
nomic figures that we are looking at today, that you cannot be that
critical of where we are today, can you?

Chairman BERNANKE. The economy has recovered quite a bit
from the 2001 recession and the weakness that we saw through
2003. We have had a pretty good run in terms of growth and pro-
ductivity.

Senator ALLARD. Your predecessor, Dr. Greenspan, when he
talked about trade he did not concern himself too much with trade
deficits. You seem to be more concerned about the trade deficits.

A question I have is does it really matter who purchases our
Treasury certificates? In other words, who buys our debt? And if
it does matter, does it make a difference whether it is domestically
or internationally owned debt?

Chairman BERNANKE. It makes a difference only in that if it is
domestically purchased, then the interest on the debt will go to do-
mestic people and be part of the domestic income. If it is purchased
by foreigners, it will go to the foreign holders of the debt.

The existence of foreign lenders, in the short run at least, is a
good thing because it means that we can invest more than we oth-
erwise could, given the amount of saving we have. So we want to
invest more than we save. The only way to do that is to borrow
abroad.

The concern I have is that the current account deficit is now
quite large and still growing. There is a good reason to believe that
ultimately it needs to start coming down slowly. I think that fiscal
policies that create better balance between taxes and revenues, be-
tween spending and revenues, have a lot of virtues in their own
sake. But they would also, to some extent, contribute to bringing
down that imbalance on the external side, as well.

Senator ALLARD. The Bureau of Labor Statistics has recently in-
troduced a new price index. They call it the chain CPI. I wonder
if you would elaborate on that. They are claiming that that is more
accurate than the current CPI that we are using today. I would
like to hear your feelings on that new measurement.

Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, yes, I think it is somewhat more
accurate. The existing CPI, the one we are all familiar with, takes
a fixed basket of goods and values the change in the cost of that
basket from month to month, from year to year.

The problem with that is it does not take into account the fact
that as prices change, people will change the goods and services
that they choose. If oranges become more expensive, I might eat
more apples instead.

The chain-weighted CPI allows, to some extent, for the adjust-
ment that people make to go from higher priced goods to lower-
priced goods, and therefore is probably a better measure of the true
cost of living increase than the standard CPI.

Senator ALLARD. Do you think that the procedure that we are
using now with CBO and OMB, that those projections overstate in-
flation?

Chairman BERNANKE. Presumably, the projections they are mak-
ing are in terms of what they think the standard CPI inflation will
be. At the Federal Reserve, we have done numerous studies of
these indices, and we do think, for example, that the standard CPI
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does overstate true inflation, if we could measure true inflation, by
some amount between one-half and 1 percentage point.

Senator ALLARD. Do you think with those agencies we need to go
to the chain CPI to get a better result?

Chairman BERNANKE. A really operational question one might
ask is whether we should use the chain CPI or some other measure
to index entitlement benefits and also to index the tax code. If your
objective—as Congress—is to tie benefits payments and the tax
code more directly to what I would call true inflation, you would
have a more accurate measure of true inflation by using the chain
CPI or some alternative measures. So that would be one consider-
ation.

Senator ALLARD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I see my time has
expired.

Chairman CONRAD. I thank the Senator, and I especially thank
him for his question on the CPI matter because I think that is
going to be an important part of the discussion here as we try to
figure out a way to get this horse back in the barn.

Senator CARDIN.

Senator CARDIN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Mr.
Chairman, it is a pleasure to have you before our committee.

I want to followup on the savings issue. We do talk a lot about
the budget deficit and the trade deficit. We have a major savings
deficit in this country.

Although I am not really clear of the relationship between the
savings deficit and the trade deficit, and I would like to explore
that at a different time, I am very concerned about the savings def-
icit in this country. I think we all are. From an individual point
of view, we know that individuals do not have enough put away in
savings to deal with life’s circumstances. We are well below what
economists say we should have for the purposes of individual secu-
rity.

This also adds to the wealth disparity in America. Those at the
lower income levels save the least and are much more vulnerable.
And it does put more pressure on us, in Congress, to deal with the
entitlement programs.

So for all of those reasons, it is important to increase the na-
tional savings rate and increase individual savings rates. And from
a national point of view, our savings rates are very, very low. We
do not have the amount of savings that are useful for investment
in America and that makes it necessary for us to borrow capital
from abroad.

Now, one can argue whether our economy is hurt by our indebt-
edness to countries. But I must tell you because of the large sums
borrowed from financial entities that are controlled by other gov-
ernments that do not always agree with America’s foreign policy,
I think there is also a security issue here that could compromise
country’s independence.

I have raised the issue of whether we really can challenge Chi-
na’s monetary policies on how it ties its currency to ours. Are we
truly independent on our challenges there, knowing how much cap-
ital is coming in from China to America today?

So for all of those reasons, I think we need to improve our do-
mestic savings rates.
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I know that you are reluctant to comment on specific proposals.
We have passed a savers’ credit, which is targeted toward lower-
income people. There are efforts being made to increase the savers’
credit, to make it easier for lower wage workers to put money away
for retirement. To the extent that that type of incentive increases
savings by lower income people it seems to me, from your testi-
mony, that would have a very positive effect on our economy.

To the extent that we can encourage businesses to provide retire-
ment plans for their employees, where they put some money on the
table, workers are much more likely to participate in those plans.
We know this from our experience, with the Federal Employees
Thrift Savings Plan (TSP), which the Federal Government contrib-
utes to.

Our savings rates are declining, the number of defined benefit
plans is declining, and employer-sponsored plans are not increasing
at the rate that all of us believe is necessary.

So try to help me on this. I know you are reluctant to make spe-
cific recommendations, but the savings deficit, it seems to me, is a
major problem for our economy.

Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, first of all, I certainly agree with
that.

Senator Sanders asked about inequality. The inequality in
wealth and savings is far greater than the inequality in income. I
think it is a problem, both for individual families and for our econ-
omy as a whole. It has been a long-standing debate in the economic
literature about how we can get people to save more.

I think one promising direction which I will comment on, because
the Congress has recently moved in this direction, has to do with
ideas that have been developed in what is called behavioral eco-
nomics, which is the idea of merging psychology with economics
and using psychological principles.

One of the results of those studies is that if people are told that
they have a 401(k) plan at work and are asked whether they would
like to contribute to it, they will say no. But if you deduct from
their income as a default into their 401(k) plan and ask whether
they want to opt out, most of the time they will not. So having an
opt-out provision, which still makes it voluntary, actually seems to
have some impact on saving behavior.

So recently, in the Pension Bill, there were some provisions that
made it easier for employers to do that.

I think that is a promising approach and as you indicate, it could
be extended. Even if there is not an employer match, it could be
extended to people without 401(k)’s, either through work or
through a government program, to allow people to have a tax-fa-
vored place to save. So I think that is one promising direction.

The other approach that Congress has taken over the years is
various kinds of tax policy, tax breaks and so on, for saving. IRAs
are an example. Unfortunately, the evidence is really quite mixed
on how well they work. For some people, having tax-free money in
an IRA means they can save less or they can just move assets from
somewhere else and put them into the IRA. There is quite a con-
troversy about how much those sorts of measures help.

So I think the two things that I would suggest—strangely for an
economist—would be not the straight incentive measures but using
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these psychological methods to try to induce people to understand
the importance of saving and to make them opt-out of some kind
of plan.

The other thing that is important, and the Federal Reserve is
very involved in supporting this, is that people often just do not
have the knowledge, the information, about how to invest even in
simple ways, how to take advantage of the existing tax breaks and
the like. So we, at the Fed, have worked very hard on financial lit-
eracy, for example, to try to get people to understand better what
their options are. Obviously that is not a magic bullet, but to some
extent that would also help people budget better and perhaps save
more.

Senator CARDIN. It is good advice. Financial literacy is one area
where I think all of us can agree we have to do a much better job.

One of the real concerns about the decline of defined benefit
plans is they are generally better managed than an individual’s
401(k) or their own defined contribution plans. The automatic en-
rollment feature, we will see how that works. I am very encouraged
but I think you are right, I think that will help a great deal in en-
couraging participation.

I would just emphasize that when an employer or the Govern-
ment puts money on the table, individuals at all income levels are
much more likely to take advantage of that. That is why anything
we can do to encourage companies to provide pension plans for
their employees is going to be helpful in increasing our savings
rates.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman CONRAD. Senator Bunning.

Senator BUNNING. The timing is too good. Thank you, very much.

Chairman Bernanke, good to see you again. I congratulate you
and the Fed in keeping interest rates where the American people
can stand and the economy can prosper. I congratulate you, and
that is not always the case.

Current account deficits and things about the budget, I am more
concerned about out-years, as you have mentioned. I think we will
see our deficits and our continuing income be at higher levels than
we anticipated as far as revenues to the Treasury. And therefore,
the reduction short-term in the deficit will be positive.

I am completely consumed by the fact that 2030, if we do not do
something, that the three things called Social Security, Medicare,
and Medicaid will consume the entire Federal budget. And there-
fore, we will not have a Defense Department, we will not have a
Department of Labor, we will not have any other agencies of the
Federal Government that can function.

Do you, in your wisdom, see some way that we can manage that?

Chairman BERNANKE. That is, of course, the question we are
here to discuss. There are, for each of these programs, both rev-
enue raising measures and ways of reducing expenditure. I would
be happy to go over the list if you like.

Obviously though, as I said before, I do not want to pick and
choose. I think it is up to Congress to make those tough decisions
about—

Senator BUNNING. We are in need of help.
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Chairman BERNANKE. Just to take an example, Social Security.
The major options on the benefit side, I think, are first changing
the indexing formula.

Senator BUNNING. The index as far as when a person can retire
and the aging—

Chairman BERNANKE. No, I am referring Senator, to the way you
calculate the initial benefit. Currently, the initial benefit is tied es-
sentially to wages, which means that the replacement ratio, the
share of wages, remains constant.

Senator BUNNING. I understand.

Chairman BERNANKE. The strongest measure, which was sug-
gested by the recent Commission on Social Security, would be to
switch to price indexing, which would keep the real value of the
benefit constant but not the replacement ratio. That would solve
the entire shortfall, as I understand.

A second measure would be something along the lines of what
Robert Pozen has suggested, the progressive indexing measure,
which would keep the—

Senator BUNNING. I think Chairman Greenspan also agreed with
it.

Chairman BERNANKE. I am simply referring to some of the pos-
sible options here. That would keep the 30 percent lowest income
people still indexed to wages, the very highest people indexed to
prices, and those in between—

Senator BUNNING. Somewhere in the middle.

Chairman BERNANKE [continuing]. On a sliding scale between
them. That would also close a fairly substantial part of the Social
Security shortfall.

Increasing the retirement age gradually over time, particularly if
you indexed the longevity subsequently—as life expectancies in-
creased the retirement age would increase—would also reduce the
long-term shortfall.

Senator BUNNING. On the same scale as we are doing now, from
65 to 677

Chairman BERNANKE. Yes. So increasing the retirement age to
70 by 2029 would be another approach. Again, I am just listing
possibilities.

We mentioned earlier the chain weighted CPI. You could use
that to index the benefits after retirement. That would provide a
slightly smaller rate of increase in benefits.

Senator BUNNING. How do we get around the promise that was
made when people got into Social Security? How do you suggest
that we tell the American people? Or do we set a date certain, say
20 years down the road, all those who got into Social Security at
age 20 who are now 40, when they become 50 will have to get a
different rate of return on their Social Security?

Chairman BERNANKE. Congress has made changes in benefits
promises before. In the early years, the changes were mostly up.
But in 1983, for example, following that commission, there were
some changes down.
hSenator BunNING. We were going to go busted, so is was easier
then.

Chairman BERNANKE. It is the same situation now; there are
stresses on the system.
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So just to be evenhanded, of course, the other side of the equa-
tion is payroll taxes. You could raise payroll rates under either the
existing ceiling or you could raise the ceiling and the rates. So
there are revenue side approaches, as well.

Senator BUNNING. We did that on Medicare and unfortunately
that is one of the things that is not going to pay its way. We un-
capped Medicare completely. And unless we raise the rate as far
as the tax is concerned, we will not successfully change the policy
of Medicare going busted earlier.

Chairman BERNANKE. That is right, Medicare is a much bigger
problem than Social Security. And the Part A Trust Fund is 10 or
15 years away from insolvency, as I recall.

Senator BUNNING. That is correct.

Chairman BERNANKE. So anyway, Senator, I am just listing a
number of the possible options one could take.

Senator BUNNING. Health care is another huge, huge problem
that we are going to have to consider the fact that either we are
going to have to lower benefits or share more of the cost with the
employees and somehow pay the bill. The bill is getting to be a por-
tion that we cannot pay federally.

Chairman BERNANKE. There is an enormous impending imbal-
ance in Medicare. One way, if I may kill two birds with one stone,
is to think about reform of the entire health care system. There are
a lot of things that could be done, I think, to make the health care
system more efficient and to control costs. That, obviously, would
be good for the entire economy, as well as provide benefits for the
fiscal budget as well.

Senator BUNNING. I think that is an answer, looking at the
health care system in its entirety and making some new sugges-
tions.

Thank you very much.

Chairman CONRAD. I thank the Senator. Senator Whitehouse.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Welcome, Mr.
Chairman, good to meet you.

You opened your testimony, sir, with the description of the deficit
in the unified Federal budget as $248 billion. We had Comptroller
General Walker here just recently and he put that into the context
of a number of different figures. He identified the unified budget
deficit of $248 billion. He identified the on-budget deficit, setting
aside the Social Security cash offset, of $434 billion. He calculated
a net operating cost on an accrual basis for financial reporting of
a negative $450 billion. And our Chairman indicated another meas-
ure, which was that the national debt increased by $546 billion.

Among those four different measures of the fiscal slide that we
are on, why is it that you picked the $248 billion number?

Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, first, one of the themes in my tes-
timony was that we need to look at multiple measures to really get
a full picture of the fiscal situation. So I did mention that number.
But in the next sentence I mentioned the on-budget deficit, which
you are correct, is about $434 billion.

You discussed the net operating costs, the accrual deficit, which
is another interesting concept. I took it out of this draft for the fol-
lowing reason: the net operating cost which is now currently re-
ported by the Department of the Treasury, which you correctly
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point out is $450 billion, adds to the deficit the accrual of obliga-
tions to pensions for Federal employees, as well as certain veterans’
benefits.

But in a sense it is really an understatement because it makes
no provision for the increased obligations under the entitlement
programs.

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board is looking at
ways to consider a net operating cost measure that actually in-
cludes, in addition, the obligations under entitlements. So as I
mentioned at the end of my remarks, I think there are multiple
measures to look at. The current deficit does say something about
how much extra debt is being borrowed, how much extra debt is
being issued to the general public, as opposed to the Trust Funds,
for example.

But the present value of the unfunded liabilities of Social Secu-
rity and Medicare is a very important number and is indicative of
the long run imbalance that we face.

So what I was trying to argue is that to really understand this
complex thing we call the Federal budget, you need to look at a
number of measures. I would agree with what I think was implied
by your question, that looking only at the unified Federal budget
deficit, which is less than 2 percent of GDP, while of some interest
for some purposes, tends to understate the severity of the fiscal
problems that we face.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. That was precisely my point. I appreciate
it.

Chairman BERNANKE. Including the entitlements.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. The other point I wanted to touch base
with you on is, as Senator Sanders asked you about, the increasing
gap between the rich and the poor. I understand that in your re-
sponse to him you indicated that you would be speaking more to
this shortly. I would like to request that if your remarks to be de-
livered shortly on this do not address certain topics, if you could
get back to me on them.

It strikes me that there are secular causes related to the global
economy for this shift. It is not that the rich have suddenly gotten
smarter and more productive and the middle class has not. And so
I would like to inquire of you what you think the secular forces are
that are at work driving this gap? How bad it presently is com-
pared to historical trends and norms? How urgent you feel it is
that something be done about it? And what options that the Senate
might engage in commend themselves to you?

Obviously, that is a 30 minute speech so please do not feel
obliged to answer me now. But I do want to lay those down so that
when your remarks come up, if they do not answer that, you can
respond.

The last thing I would like to do is followup on what you said
to Senator Bunning about the health care system. I could not agree
with you more. I think our health care system is a nightmare. It
is disastrous. And I think it would be a real tragedy if our Con-
gress were to go out and reduce benefits and require people to pay
more into this health care system without having taken the pre-
liminary steps of doing our best to reform what is the most waste-
ful and extravagant system in the world.
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And to the extent that you have folks at the Federal Reserve who
are interested in working on that, I would love to be in touch with
them, because I feel it is vital that we pursue this.

Chairman BERNANKE. Thank you, Senator.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman CONRAD. I thank the Senator.

I would like to go back to the question of health care because ev-
erybody on this committee recognizes, this is the 800-pound guer-
rilla. If we do not make meaningful progress there, frankly all the
§e1s1t of what we do is not going to address this problem meaning-
ully.

One of the things that I have tried to focus on is one statistic
that I find especially powerful. Roughly 5 percent of Medicare bene-
ficiaries use half the money. Five percent use one-half of the budg-
et. They are, of course, the chronically ill. They have multiple seri-
ous conditions.

We did a study with about 20,000 patients, I think it was 21,000
patients. We put a case manager on every one of their cases to bet-
ter coordinate their care. The first thing they did was go into their
homes and get out all of the prescription drugs they were taking.
On average, they found they were taking 16 prescription drugs.
And after review, they were able to cut that in half.

As a result of that effort and the others that were made to better
coordinate their care, with this group they cut hospitalization 50
percent. As a result, there were very dramatic financial savings but
there were also better health care outcomes. People were healthier.

I did this with my own father-in-law in his final illness. We went
and got all of the prescription drugs out of the table, and he was
taking 16. I got on the phone to the doctor and went down the list.
About the third one the doctor said to me my god, Kent, he should
not be taking that. He should not have been taking that the last
3 years. A little further down the list, two drugs he was taking, the
doctor said Kent, those two drugs work against each other. You
should never be taking them together.

I said doctor, how does this happen? It was very simple. He said
he has four different doctors. He has a heart specialist, he has a
lung specialist, he has an orthopedic specialist, he has me as his
family practice doctor. All of them prescribing for him, none of
them know what the other one is doing. He said he is getting pre-
scription drugs from the hospital pharmacy, he is getting them
from the corner pharmacy, he is getting them from the pharmacy
at the beach, he is getting them mail order. He is sick and con-
fused. His wife is sick and confused. And we have nobody, in effect,
managing the case.

He said I am supposed to be. I am his family practice doctor. But
I do not know what the heart doctor has prescribed. I do not know
what the lung doctor has prescribed. And of course, it is even more
complicated than that because it was not just one heart doctor.
There were three heart doctors. It wasn’t one lung doctor, there
were several.

Is this something you have looked at at all in terms of focus?
Does it make sense to you that we further pursue this? What reac-
tion might you give to this basic concept, that we have a small per-
centage of the population that is using most of the money?
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Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, first, you have identified some
important issues. It is the case, because of the conditions you re-
ferred to, that a large part of the money is used by a relatively
small share of the population.

I think the approach that this cries out for is what you might call
integrated health care management, in which the health care of an
individual is coordinated, their prescription drugs are coordinated,
there is an overall evaluation in what that person is doing.

From a policy perspective, though, there are some interesting
questions about how best to achieve that. Let me give you three
models. One model, which applies at least to some people, would
be sort of consumer-directed, which says people are primarily re-
sponsible for themselves and their families. For people who are
competent—who are not that ill or are relatively well-educated and
so on—perhaps self-responsibility may be the right approach.

For those who need more extensive management from profes-
sionals, there are two models. In one Government provides money
but the patient chooses from a set of providers, HMOs or PPOs or
other private-sector providers, whose profitability depends on their
ability to manage the entire health care situation, including pre-
ventive care and so on.

The last model is a Government provision system where again,
if the Government is providing, it is important that there be seri-
ous attempts to make sure that provision is as efficient as possible.
The kinds of things you are talking about, a caseworker or an inte-
grated approach, would be important in that context, as well.

Chairman CONRAD. Would it not be important that we have bet-
ter case management, whatever model we adopt? That somehow,
we have, especially with this chronically ill population, which tends
to be older people with multiple serious conditions, somehow—al-
though our health care system is exceptional in so many ways.

You know, my grandfather was a doctor. He was the medical
chief of staff of our hometown hospital. When people are ill in other
countries, where do they want to go? They want to come here.

It is also true we have by far the most costly health care. We
here at 16 percent of gross domestic product now in health care.
I think the next highest country is 11 percent. And that delta, that
difference between 16 percent of GDP and 11 percent is $800 bil-
lion.

So it would seem to me that whatever system we adopt, pro-
viding better case management is part of a more effective health
care system. Does that strike you as accurate?

Chairman BERNANKE. Yes. I might add that I think a very im-
portant element of that would be improving our health IT, informa-
tion technology, system which I know is currently, to some extent,
underway. But if a doctor could look online and see what prescrip-
tions the patient already has and what their previous conditions
were and so on, that would eliminate some of the problems that
you are talking about.

Chairman CONRAD. You know, I just held a health information
technology summit in my State, with all of the major health care
providers. One of the ideas that was presented there was a health
passport, if you will. It would be a record that somebody could have
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with them. It also be online at their doctors, that would have in
a computer record all of the contacts with medical professionals.

So that heart doctor would know what the lung doctor pre-
scribed. The family practice doctor would know what the other doc-
tors had prescribed. And not only meds that were prescribed but
also tests that were given. I know my stepfather had, I think, three
MRIs in the last year of his life, from three different sources. This
is the kind of thing that really does explode cost without improving
health care. In fact, it probably makes health care, certainly the
comfort of the patient less.

Let me ask one final question and that is the matter of the tax
gap. We have not talked about that today. The Internal Revenue
Service Commissioner came before this committee and testified the
tax gap is now somewhere in the range of $350 billion a year, and
that is based on an estimate. I happen to believe it is a conserv-
ative estimate, given how that estimate was arrived at.

So if our tax system at current rates was generating the revenue
interaded, we would not have a deficit. The deficit would be elimi-
nated.

Any thoughts you have on this tax gap, the difference between
what is owed and what is being paid? How we could better capture
that revenue without a tax increase or a rate increase?

Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, I agree that is a very important
issue. You are never going to get 100 percent compliance but you
could get better compliance. I think it is important not only for the
revenue, as you mentioned, but also because our system is very
much based on self-enforcement. People turn in their tax returns
because they are basically honest and they think other people are
doing it as well. If people have the sense that lots of people are
cheating the system and are not paying their fair share, then they
are going to be less willing themselves to pay their taxes.

How to increase collection is a difficult issue. Let me raise one
possibility that might be worth exploring. In the United Kingdom
there is currently a paperless return system where it is possible,
essentially through what is the equivalent of W-2 forms or with-
holding at the employer-level integrated with other types of in-
come, that the tax obligation of the worker could be calculated es-
sentially automatically, and there is no need for a form because
there is no refund. Basically it is an exact measure. So it is a meth-
od of essentially automatic deduction. That would be one approach.

Otherwise, it is difficult to say. I think some of the areas where
the tax gap is larger, maybe small business and some others, pose
some difficult problems in terms of collecting. People who have off-
the-books income, things of that sort, so there are some difficult
issues there. I do not think I have any really great suggestions.

But to the extent that we can increase compliance, it would be
good for the system as well as good for the revenue.

Chairman CONRAD. Do you think we ought to consider tax reform
as part of an overall effort here? One of the things that strikes me
is we have a tax system that was largely devised in the 1930’s,
1940’s, 1950’s, and we have a world that is fundamentally changed.

One thing that has struck me is maybe we need to have, as one
part of a strategy, a really thorough review of our tax structure
and system, tax reform that could make collections more efficient,
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more effective. And at the same time, strongly consider our eco-
nomic position in the world and our competitive position in the
world, because I am more and more convinced, as a member of the
Finance Committee, that we really do not have a system that maxi-
mizes our competitive position.

Chairman BERNANKE. I think there is a good case for looking at
alternatives. We have a number of problems now, including the
complexity of the system, the Alternative Minimum Tax, what are
we going to do about that, and so on.

I will say something that I hope will be uncontroversial, which
is that the current tax code is very burdensome. Some estimates
a few years ago suggested that the average taxpayer spends 27
hours on their taxes every year and that the total cost of compli-
ance, including the hours spent, is over $110 billion a year. You
could think of that as part of the tax gap as well. If that cost could
be reduced, you would be saving the economy a significant amount
of money and perhaps making people more willing and able to com-
ply with the law.

Chairman CONRAD. Senator Gregg.

Senator GREGG. I am interested to know why you think the mar-
kets do not factor in, it appears, the implications of the numbers
which you have talked about here in the out-years relative to long-
term debt? If I was buying long-term debt 10, 15, 20, 30 years out,
I would sure want a much higher interest rate than what appears
to be what the markets are demanding today. What are they as-
suming we are going to do that I am not aware of?

Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, I think my predecessor com-
mented also on this puzzle. Thirty-year bonds are paying interest
rates not much more than 5-year bonds.

Evidently either this is a trading phenomenon and the holders of
the bonds are not really thinking about 30 years in the future, or,
the other possibility, is that one way or another the bondholders
do expect that Congress will take whatever measures are needed
to ensure that the bonds are paid off and that it is done in the con-
text of price stability.

Senator GREGG. Which gets me to my second point which you al-
luded to, price stability. One way that this has been handled in
other economies has been to inflate the economy. How do we avoid
that?

Chairman BERNANKE. The Federal Reserve is independent and
the Federal Reserve will follow its mandate and ensure that prices
remain stable.

Senator GREGG. That is comforting.

Chairman BERNANKE. Thank you.

Senator GREGG. On the issue of tax reform, do you believe a con-
sumption tax is a vehicle that we should be looking at? And if you
do, how do you avoid the inherent problems which come from put-
ting that sort of an engine on the government and causing the gov-
ernment to just explode in size?

I come from a State that has neither a sales or an income tax.
We look at our neighbors in Vermont and Massachusetts, where
our neighbors were told that if they just put in a sales tax their
income taxes would go down. What they found is that their govern-
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ment just got a heck of a lot bigger and their income taxes sta-
bilized for a few years and then started going back up.

Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, as you know, I cannot really en-
dorse a particular approach. But I will say a word about feasibility,
which is that consumption taxes can be implemented lots of dif-
ferent ways. One way is through a value-added tax, which a lot of
European countries use. Another way is through a retail sales tax.
A third way would be through a saving exemption approach where
you look at your income at the end of the year and you document
how much you have saved and that part is deductible. That essen-
tially becomes a consumption tax.

So there are a number of ways to move toward a consumption
tax, and so I do not think the feasibility is really the issue. I think
the issue is whether it produce a more efficient economy. In addi-
tion, since wealth is unequally distributed and the higher income
people are much more likely to have capital income, could we struc-
ture a comsumption tax in such a way as to maintain the degree
of progressivity that we would like to see in the tax system?

Senator GREGG. Of course, the response to that is that wealthy
people buy a lot more, so they would pay a lot more in taxes if you
had a consumption tax.

But in any event, thank you for your answers. Thank you for
being here today. I especially appreciate your opening statement.
I think it was absolutely correct, right on, and a clarion call that
I hope some folks will listen to. We are certainly going to try to be
an echo chamber for you.

Chairman BERNANKE. Thank you for the opportunity.

Chairman CONRAD. Senator Bunning has a followup.

Senator BUNNING. I just want to find out if somebody has ques-
tioned you about PAYGO? Has anybody here questioned you?

Chairman BERNANKE. No, sir.

Senator BUNNING. The Senate PAYGO point of order has existed
in some form since 1993. The PAYGO point of order currently in
place stems from the 2004 budget resolution and makes it out of
order to consider legislation that would increase the deficit by more
than the amount of the deficit increase, if any, assumed in the
most recent adopted budget resolution.

From 1990 to 2002, under statutory PAYGO, any deficit in-
creases that were enacted were added together and put on PAYGO
scorecards. At the end of the year any balance on the scorecard
were supposed to be reduced by a sequestration. However, no se-
questration has ever occurred, despite large PAYGO balances.

The original purpose of this mechanism was to encourage Con-
gress and the president to only enact changes to mandatory spend-
ing and revenues which were offset so as not to increase the deficit.

Question: do you think that PAYGO point of order is an effective
budget enforcement tool? Or does it merely exist to replicate other
budget enforcement tools that already exist?

Chairman BERNANKE. Senator, these parliamentary rules that
have been set up to try to address deficits are very complex. And
as you point out, their efficacy depends on a lot of things, including
how willing the membership is to following through. I do not really
have the expertise to advise on the types of rules, PAYGO and oth-
ers, for addressing budget issues.



126

I think the comment I would like to make is one that I made in
my opening remarks, which is that I do think, from an economic
perspective, that it is useful not to focus too much on a single
measure of fiscal stability but to look at a number of different
measures including, for example, the share of total spending in the
economy and, very importantly, given the discussion we have had
today, the long-run solvency of the entitlement programs.

Senator BUNNING. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you, Chairman Bernanke.

Senator CONRAD. Thank you, Senator.

Again, Mr. Chairman, thank you very much. We promised to get
you out of here by noon. We will be good to our word and get you
out even a little earlier.

We very much appreciate the constructive testimony you have
provided here. And we hope people are listening about the need for
us to address these long-term imbalances, to take these challenges
on, and the sooner we do so the better.

Thank you, sir.

[Whereupon, at 11:50 a.m., the hearing was concluded.]
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Budget Committee on Long-Term Economic and Budget Challenges
The Honorable Ben Bernanke

January 18, 2007

The tax cuts passed by the Republican Congress and signed into law by
President Bush are working to stimulate our economy, increase
revenues, and reduce deficits. Since 2003, revenues have rebounded
sharply following several years of decline. Last year, revenues were up
almost 12 percent to $2.4 trillion, the highest in our Nation’s history.
Consequently, the budget deficit has been cut in half, several years
ahead of the President’s goal. This fiscal year is already off to a strong
start with revenues up 8% for the first quarter of FY 2007, including a
$40 billion budget surplus in the month of December.

While we are making progress in the right direction on the revenue side,
looming on the horizon is the potential for a crisis on the spending side
of the budget equation. I am talking about long-term entitlement
spending. If the rate of growth is left unchecked, spending on just three
entitlement programs — Social Security, Medicare and Medicaid — will
exceed the historical amount of all federal spending as a percentage of
GDP by 2030. In other words, those three programs will cost as much as
the entire federal government has historically cost the American
people—including things like national defense and education.

Clearly, this level of growth is unsustainable and threatens the economic
well being of not only our generation, but also our children and
grandchildren. It is our responsibility as a Congress to ensure the
solvency of these entitlement programs. I admit that there is no easy
answer; any solution will require us as a Congress to make tough
decisions. 1 am grateful to have Chairman Bernanke here before the
Budget Committee today to share his thoughts on the issue and how this
Congress might go about addressing it in a thoughtful, deliberate, and
effective manner.
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Chairman Bernanke subsequently submitted the following in response to a written
question received from Senator Frank R. Lautenberg in connection with the
January 18, 2007, hearing before the Committee on the Budget:

The tax gap, which was estimated by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) to be
$290 billion in Fiscal Year 2001 after IRS enforcement efforts, is a significant
amount of potential government revenues. Given that closing the tax gap
would reduce the deficit significantly, do you think the IRS is adequately
staffed to perform their enforcement duty?

The tax gap raises many difficult and important policy issues. Let me
comment on a few points the Congress may wish to consider.

All else equal, of course, greater tax compliance is to be preferred not only
for the additional revenue that it can generate but also as a mechanism for sustaining
compliance over time. Our systemn depends critically on self-enforcement. Most
taxpayers file complete and accurate tax returns because they are honest and they
think other people are filing honestly as well. If, however, taxpayers come to
believe that cheating is rampant, voluntary compliance will decline. Clearly, such a
development would be harmful to our comumon national goals. Devoting additional
resources to enforcement could help reduce the chances of a turn in this direction.

At the same time, though, increased enforcement activity could also impose
significant compliance costs, a substaatial fraction of which might well fall on
honest taxpayers who are already paying their fair share.

Determining the appropriate level of enforcement resources for the IRS
requires striking a balance between these benefits and costs. In striking that
balance, the Congress may wish to consider a variety of factors, including
competing federal funding priorities; the likely efficiency with which the IRS would
be able to target additional enforcement resources on non-compliant taxpayers and
avoid imposing additional costs on compliant ones; and the possible implications of
stepped-up enforcement for the taxpayer-service side of the IRS’s operations.
Achieving the right balance between the costs and benefits of greater enforcement is
an important and sensitive ongoing responsibility of the elected representatives of
the people. The Federal Reserve has no specific expertise in that area.






THE GROWING TAX GAP AND STRATEGIES
FOR REDUCING IT

TUESDAY, JANUARY 23, 2007

U.S. SENATE,
COMMITTEE ON THE BUDGET,
Washington, DC.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:05 a.m., in room
SD-608, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Kent Conrad, chair-
man of the committee, presiding.

Present: Senators Conrad, Wyden, Stabenow, Menendez, Lauten-
berg, Cardin, Sanders, Whitehouse, Gregg, Grassley, Allard, and
Crapo.

Staff present: Mary Naylor, Majority Staff Director, Scott Gudes,
Staff Director for the Minority.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN KENT CONRAD

Chairman CONRAD. The committee will come to order.

I want to thank members of their participation today. I want to
especially thank the panel that we have, really three excellent wit-
nesses. Robert McIntyre, the Director of Citizens for Tax Justice,
good to see you again. Michael Brostek, the Director of Tax Issues
for the Strategic Issues Team of the Government Accountability Of-
fice, the GAO. John Satagaj from the Small Business Tax Compli-
ance and Fairness coalition, welcome. Good to have you here, as
well.

The hearing this morning is about the growing tax gap and strat-
egies for reducing it. The tax gap, as we all know, is the difference
between what is owed and what is actually being paid. And we now
know that, according to the Revenue Service, the tax gap is run-
ning at about $350 billion a year. Let me repeat that. The tax gap
is estimated by the Revenue Service to be $350 billion a year.

(131)
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Real Revenues Have Experienced
Virtually No Growth Since 2000
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That is money that should be in the coffers of the Federal Gov-
ernment, according to existing tax law. We are not talking about
a tax increase here. We are not talking about increasing any rate.
We are talking about collecting the money that is due and owed
under the current law.

The tax gap, I believe, is unfair to the vast majority of taxpayers
who pay what they owe. We know that the vast majority of Ameri-
cans do pay their taxes. The vast majority of companies pay what
they owe. But we have a growing number of both individuals and
companies that do not.

Unfortunately, our Nation’s budget picture is not good. As we see
on the chart, last year the deficit was $248 billion but the debt rose
by $546 billion.

While increased spending has contributed to the deficit and debt,
the dramatic decline in revenues has been an even larger factor.
In fact, real revenues—that is adjusted for inflation—have experi-
enced little growth since 2000, as we see in this chart. It is true,
and my colleague will perhaps reference, that the last several years
we have seen healthy growth in revenues. But if we go back to
2000, we see that we are only now getting back to the revenue base
we had then.

That brings us to our hearing today on the tax gap. The growth
of the tax gap is one of the factors contributing to the revenue drop.
According to the IRS’s latest estimate, the tax gap in 2001 was
$345 billion for that year alone. To put a $345 billion tax gap in
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some perspective, considered that it is almost $100 billion larger
than the size of the entire deficit in 2006.

IRS Estimates $345 Billion Annual Tax Gap

Gross Tax Gap
$345B

Source: IRS estimate of 2001 tax gap, February, 2006

While we will never be able to close the tax gap entirely—and
make no mistake, we understand we are not going to collect all
$345 billion a year, there is always going to be some tax gap—but
it is clear that much more can and should be done.
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Size of Tax Gap Compared to
Size of Projected Deficit in 2006
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In testimony before this committee, the IRS Commissioner stated
“You can clearly reduce the tax gap $50 billion to $100 billion a
year without changing the way the Government interacts with its
citizenry.” In other words, we can close a considerable amount of
the gap without resorting to draconian or intrusive measures.
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IRS Commissioner Says Tax Gap
Can Be Reduced $50-100 Billion

“...[Y]ou can clearly reduce [the tax gap]
by $50 or $100 billion, without changing
the way the government interacts with
its citizenry.”

—IRS Commissioner Mark Everson
Testimony before Senate Budget Committee
February 15, 2006

It is important to remember that the added burden placed on
taxpayers from the tax gap is very real. In her 2006 annual report
to Congress, the National Taxpayer Advocate wrote, and I quote,
“Compliant taxpayers pay a great deal of money each year to sub-
sidize noncompliance by others. Each household was effectively as-
sessed an average surtax of about $2,680 to subsidize noncompli-
ance in 2001. That is not a burden we should expect our Nation’s
taxpayers to bear lightly.”
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National Taxpayer Advocate Finds
Tax Gap Adding More Than $2,000 to
Average Household Tax Bill

“Compliant taxpayers pay a great deal of money
each year to subsidize noncompliance by
others. ... [E]Jach household was effectively
assessed an average ‘surtax’ of about $2,680 to
subsidize noncompliance [in 2001]. That is not
a burden we should expect our nation’s
taxpayers to bear lightly.”

—National Taxpayer Advocate Nina E. Olsor
2006 Annual Report to Congress
January 9, 2007

To close the tax gap, we need to enhance reporting and with-
holding requirements for certain taxpayers. We know that taxpayer
compliance improves dramatically with increased reporting and
withholding. For example, according to the revenue service, for in-
come that is subject to substantial reporting and withholding re-
quirements such as wages and salaries, we see a 99 percent compli-
ance rate. When reporting requirements are in place we see a 91
percent compliance rate. But when there is neither, we see a sharp
drop in the compliance rate, falling to less than 50 percent.
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Taxpayer Compliance Improves
Dramatically with Increased
Reporting and Withholding
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The other way to close the tax gap is through better enforcement
by the IRS. In his testimony before the Budget Committee last
year, the IRS Commissioner noted that the IRS yields approxi-
mately $4 in revenue for every additional dollar spent on enforce-
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ment. We simply cannot bring the budget back to balance by look-
ing only at spending, although he must certainly do that.

IRS Commissioner Everson Projects
4-to1 Return on IRS Enforcement

“The IRS yields approximately four
dollars in direct revenue for every
additional dollar spent in its
enforcement efforts.”

—IRS Commissioner Mark Everson
Testimony before Senate Budget Committee
February 15, 2006

In my judgment, we cannot do it solely on the spending side even
with entitlement reform which is absolutely required. There is also
going to have to be additional revenue. And I would strongly prefer
that instead of talking about tax increases, that before we start
talking about tax increases for anyone, we aggressively go after
this tax gap. It is only fair and, I think, right.

With that, I turn to my colleague, Senator Gregg.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR JUDD GREGG

Senator GREGG. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I want to con-
gratulate you. These first series of hearings that you have held
have really been right on and they have been addressing issues
which are critical to our Nation’s economic health and social health
and our cultural health. This is another one in that series and I
thank you for holding this hearing.

This has been an issue that you have talked about a lot over the
years. And in response actually to your concerns in the last budget
which we put together—which you regrettably did not vote for, and
I cannot understand why—we did put in the reserve fund in order
to fund the IRS to assist them in collecting more money to get
some of those revenues back that you have reflected in your state-
ments.

A(Iild so I am in total agreement that this is a critical area of
need.

I would also like to cite the fact that I do disagree with your
characterization of revenues as they are presently coming in. I
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want to congratulate the former chairman of the Finance Com-
mittee who is with us today and a member of this committee, for
having put in place a tax law which has allowed us to generate
massive increase in revenues as a result of economic activity in this
country.

Over the last 3 years, we have seen some of the biggest revenue
growths in the history of the Nation. Historically the Federal Gov-
ernment has taken 18.2 percent of the Gross National Product in
revenue. We are now over that number. We are up to about 18.5
percent of Gross National Product. So we are generating more reve-
nues than we have historically generated. Obviously, not enough to
close the gap because spending is above where it should be.

But in addition, the tax laws under the leadership of Senator
Grassley have become more progressive. The top 20 percent of
American taxpayers today on the income tax side bear about 85
percent of the tax burden. Under the Clinton years they bore about
82 percent of the tax burden. The bottom 40 percent of income
earners in this country today do not pay taxes but they receive in-
come back under the Earned Income Tax Credit and other benefits
which actually is double what they received during the years of the
Clinton Administration.

So we actually have a more progressive system while generating
more revenues. That is the good news. I think it is because we
have incentivized the market. We have said that we are going to
say to people who are job creators, we are going to give you an in-
centive to go and create jobs by being more productive by having
a reasonable tax rate on capital formation.

Obviously a difference of opinion there, but I believe—I wanted
to make the point that I wanted to make relative to the fact that
revenues are up.

But they could be up further through the collection of taxes that
are presently owed. That brings us to this hearing. It is an issue
which is a difficult issue. We can increase IRS support and the
IRS, in return for that, says they can get us more revenues, maybe
somewhere between $50 billion and $100 billion can be collected
simply by having a more aggressive stance from the Internal Rev-
enue Service and giving them the funds to accomplish that.

But that does not really get to the underlying issue which is the
tax gap that is over $350 billion or in that range, which is a big
number. And that really comes back to the structure of the tax
laws itself, in my humble opinion. We have a tax law that is in-
credibly complex, massive in size, nobody understands it. After fin-
ishing law school I went back to school for 3 years and got a grad-
uate degree in tax policy and taxation, and I do not do my own
taxes because it is too complex. It is just not a system that encour-
ages efficiency.

A lot of this failure to comply is not intentional. It is simply that
the laws are so complex. Some of it is intentional, obviously, there
is an underground economy. But a lot of it is just simply that the
law is so complex.

So we need to take another look at our tax structure and come
up with something that is more manageable, more understandable,
and therefore more enforceable. I think the Chairman has pointed
out that when you have an enforcement mechanism which is easily
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put in place, such as a payroll tax deduction, you get a high per-
centage of compliance. But when you do not have that enforcement
mechanism because you have an economy that is outside of that ca-
p}?dtl)(’i to collect, you do not get the percentage of participation you
should.

So I think we need to look at tax systems which will allow us
to get a better percentage of return for taxes that are owed. And
that is something I hope we will discuss in this hearing.

But in any event, I certainly appreciate the Senator holding this
hearing and I look forward to hearing from our witnesses.

Chairman CONRAD. Thank you, Senator.

We will go to the witnesses now. Mr. McIntyre, welcome. It is
good to have you before the committee once again. Please proceed.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT S. McINTYRE, DIRECTOR, CITIZENS
FOR TAX JUSTICE

Mr. MCINTYRE. Thank you.

Senator Conrad and members of the Budget Committee, I am
Bob McIntyre and I direct Citizens for Tax Justice, which is a tax
policy and research group that fights for a fair tax system for mid-
dle income families all over the country, Federal, State and local.
I have been doing this for 30 years.

Today we are talking about something that is an important piece
of our tax puzzle, and that is the fact that we are not collecting
taxes from a lot of people who should be paying them. You can
look, as Senator Conrad pointed out at how serious our budget def-
icit problem is, how much we have been borrowing. In fact, over
the last 5 years we have funded 25 percent of our Federal budget
outside of Social Security with borrowed money, which is just stag-
gﬁring. And that was after balanced budgets in the years before
that.

We know why that has happened. Income tax revenues have
gone through the floor. They were more than 10 percent of the
GDP in fiscal 2000. They have averaged 7.3 percent over the last
5 years, which is a 28 percent drop.

Now we have had a minor improvement lately. Income taxes are
only 25 percent below where they were in fiscal 2000. That is the
problem. Now we are not going to solve that problem while George
Bush is president because he would veto any attempt to repeal his
tax cuts. We know that.

But Republicans and Democrats and President Bush, a Repub-
lican, must be able to agree that ought to collect the taxes that are
due, that people who are cheating on their taxes should not be al-
lowed to do so. If we cannot agree on that, well, my.

So what can we do? Let us talk about the tax gap, the nature
of it. The IRS has a figure. It is not a very reliable figure. It is
based on very old data or very incomplete research. They say the
net figure is about $300 billion after they have collected $50 billion
or so from catching people.

But it is bigger than that, in my view, because they do not count
all of this offshore tax dodging because they do not know about it.
They do not count all of these corporate tax sheltering deals be-
cause they do not know about them or do not know enough about
them to measure. So it is really an even bigger figure than that.
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Those are the things that are doing the most damage right now to
our tax system, in my view. And that is what my written testimony
foguses on, and that is what I want to focus on in my few minutes
today.

As Senator Conrad pointed out, we have a country of honest
wage earners. They pay their taxes. Maybe not because they are
morally superior but maybe because their income is known to the
IRS. There is information reporting, there is withholding, and that
works.

But when you get to the kinds of income that the IRS does not
know about, whether it is capital gains or business profits that
there is no paper trail that goes to the IRS, then we have a prob-
lem. The people who have these kinds of income are not all a bunch
of crooks. Some are. But they all need help. They need our help to
pay their taxes honestly and be good patriotic Americans, like I am
sure they all want to be.

So how can we help them? Well, we need to get rid of the secrecy
as much as possible so that there is a paper trail to the IRS, so
that the IRS knows about these kinds of income. You can do some
of it with 1099s. You can do some of it with agreements with other
countries, which is a huge problem, so we get information from
them. We have a long list in our testimony of proposals that get
into that area.

We also need to clarify the law. We have laws against most of
these offshore tax cheating activities. But arguably they are not
completely clear. And if you are a lawyer, everything is arguable.
I went to law school, too.

We need to make it completely clear so that people do not have
a leg to stand on when they get into these deals. That means that
the people who are advising them, the lawyers, the accountants,
the investment bankers, will be in serious trouble if they help them
out in these schemes. So clarification is a good thing.

Penalties would also be a good thing. I know we have been in-
creasing penalties. They are obviously not high enough because the
chances of being caught are so low. Penalties on the advisers, even
more penalties, would be a good idea.

Finally, we need to give the IRS the resources it needs. The IRS
has been cut back and cut back, so now the number of people who
are devoted to examinations are down by almost one-third since 10
years ago. That is a huge problem.

Let me just say that this may sound easy and I am implying it
is easy, that everybody ought to agree. But there is a lobby that
does not agree and they have a lot of power. You could argue that
the House Ways and Means Committee for the past 6 years has
been a wholly owned subsidiary of the major accounting firms.
Every attempt by the Senate to crack down on cheating has been
resisted in the House up until now. I do not think that is going to
be the case anymore.

But there is an organized Tax Cheaters Lobby. It is financed by
the banks, the accounting firms, and the lawyers who offer this
kind of advice. They have front groups. One of them is called the
Center for Freedom and Prosperity, a grandiose title. But I prefer
to call them all Tax Cheaters Lobby because that is more intel-
ligible.
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Fortunately, there are a lot of people, in the Senate, in par-
ticular, who have been leading the fight in the other direction, and
that is the good news. Carl Levin and Norm Coleman over at the
Investigations Subcommittee. Byron Dorgan, your colleague from
North Dakota who has been fighting against corporate and offshore
cheating since he came to Congress. Senator Grassley, who as Sen-
ate Finance Committee Chairman has helped exposed some of
these terrible abuses, and proposed legislation—and occasionally
adopted legislation—to try to crack down on it.

So these are the people you should be looking to once you give
them the mandate do something about it.

In my testimony, I have a lot of details about going after offshore
tax evasion.

There are a lot of little things you can do and there are two big
ones. One big one is to get the tax haven countries to disclose what
is going on with our citizens. The only way you are going to do that
is to have pressure on them so that, for example, if they do not dis-
close, our banks cannot talk to them, cannot send any money to
them. They are out. They have to disclose.

The Cayman Islands, by the way, is worried about that enough
that it is starting to think about giving us some serious disclosure.
The problem in the world is if you have just one tax haven country,
you are up the creek because that is where the money will go. So
we need to go after them all. And we need to get the European
countries to work with us on this. They are dying to do it because
they have the same problem we do.

We see some of our celebrities moving their money offshore. The
Levin-Coleman hearings found three people that were moving bil-
lions of dollars offshore. Well, the British have the same problem.
The Rolling Stones and Bono have moved their song writing royal-
ties to the Netherlands, which does not tax royalties. Their tax rate
on billions of pounds has been 2 percent. So we need to work with
the rest of the world on this.

I see my time is up but finally, the IRS. If you could phase in
a doubling of their enforcement budget over the next five or 6
years, the returns would be enormous and it would get us back on
the right path.

Maybe you need to change the budget rules. After all, if the IRS
was treated like any other agency, it would have offsetting receipts.
OK, we spent $11 billion, our offsetting receipts were $2.2 trillion—
do you see what I am saying?

Why do they not get treated that way? The National Park Serv-
ice gets to count the fees for going in to the parks? The National
Taxpayer Advocate has suggested something along these lines.
Really, it is kind of wacky that you should freeze the IRS budget
when it costs you 10 times or 15 times what every budget cut that
you put in saves.

So those are my recommendations. I have a long piece of written
testimony and I thank you for the opportunity to be here. And I
am sorry I went over a minute.

[The prepared statement of Mr. McIntyre follows:]
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I'm Robert McIntyre, director of Citizens for Tax Justice. Founded in 1979, CT] is a nonprofit
tax policy research and advocacy group that fights for fair and adequate taxes at the federal,
state and local levels. | appreciate the opportunity to appear before the Budget Committee
today, to discuss the federal “tax gap” — a polite word for tax cheating that is costing honest
taxpayers hundreds of billions of dollars every year.

One impetus for this hearing, | assume, isthe  Non-Social Security Receipts & Spending,

need‘to address our government’s huge budget Fiscal 2000 to Fiscal 2006
deficits. From fiscal 2002 through 2006, on- Sbilions % of
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staggering 25 percent of all non-Social Security 2003 1265 1,794 529 205%
outlays were financed with borrowed money. 2004 L5 1 S8 201%
. 2005 1,569 2071 501 242%
The largest cause of these enormous deficits 2006 1,798 2232 43 194%
has been the remarkable drop in personal income 2004 §-2414  250%
taxes, which fell from 10.1 percent of the gross ~ Addendum: Social Security {oft-budge}
domestic product in fiscal 2000 to an average of ""’:’:’8'; s"';“;';g s:’:’;
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as a share of the GDP in 55 years, Obviously, this m m :g 1;:
. . . +
sharp decline in personal income tax revenues 20020 et

stems mostly from the huge tax cuts enacted
during the Bush administration. Equally obviously,
President Bush will block any attempt to scale back his tax
cut program so long as he remains in the White House.
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But there is a way to begin to address our revenue Years GDP 2000 19520m
shortfall that perhaps Democrats and Republicans can agree 2000  $9784 10.1% - 1
. f 2000 %72 96% 5% 2
upon: collect ta.xes that are !egally f:lue. but that go unpaid W02 855 19%  o1% 26
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the most important things. In particular, it only touches on  soures:Offce of Management and Budget US.

the widespread tax evasion and avoidance by corporations Y fonalBudgel Offce

and wealthy individuals — often using offshore tax-sheltering schemes. it's that part of the tax

gap that | want to focus on particularly in my testimony today. (A 2005 paper that goes into

the background of these issues at greater length is available on our web site at

www.ctj.org/pdffepishel.pdf.)
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When it comes to paying taxes, wage-earners, as we know, are generally very honest.
That’s not because of any inherent morai superiority, but rather because income and
employment taxes are collected or withheld as wages are earned. Compliance is also quite
good in the case of interest and dividends, because :3i intormation reporting. In contrast,
those who earn other kinds of non-wage income or have the means to purchase high-priced,
albeit shady tax advice have vast opportunities to avoid or evade taxes. And sadly, many of
them take advantage of those opportunities. These are the Americans who need help in
complying with their tax responsibilities.

Far too many corporations, investors and business owners are tempted to understate their
gross business receipts and/or overstate their expenses, move their investments or profits
offshore, fail to report their capital gains accurately, and so forth. Not all succumb, of course.
Even for those who do, the actual means for making income disappear for tax purposes is
probably often a mystery. That doesn’t absolve the tax cheats and aggressive avoiders from
blame: they're the demand side of the equation. But without the supply side, the ethically-
challenged lawyers, accountants and banks that set up the shelters, the demand would go
unrequited.

The majority of us who honestly pay our taxes have a major stake in getting the tax
dodgers to ante up — hundreds of billions of dollars a year, in fact, although no one knows
the exact amount for sure. We probably can't collect all of that, but IRS Commissioner Mark
Everson indicated last year that $50-100 billion a year in additional revenues could be fairly
easily collected from tax cheats if the IRS had the resources and the tools.

Everson's estimate may be too modest, given what he’s apparently not counting. Tax
experts Joseph Guttentag and Reuvan Avi-Yonah point out that “no one, including the IRS, has
a good estimate of the size of the [United States'} international tax gap,” since keeping these
kinds of illegal offshore schemes from being discovered by the IRS is the key to making them
work. Guttentag and Avi-Yonah suggest that $50 billion a year is a reasonable guess about the
level of U.S. tax evasion in the international area that could be “eliminated overnight” with the
right policy changes, and note that IRS consultant Jack Blum thinks upwards of $70 billion a
year is more likely.'

Proposals for Improved Enforcement

With all this money at stake, what do we need to do to collect some of it?

Well, as much as possible, we need to lift the veil of secrecy about what the tax evaders are
doing. We need to darify or change the tax laws to make tax-evasion schemes indefensible
from a legal standpoint. We need to find further ways to deter the tax-evasion advisors and
financial firms that facilitate tax cheating. Perhaps most important, we need to give the IRS the
resources to enforce the laws.

To be sure, these will not be easy tasks to accomplish. There are well-organized, well-
financed lobbying organizations that will fight such reforms — led by the accounting firms,
banks and lawyers that now make billions of dollars a year facilitating tax evasion and
avoidance. But there are also leaders in Congress who have taken on the Tax Cheaters Lobby.
in the Senate, the good guys include Carl Levin and Norm Coleman, who have been
instrumental in exposing some of the worst tax-sheltering activities by the big accounting
firms; Byron Dorgan, who has fought against corporate offshore sheltering for decades; and

"Joseph Guttentag and Reuben Avi-Yonah, “Closing the international tax gap,” Bridging the Tax Gap, Economic Policy
Institute, 2005, pp. 101 & 107.
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Charles Grassley, who as Senate Finance Committee Chairman held some excellent hearings on
tax evasion and sponsored excellent legislation to curb egregious cheating.
Here are some specific suggestions (which are not meant to be comprehensive):

A. Crack down on Offshore Income Shifting and Non-Reporting:

Last year’s Levin-Coleman hearings highlighted how serious this problem is by showing how
three high-profile American tax cheats evaded taxes on billions of dollars in income through
offshore tax dodges. This is a worldwide concern, not just one for the United States, as we
recently learned from news stories about how the Rolling Stones and U-2's Bono have shifted
their song-writing profits out of the United Kingdom to dodge billions of pounds in taxes. So,
we and other nations need to cooperate to force comprehensive sharing of information among
countries, especially from tax havens. The Tax Cheaters Lobby is especially afraid of this kind
of reform, because offshore hiding is at the heart of many tax evasion schemes. Many foreign
governments would welcome a cooperative crackdown on international bank secrecy ~ in
fact, the U.S. was leading an effort to achieve that until the Bush administration pulled the
plug on such cooperation soon after it took office in 2001.

To address offshore tax cheating, Senators Levin and Coleman have proposed the following
(quoted from their 2006 report):

1. Presumption of Control. U.S. tax, securities, and anti-money laundering laws should include
a presumption that offshore trusts and shell corporations are under the control of the U.S.
persons supplying or directing the use of the offshore assets, where those trusts or shell
corporations are located in a jurisdiction designated as a tax haven by the U.S, Treasury
Secretary.

2. Disclosure of U.S. Stock Holdings. U.S. publicly traded corporations should be required to
disclose in their SEC filings company stock held by an offshore trust or shell corporation related
to a company director, officer, or large shareholder, even if the offshore entity is allegedly
independent. Corporate insiders should be required to make the same disclosure in their SEC
filings.

3. Offshore Entities as Affiliates. An offshore trust or shell corporation related to a director,
officer, or farge shareholder of a U.S. publicly traded corporation should be required to be
treated as an affiliate of that corporation, even if the offshore entity is allegedly independent.
4. 1099 Reporting. Congress and the IRS should make it clear that a U.S. financial institution
that opens an account for a foreign trust or shell corporation and determines, as part of its
anti-money laundering duties, that the beneficial owner of the account is a U.S. taxpayer, must
file a 1099 form with respect to that beneficial owner.

5. Real Estate and Personal Property. Loans that are treated as trust distributions under U.S.
tax law should be expanded to include, not just cash and securities as under present law, but
also loans of real estate and personal property of any kind including artwork, furnishings and
jewelry. Receipt of cash or other property from a foreign trust, other than in an exchange for
fair market value, should also result in treatment of the U.S. person as a U.S. beneficiary.

6. Hedge Fund AML Duties. The Treasury Secretary should finalize a proposed regulation
requiring hedge funds to establish anti-money laundering programs and report suspicious
transactions to U.S. law enforcement. This regulation should apply to foreign-based hedge
funds that are affiliated with U.S, hedge funds and invest in the United States.

7. Stock Option-Annuity Swaps. Congress and the [RS should make it clear that taxes on stock
option compensation cannot be avoided or deferred by exchanging stock options for other
assets of equivalent value such as private annuities.
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8. Sanctions on Uncooperative Tax Havens. Congress should authorize the Treasury Secretary
to identify tax havens that do not cooperate with U.S. tax enforcement efforts and eliminate
U.S. tax benefits for income attributed to those jurisdictions.”

To the Levin-Coleman reform list in the international area can be added the following:

9. Not only deny all deductions for transfers to tax havens that refuse to disclose activity
by U.S. residents automatically, but also make it illegal for U.S. financial companies to
deal with uncooperating tax havens. Some argue that we would need to get every other
non-tax-haven real country on board with this type of proposal, or otherwise people will
route their transactions through real countries into the tax havens. But as noted, other
countries are likely to be eager to join us in this effort. In fact, the OECD’s new model
treaty envisions this result.

10. Repeal so-called “deferral” of taxes on the profits eamed by American-owned foreign
corporations. This reform was proposed by President Kennedy back in the early 1960s and
by John Kerry in his 2004 presidential campaign. “Deferral,” which is really closer to
exemption of income that is styled as foreign, is at the heart of offshore tax avoidance.
People and companies that actually have overseas activities and pay taxes on them abroad
have little to fear from the end of deferral because they get a tax credit for the foreign
income taxes they pay. But without deferral, schemes that allow people and companies to
artificially shift U.S. profits offshore will largely be stymied. As a bonus, American
companies would no longer have a tax incentive to move U.S. jobs to low-tax foreign
countries.

11. Replace our current “transfer pricing” system of allocating corporate profits among
jurisdictions with a more easily enforceable formula approach. Currently, the IRS has the
impossible task of trying to police billions of imputed intracompany transactions in order
to allocate profits among countries. A simpler formula approach, already used by most
American states and long promoted by Sen. Byron Dorgan, holds out the potential for
putting serious curbs on what has developed into a major tax evasion/avoidance industry.
12. Adopt the Joint Committee on Taxation Staff Proposals Regarding Deductions and
Credits with Respect to Untimely Returns of Nonresident Aliens and Foreign
Corporations. This proposal would reverse a federal court decision (currently on appeal)
that aliows foreign corporations doing business in the United States to avoid filing
required tax returns. The change would impose potentially severe penalties on such
corporations that fail to file.

13. Adopt the Joint Committee on Taxation Staff Proposals Regarding Offshore Earnings
Stripping. This proposal would increase disclosure and eliminate an unwarranted “safe-
harbor” rule that allows corporations to shift U.S. profits offshore. it would also discourage
corporate “inversions” into paper foreign corporations.

B. Require Information Reporting on Capital Gains.

Right now, small investors in mutual funds get all their capital gains reported, but better-off
investors who work through stockbrokers do not. As a result, untold billions of dolars in
capital gains go unreported and untaxed. A recent report to Senator Grassley by the Joint
Committee on Taxation staff spelled out how such reporting could work, not only for stock

25enate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs, Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations, Tax
Haven Abuses: the Enablers, the Tools, and Secrecy, http/hsgac.senate.gov/_files/taxhavenabuses8106final.pdf, Aug.
1, 2006, p. 10.
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capital gains but also for capital gains in auction sales of collectibles and similar items.?

C. Consider Enacting a Tough “Economic Substance” Rule.

Since the 1940s, courts have sometimes been willing to disallow tax-shelter schemes if they
lack “economic substance.” But what exactly “economic substance” means has never been
completely clear. Senator Grassley has proposed to clarify and codify the economic substance
rule. We support such as effort as long as the rule is defined very strictly: If tax avoidance is
the primary purpose of a scheme, then it should be disallowed. In contrast, Senator Grassley's
bill requires only a “substantial” non-tax purpose (among other important restrictions).*

D. Clarify the Law Governing Self-employment Taxes on Subchapter S Corporation Owners.
Sole proprietors and active partners are generally subject to self-employment taxes on all of
their earnings. But many Subchapter S corporation owners are taking advantage of ambiguity
in the IRS regulations to claim that most of their earnings are exempt from self-employment
tax. The same recent report by the Joint Committee on Taxation staff cited in “B” above spells
out how the rules could be changed to close this scandalous loophole®

E. Help Small Businesses Comply Through Expanded 1099 Information Reporting.
According to the GAQ, independent contractors report 97 percent of the income that appears
on information returns, while contractors that do not receive these returns report only 83
percent of income. GAO also notes that payments made by businesses to corporations for
services are generally not required to be reported on information returns, and that the
Taxpayer Advocate Service supports requiring information reporting on payments made to
corporations.® Expanding such reporting would almost certainly help improve small business
compliance.

F. Continue to Increase Penalties on Tax-Evasion Facilitators.

Those who assist tax evasion in the (sadly reasonable) hope that they will not be caught should
be penalized very severely when they are apprehended. Further increases in penalties might
help deter bad behavior.

G. Tax Simplification.

A simpler tax code, in which the IRS is not put in charge of dozens of non-tax related
programs, would free up the IRS to better do its real job: collect taxes fairly and accurately. It
would also make it much easier for well-intentioned taxpayers to comply with the law, and
make it harder for those not so inclined to evade taxes.

3Joint Committee on Taxation, “Additional Options to Improve Tax Compliance,” Aug. 3, 2006.

“In general, Sen. Grassley's economic substance reform “provides that a transaction has economic substance (and thus
satisfies the economic substance doctrine) only if the taxpayer establishes that (1) the transaction changes in a
meaningful way (apart from Federal income tax consequences) the taxpayer's economic position, and {2) the taxpayer
has a substantial non-tax purpose for entering into such trans-action and the transaction is a reasonable means of
accomplishing such purpose.” It goes on to further define the meaning of this general rule. Senate Report 108-11,
“CARE Act 0f 2003,” S. 476, Feb. 27, 2003, pp. 78-79.

®Joint Committee on Taxation, “Additional Options to improve Tax Compliance,” Aug. 3, 2006.

GAQ, “Testimony Before the Subcommittee on Taxation and IRS Oversight, Committee on Finance, U.S. Senate,” July
26, 2006.
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H. Sharply Increase IRS Funding.
This may be the most important step of all.

In recent years, the IRS has gotten a lot of publicity for its crackdown on some particularly
egregious tax evasion activities, including the Walter Anderson case and the so-called “Son of
BOSS” tax dodge — one of the many complicated shelters marketed by major accounting
firms. These and other shocking exposes have helped raise public ire against tax cheats, so
much so that President Bush even bragged in his fiscal 2006 budget proposal that he was
proposing a big increase in IRS enforcement funding.

So have we turned the corner on combating tax evasion by corporations and the weaithy?
Hardly. Consider how severely the IRS’s ability to curb tax sheltering and evasion — or even to
know how much is occurring — has been reduced over the past decade by Congress:

= From 1994 to the present, the overall IRS budget has been slashed by more than a fifth,
both as a share of the economy and in terms of the number of IRS employees compared
to the total U.S. population.
In the enforcement area, the cutbacks have been even more severe. The Inspector
General for Tax Administration reported that the IRS’s “enforcement staff declined from
25,000 at the beginning of FY 1996 to 16,000 at the end of FY 2003, a 36 percent
decrease.”
IRS audit rates, of both businesses and individuals, declined precipitously, especially for
upper-income tax returns. In 1996, the IRS audited 210,000 returns of people reporting
more than $100,000 in income. By 2001, the number had fallen to only 92,000 — even
as the number of returns with incomes above $100,000 jumped by 80 percent.
In the mid-nineties, a misled Congress even prohibited the IRS from doing any research
on tax evasion.

Very recently, the IRS has finally been permitted to do some limited research on tax
evasion, but that research remains inadequate. Audit rates have begun to climb again, but
they’re still well below where they were a decade ago. Although a small portion of the IRS’s
resources has been moved away from taxpayer assistance and into enforcement, the IRS's
enforcement staff remains more than a third below what it was a decade ago, despite the
explosion in aggressive tax shelters and outright fraud since then. As for the President’s
supposed increases in the IRS budget, they haven't been enough even to keep up with wage
growth.

The results of these cutbacks have been illustrated not just in the IRS's failures to control
tax evasion, but even in some of its ostensible successes. For example, last September, the IRS
settled a major transfer-pricing/intangible-property case with GlaxoSmithKline, in which the
British-based drug company agreed to pay $3.4 billion in back taxes covering the 1989-2005
period.” This was trumpeted as the biggest single tax settlement in history. The bad news,
however, as the Washington Post reported, is that “Glaxo estimated that the matter could have
cost it as much as $15 billion.” As Senator Byron Dorgan pointed out (in the Post story), “One
of the messages” from the Glaxo settlement “might be that you can settle for substantially less
than you allegedly owe.”

7“Glaxo to Settle Tax Dispute With IRS Over U.S. Unit for $3.4 Billion,” by Robert Guy Matthews and Jeanne Whalen,
The Wall Street Journal, September 12, 2006.

8“Glaxo To Pay IRS $3.4 Billion, Tax Settlement s Biggest in Agency’s History,” by David S. Hilzenrath, The Washington
Post, Sept. 12, 2006.
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Likewise, the New York Times reported on January 17, 2007 that a survey of 50 IRS
corporate auditors found that every one felt that “large companies were being allowed to pay
far less than they owed” in taxes due to insufficient IRS resources to fully pursue cases. “It’s
catch and release,” one auditor told the Times, about how little tax-cheating corporations were
forced to pay when their illegal activities are detected. “They are giving away the store,”
another auditor complained.’

So all of the substantive changes outlined earlier (and others not mentioned) are
important. But none of them will do the trick unless we have enough tax police to use the
disclosure and enforce the laws. So the most essential step that needs to be taken is simply to
give the IRS more resources.

Just to return to the staffing levels of a decade ago would require a 50 percent increase in
the IRS enforcement budget. Given the increase in tax sheltering since then, phasing in a
doubling of the resources devoted to tax enforcement would not be an unreasonable goal.
Fortunately, we don’t have to worry about the cost. On the contrary, increasing the IRS budget
is one kind of government spending that actually increases revenues.

With additional funding, the IRS could devote more resources to international tax evasion,
partnership document matching, capital gains under-reporting, serious research and an array
of other critical enforcement activities. According to IRS estimates, it could collect from $5 to
more than $30 for every dollar spent on improved enforcement.' if enforcement changes
deter people and companies from even attempting abusive tax sheltering activities, then the
rate of return could be even higher.

In this light, it might be appropriate to change the congressional budget rules as they
apply to the IRS. After all, if IRS were treated like other agencies, its “offsetting receipts”
would make its $11 billion budget appear to be a negative $2.2 trillion! Given that, the
National Taxpayer Advocate proposes rethinking the IRS’s budget treatment in her 2006
annual report to Congress."!

Conclusion

The stakes in tax evasion are very high, and the forces in favor of maintaining the status
quo are well-financed and very politically connected. But it’s our money the tax cheats are
stealing. On behalf of honest taxpayers, CTJ calls on federal lawmakers do something about it.

Spgents Say Fast Audits Hurt LR.S.,” by David Cay Johnston, The New York Times, Jan. 17, 2007.

1%According to the National Taxpayer's Advocate, “On a budget of about $10.6 billion, the IRS currently collects about
$2.24 willion a year. That translates to an average retum-on-investment {RO!) of about 210:1. . . . [Fjormer
Commissioner Rossotti reported the IRS was receiving sufficient resources to work only 40 percent of some 4.5 million
accounts receivable cases each year. IRS research estimated that with an additional $296.4 million, the agency could
collect $9.47 billion, That translates to a return on investment of 32:1.” National Taxpayer Advacate’s 2006 Annual Report
to Congress, Dec. 31, 2006, pp. 442 & 444,

Y“The National Taxpayer Advocate makes the following recommendations: Congress should consider revising its
budget rules in a manner that allows the budget and appropriations committees to make ajudgment about the answer
to the question: ‘What level of funding will maximize tax compliance, particularly voluntarily compliance, with our
nation’s tax laws, with due regard for protecting taxpayer rights and minimizing taxpayer burden?' and then set the
IRS funding level accordingly, without regard to spending caps.” National Taxpayer Advocate's 2006 Annual Report to
Congress, Dec. 31, 2006, p. 445.

Chairman CONRAD. Thank you very much for your testimony.

Mr. Brostek, welcome. I should indicate once again, Mr. Brostek
is with the General Accounting Office, who have studied this issue
in some detail. We welcome you to the committee.
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STATEMENT OF MICHAEL BROSTEK, DIRECTOR, TAX ISSUES,
STRATEGIC ISSUES TEAM, GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY
OFFICE

Mr. BROSTEK. Thank you, very much.

Chairman Conrad, Senator Gregg, and members of the com-
mittee, I am pleased to participate in the committee’s hearing
today on approaches to reducing the tax gap.

My statement discusses the need for multiple approaches to suc-
cessfully reduce the tax gap, including the importance of quality
service to taxpayers and then covers potential reductions in the tax
gap that could ensue from simplifying or reforming the tax code,
providing IRS more tools to deal with noncompliance, and dedi-
cating more resources to enforcement.

Before I address the approaches for reducing the tax gap, per-
haps it would be useful to explain a little more about what the tax
gap entails. The tax gap, as was mentioned, is the difference be-
tween the tax amounts that taxpayers voluntarily and timely pay
and what they should pay under the law. The tax gap covers the
individual and corporate income taxes, employment taxes, estate
taxes and excise taxes. Individual income taxes have the largest es-
timated gap, about $244 billion out of the total gross gap of $345
billion estimated by IRS for tax year 2001.

For each type of tax there can be three different kinds of non-
compliance: under reporting of income, under payment of taxes
that are owed, and non-filing of returns. Of these, under reporting
of income is by far the largest noncompliance issue with an esti-
mated $285 billion of the total gap attributed to under reporting
of income.

Under reporting of income includes not only the direct failure to
report income that was earned, but also such things as over claim-
ing deductions and credits that offset income.

In summary, the tax gap is a persistent problem and, as the say-
ing goes, we will keep on getting the same result—an unacceptable
gap—if we keep on doing the same things. We need to try new ap-
proaches. We need to make greater use of current effective ap-
proaches.

While simplification, more tools, and more resources all have the
potential to help reduce the tax gap, using multiple approaches is
likely to be the best strategy. No one strategy is likely to fully and
cost-effectively reduce the tax gap, for example because the gap has
multiple causes, spans differing types of taxes, and differing types
of taxpayers.

Providing quality service is a necessary foundation to achieving
high levels of compliance. IRS taxpayer services includes such
things as education and outreach programs, simplifying tax proc-
esses, and revising forms and publications to make them electroni-
cally accessible and more easily understood by the taxpayers. Qual-
ity services can help those who wish to comply but do not under-
stand their obligations, and such services are also needed if other
approaches are taken to reduce the tax gap.

For example, even if we simplify the tax laws, as has been sug-
gested, IRS would need to have an outreach program to educate
taxpayers about those changes and to answer questions that would
undoubtedly come from the taxpayers.
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In addition to quality service, a few of the following things are
also important to tax gap reduction. We need to periodically meas-
ure noncompliance and its causes, set tax gap reduction goals, con-
sider the cost and burdens associated with various efforts to reduce
the tax gap, evaluate the results of any initiatives that are under-
taken so we know what works, optimize IRS’s internal allocation
of resources, and leverage technology.

Turning to simplification or tax reform, there is no reliable esti-
mate of the degree to which simplification could reduce the tax gap.
Nonetheless, one indication of the potential is that IRS estimated
a revenue shortfall of $32 billion occurred in 2001 due to errors
that taxpayers made in claiming various tax credits, deductions, et
cetera. Over the decades, the tax code has layered on more and
more special tax provisions with the number of tax expenditures,
as they are called, like credits and deductions doubling in number
between 1974 and 2005. By making the rules across differing tax
provisions more uniform, by merging multiple related provisions,
and by deleting provisions that may not be accomplishing their in-
tended purpose at an acceptable revenue cost, the tax code could
be simplified. And if so, both intentional and unintentional errors
should decline.

Further, to the extent that tax simplification reduces errors, IRS
would be able to relocate its resources to focus on more problematic
areas of noncompliance. However, of course, each tax code provision
was created for a purpose and simplifying the code is likely to be
challenging.

Tax reform also has the potential to reduce the tax gap, but it
is most likely to be effective if any reformed system has few, if any,
tax preferences and importantly, taxable transactions are trans-
parent to the tax agency. These characteristics are difficult to
achieve and, to my knowledge, all tax systems have some sort of
tax gap.

Tax withholding and information reporting are among the most
powerful tools for promoting compliance. If we can spread these
tools across more types of income that are the major contributors
to the tax gap, substantial tax gap reductions are likely. Our recent
work suggests that requiring information reporting on the basis for
security sales like stock transactions has the potential to improve
compliance with capital gains reporting. Importantly, a key addi-
tional benefit would be less taxpayer burden to understand and
comply with the complex basis reporting rules. Additional opportu-
nities for withholding and information reporting exist for payments
to independent contractors and for payments made to corporations
for services they provide to businesses.

Finally, devoting additional resources to enforcement has the po-
tential to reduce the tax gap by billions of dollars. In part, devoting
greater resources to enforcement could reduce the gap because
every year IRS identifies far more cases of probable noncompliance
than it can possibly address. How much the tax gap could be re-
duced if IRS resources were increased would depend on a number
of things, including importantly information. Which taxpayers are
noncompliant? Why are they noncompliant? And what amount of
tax noncompliance can be corrected for a given dollar of additional
investment in IRS resources?
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We and others have frequently called for improved information
like this to ensure sound management of IRS’s limited resources.
In part, this is why we have encouraged IRS to undertake compli-
ance studies like the National Research Program that resulted in
this most recent tax gap estimate.

As a caution, if additional resources are devoted to enforcement,
returns on that investment are likely to lag as IRS hires and trains
new personnel. In the past, hiring initiatives generally have re-
duced revenues in the initial year because new agents tend to be
less productive than experienced agents, and IRS uses experienced
agents to train the new agents which reduces the experienced
agents’ productivity.

Also, several years tend to lapse between the assessment of taxes
and the collection of those taxes. For instance, in a 1998 study we
found that 5 years after taxes were assessed against individual tax-
payers for business income, 48 percent of those taxes had been col-
lected.

This concludes my oral statement. I would be happy to answer
any questions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Brostek follows:]
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it has multiple causes and spans different types of taxes and taxpayers.
Simplifying or reforming the tax code, providing IRS more enforcement
tools, and devoting additional resources to enforcement are three major
approaches, but providing quality services to taxpayers also is a necessary
foundation for voluntary compliance. Such steps as periodically measuring
noncompliance and its causes, setting tax gap reduction goals, evaluating the
results of any initiatives to reduce the tax gap, optimizing the allocation of
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would also contribute to tax gap reduction.
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reduce the tax gap by billions of dollars. IRS has estimated that errors in
claiming tax credits and deductions for tax year 2001 contributed $32 billion
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achieve, and any tax system could be subject to noncompliance.
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reduce the tax gap. They could help reduce the tax gap by billions of dollars,
especially if they make underreported income transparent to IRS. These
tools have led to high, sustained levels of taxpayer compliance and improved
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with noncompliant taxpayers. As GAO previously suggested, reporting the
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Chairman Conrad, Senator Gregg, Members of the Committee:

1 appreciate this opportunity to discuss the tax gap—the difference
between what taxpayers pay in taxes voluntarily and on time and what
they should pay under the law—and what is achievable in reducing the
gap. Most recently, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) estimated that for
tax year 2001, taxpayers paid about 84 percent of the taxes that should
have been paid on time under the law, resulting in an estimated gross tax
gap of $345 billion. IRS estimated that it would eventually recover around
$55 billion of the 2001 tax gap through late payments and IRS enforcerent
actions, leaving a net tax gap of $290 billion.” Because of taxpayer
noncompliance, the burden of funding the nation’s commitments falls
more heavily on taxpayers who willingly and accurately pay their taxes.
Reducing the tax gap would help improve the nation’s fiscal stability. For
example, based on IRS's estimate, each 1 percent reduction in the net tax
gap would likely yield nearly $3 billion annually. However, the tax gap has
been a persistent problem in spite of a myriad of congressional and IRS
efforts to reduce it, as the rate at which taxpayers voluntarily comply with
our tax laws has changed little over the past three decades. Likewise,
factors such as globalization and the ever-increasing complexity of the tax
code challenge IRS's ability to administer the tax code.

My remarks focus on what is achievable in reducing the tax gap througha
variety of approaches. First I will discuss the need for rultiple approaches
towards reducing the tax gap. Then I will discuss three specific tax gap
reduction approaches: (1) simplifying or reforming the tax system; (2)
providing IRS additional enforcement authority and tools, such as
information reporting’ and tax withholding,’ through changes to the tax
laws; and (3) devoting additional resources to enforcement under the
existing tax Jaws, My remarks are based on our previous work on a variety
of issues, in particular, recent testimonies and a report on reducing the tax

"Throughout this staterent, references to the tax gap refer to the gross tax gap unless
otherwise noted. .

ZInformation reporting involves the filing of information retumns with IRS and taxpayers
that contain information on certain transactions, such as wage and salary information
employers report to employeas and IRS through Form W-2.

“An example of tax withholding is when employers withhold taxes on the wages that
employees ean and remit them to IRS.

GAO-07-391T
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.

gap.* These efforts were conducted in accordance with generally accepted
government auditing standards.

Let me begin by highlighting four major points:

Multiple approaches are needed to reduce the tax gap. No single approach
is likely to fully and cost-effectively address noncompliance since, for
example, it has multiple causes and spans different types of taxes and
taxpayers. Simplifying or reforming the tax code, providing IRS more
enforcement tools, and devoting additional resources to enforcement are
three major approaches discussed below, but providing quality services to
taxpayers also is a necessary foundation for voluntary compliance. Quality
services can help taxpayers who wish to comply but do not understand
their obligations, whereas enforcement actions may be needed for those
who intentionally evade their tax obligations. Such steps as periodically
measuring noncompliance and its causes, setting tax gap reduction goals,
considering the costs and benefits of initiatives to reduce the gap,
evaluating the results of such initiatives undertaken, optimizing the
allocation of IRS’s resources, and leveraging technology to enhance IRS's
efficiency would also contribute to tax gap reduction.

Simplifying the tax code or fundamental tax reform has the potential to
reduce the tax gap by many billions of dollars. For example, IRS estimated
that errors in claiming tax credits and deductions for tax year 2001
contributed $32 billion to the tax gap. Reducing the number of such credits
and deductions therefore has some direct potential to reduce the tax gap.
However, these credits and deductions serve purposes Congress has
Judged to be important, and eliminating them likely would be complicated.
Fundamental tax reform, such as shifting to a consumption tax system,
would most likely result in a smaller tax gap if the new system has few, if
any, exceptions (e.g., few or no tax preferences) and taxable transactions
are transparent to tax administrators. These characteristics are difficult to

‘GAQ, Tax Compliance: Opportunities Exist to Reduce the Tax Gap Using a Variety of
Approaches, GAQ06- mum' ' (Wastington, D.C: Iuly 26, 2006) Tisx a@ M.xkzng Slgmﬁaant
Progress in Rests on Curreni
Adopting New Legis]atlve Ar‘tlans, GAO 06-453T (Washington, D.C.: F eb. 15, 2006); Tax
Gap: Multiple Better Cc Data, and L Term Goals Are Needed to
Impmve Taxpayer Cc iz GAOQ-D6-208T (¥ i D.C.: Oct. 26, 2005); Tax

i Better Cu i Data and Goals Would Support a More Strategic
11?5 Approach to Redueing the Tax Gap, GAO-05-753 (Washington, D.C.: July 18, 2005); and
Tax Compliance: Reducing the Tax Gap Can Contribute to Fiscal Sustainability but Wiil
Require a Varfety of Strategies, GAO-05.527T (Washington, D.C.: Apr. 14, 2005).

2 GAO-07-391T
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achieve in any system, and any tax system could be subject to
noncompliance.

Providing IRS with more enforcement tools, particularly withholding and
information reporting, also has the potential to reduce the tax gap by
billions of dollars, especially if those tools help IRS deal with the largest
contributor to the tax gap—underreported income. Tax withholding and
information reporting have been shown to lead to high, sustained levels of
taxpayer compliance because the income taxpayers earn is transparent to
them and IRS. Also, using these tools can help IRS better allocate its
resources by improving its ability to identify and prioritize noncompliant
taxpayers to be contacted. For example, we found that having third parties
report to taxpayers and IRS the cost, or basis, of stocks and mutual funds
that taxpayers sell could help taxpayers improve their voluntary
compliance and help IRS allocate its enforcement efforts concerning these
1 ions. However, designing withholding or information reporting
requirements to address underreporting may be challenging given that
many types of income are already subject to such requirements,
underreporting exists in many forms, and any requirements could impose
costs and burdens on the third parties that withhold or report.

Devoting additional resources to enforcement has the potential to help
reduce the tax gap by billions of dollars. However, determining the
appropriate level of enforcement resources to provide IRS requires taking
into account factors such as how effectively and efficiently IRS is
currently using its resources, how to strike the proper balance between
IRS’s taxpayer service and enforcement activities, and competing federal
funding priorities. If Congress were to provide IRS more enforcement
resources, the amount the tax gap could be reduced depends in part on
factors such as the size of budget increases, how IRS manages any
additional resources, and the indirect increase in taxpayers’ voluntary
compliance resulting from expanded enforcement. Providing IRS with
additional funding would enable it to contact millions of potentially
noncompliant taxpayers it identifies but currently cannot contact given
resource constraints.

Background

The tax gap is an estimate of the difference between the taxes—including
individual income, corporate income, employment, estate, and excise
taxes—that should have been paid voluntarily and on time and what was
actually paid for a specific year. The esti isan e of estl

for the three primary types of noncompliance: (1) underreporting of tax
liabilities on tax returns; (2) underpayment of taxes due from filed returns;
and (3) nonfiling, which refers to the failure to file a required tax return

GAO-07-391T
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altogether or on time.* IRS's tax gap estimates for each type of
noncompliance include estimates for some or all of the five types of taxes
that IRS administers. As shown in table 1, underreporting of tax liabilities
accounted for most of the tax gap estimate for tax year 2001.

Table t: IRS’s Tex Year 2001 Gross Tax Gap by Type of and Type of Tax
Doflars in biltions
Type of tax
individual Corporate
Type of noncompliance income tax income tax  Empioyment fax Estate tax Excise tax Total
Underreporting $197 $30 $54 $4  No estimate $285
Underpayment 23 2 5 2 $1 $34
Nonfifing 25 No estimate No estimate 2 No estimate $27
Total $244 $32 $59 $8 $1 $345
Sourca: IRS.

Note: Figures may not sum to totals because of rounding.

IRS has estimated the tax gap on multiple occasions, beginning in 1979,
relying on its Taxpayer Compliance Measurement Program (TCMP). IRS
did not implement any TCMP studies after 1988 because of concerns about
costs and burdens on taxpayers. Recognizing the need for current
compliance data, in 2002 IRS i d a new c i study called
the National Research Program (NRP) to produce such data for tax year
2001 while minimizing taxpayer burden.

IRS has concerns with the certainty of the tax gap estimate for tax year
2001 in part because some areas of the estimate rely on old data, IRS has
no estimates for other areas of the tax gap, and it is inherently difficult to
measure some types of noncompliance. IRS used data from NRP to
estimate individual income tax underreporting and the portion of
employment tax underreporting attributed to self-employed individuals.
The underpayment segment of the tax gap is not an estimate, but rather
represents the tax amounts that taxpayers reported on time but did not
pay on time. Other areas of the estimate, such as corporate income tax and
employer-withheld employment tax underreporting, rely on decades-old
data. Also, IRS has no estimates for corporate income, employruent, and

*Taxpayers who receive filing extensions, pay their fuli tax liability by payment due dates,
and file retums prior to extension deadlines are considcred to have filed on time.

sage GAO-07-391T
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excise tax nonfiling or for excise tax underreporting.® In addition, it is
inherently difficult for IRS to observe and measure some types of
underreporting or nonfiling, such as tracking cash payments that
businesses make to their employees, as businesses and employees may not
report these payments to IRS in order to avoid paying employment and
income taxes, respectively.”

IRS’s overall approach to reducing the tax gap consists of improving
service to taxpayers and enhancing enforcement of the tax laws. IRS seeks
to improve voluntary compliance through efforts such as education and
outreach programs and tax form simplification. IRS uses its enforcement
authority to ensure that taxpayers are reporting and paying the proper
amounts of taxes through efforts such as examining tax returns and
matching the amount of income taxpayers report on their tax returns to
the income amounts reported on information returns it receives from third
parties. IRS reports that it collected over $48 billion in fiscal year 2006
from noncompliant taxpayers it identified through its various enforcement

programs.

In spite of IRS’s efforts to improve taxpayer compliance, the rate at which
taxpayers pay their taxes voluntarily and on time has tended to range from
around 81 percent to around 84 percent over the past three decades. Any
significant reduction of the tax gap would likely depend on an
improvement in the level of taxpayer compliance.®

Multiple Approaches
Are Needed to Reduce
the Tax Gap

No single approach is likely to fully and cost-effectively address
noncompliance and therefore multiple approaches are likely to be needed.
The tax gap has muitiple canses; spans five types of taxes; and is spread
over several types of taxpayers including individuals, corporations, and
partnerships. Thus, for example, while simplifying laws should help when
no! It is due to taxpayers’ confusion, enforcement may be

°For these types of noncompliance, IRS maintains that the data are either difficult to
collect, imprecise, or unavailable.

?For a more detailed discussion about data sources and methodologies used in estimating
the tax gap, sec GAQ-05-753.

*in some instances, the amount of the tax gap can change without a corresponding change
in the level of compliance. For example, a reduction in marginal tax rates could result in a
smaller tax gap even if the level of compliance remains unchanged because the amount of
taxes (hat should be paid has been reduced. The tax gap would also tend to increase over
time, even if the rate of taxpayer compliance remamed unchanged, because of inflation.

GA0-07-391T
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needed for taxpayers who understand their obligations but decline to
fulfill them. Similarly, while devoting more resources to enforcernent
should increase taxes assessed and collected, too great an enforcement
presence likely would not be tolerated.

Simplifying or reforming the tax code, providing IRS more enforcement
tools, and devoting additional resources to enforcement are three major
tax gap reduction approaches discussed in more detail below, but
providing quality services to taxpayers plays an important role in
improving compliance and reducing the tax gap. IRS taxpayer services
include education and outreach programs, simplifying the tax process, and
revising forms and publications to make them electronically accessible
and more easily understood by diverse taxpayer communities. For
example, if tax forms and instructions are unclear, taxpayers may be
confused and make unintentional errors. Quality taxpayer services would
also be a key consideration in implerenting any of the approaches for tax
gap reduction. For example, expanding enforcement efforis would
increase interactions with taxpayers, requiring processes to efficiently

icate with taxpayers. Also, changing tax laws and regulations
would require educating taxpayers of the new requirements in a clear,
timely, and accessible manner. In 2006, we reported that IRS improved its
two most commonly used services—telephone and Web site assi —
for the 2006 filing season.’ Increased funding financed some of the
improvements, but a significant portion has been financed internaily by
efficiencies gained from increased electronic filing of tax returns and
other operational improvements.

Although quality service helps taxpayers comply, showing a direct
relationship between quality service and comnpliance leveis is very
challenging. As required by Congress, IRS is in the midst of a study that is
to result in a 5-year pian for taxpayer service activities, which is to include
long-term quantitative goals and to balance service and enforcement. Part
of the study focuses on the effect of taxpayer service on compliance. A
Phase I report was issued in April 2006 and a Phase II report is due in early
2007, which is to include, among other things, a multiyear plan for
taxpayer service activities and improvement initiatives.

*GAO, Internal Revenue Service: Assessment of the Interim Results of the 2006 Filing
Season and Fiscal Year 2007 Budget Request, GAO-06-489T (Washington, D.C.: Apr. 27,
2006).

> GAO-07-391T
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.

However, in deciding on the appropriate mix of approaches to use in
reducing the tax gap, many factors or issues could affect strategic
decisions. Among the broad factors to consider are the likely effectiveness
of any approach, fairness, enforceability, and sustainability. Beyond these,
our work points to the importance of the following:

Measuring compliance levels periodically and setting long-term
goals. A data-based plan is one key to closing the tax gap. To the extent
that IRS can develop better compliance data, it can develop more effective
approaches for reducing the gap. Regularly measuring the magnitude of,
and the reasons for, noncompliance provides insights on how to reduce
the gap through potential changes to tax laws and IRS programs. In July
2005, we recornmended that IRS periodically measure tax compliance,
identify reasons for noncompliance, and establish voluntary compliance
goals.” IRS agreed with the recc d and 1ed a voluntary
tax compliance goal of 85 percent by 2009. Furthermore, we have
identified alternative ways to measure compliance, including conducting
examinations of small samples of tax returns over multiple years, instead
of conducting examinations for a larger sample of returns for one tax year,
to allow IRS to track compliance trends annually.

Considering the costs and burdens. Any action to reduce the tax gap
will create costs and burdens for IRS; taxpayers; and third parties, such as
those who file information returns. For example, withholding and
information reporting requirements impose some costs and burdens on
those who track and report information. These costs and burdens need to
be reasonable in relation to the improvements expected to arise from new
compliance strategies.

Evaluating the results. Evaluating the actions taken by IRS to reduce
the tax gap would help maximize IRS’s effectiveness. Evaluations can be
challenging because it is difficult to isolate the effécts of IRS's actions
from other influences on taxp: s’ CC iance. Our work has di: d
how to address these challenges, for example by using research to link
actions with the outputs and desired effects.

Optimizing resource allocation. Developing reliable measures of the
return on investment for strategies to reduce the tax gap would help
inform 1RS resource allocation decisions. IRS has rough measures of
return on investment based on the additional taxes it assesses, Developing

PGAO-05-753

GAQ-07-391T



162

such measures is difficult because of incompiete data on the costs of
enforcement and collected revenues. Beyond direct revenues, IRS’s
enforcement actions have indirect revenue effects, which are difficult to
measure. However, indirect effects could far exceed direct revenue effects
and would be important to consider in connection with continued

de of return on i i In general though, the
impacts of tax gap reduction by improving voluntary tax compliance can
be quite large. For example, if the estimated 83.7 percent voluntary
compliance rate that produced a gross tax gap of $346 billion in tax year
2001 had been 85 percent, this tax gap would have been about $287 billion
less; if it had been 90 percent, the gap would have been about $132 133
billion less.

Leveraging technology. Better use of technology could help IRS be more
efficient in reducing the tax gap. IRS is modernizing its technology, which
has paid off in terms of telephone service, resource allocation, electronic
filing, and data analysis capability. However, this ongoing modemization
will need strong management and prudent investments to maximize
potential efficiencies.

Congress has been encouraging IRS to develop an overall tax gap
reduction plan or strategy that could include a mix of approaches like
simplifying code provisions, increased enforcement, and reconsidering the
level of resources devoted to enforcement. Some progress has been made
towards laying out the broad elements of a plan or strategy for reducing
the tax gap. On September 26, 2006, the U.S. Department of the Treasury
(Treasury), Office of Tax Policy released “A Comprehensive Strategy for
Reducing the Tax Gap.” However, the document generally does not
identify specific approaches that Treasury and IRS will undertake to
reduce the tax gap, the related time frames for such steps, or explanations
of how much the tax gap would be reduced. The document said that such
additional details the would be part of the fiscal year 2008 IRS budget
request that will be deliberated during early 2007 because of the resource
implications associated with tax gap reduction.

e GAQ-07-391T
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Reducing the Tax Gap
through Tax
Simplification or Tax
System Reform
Depends on Their
Design and May Have
Effects Beyond Tax
Compliance

Tax law simplification and reform both have the potential to reduce the
tax gap by billions of dollars. The extent to which the tax gap would be
reduced depends on which parts of the tax system would be simplified and
in what manner as well as how any reform of the tax system is designed
and implemented. Neither approach, however, will eliminate the gap.
Further, changes in the tax laws and system to improve tax compliance
could have unintended effects on other tax system objectives, such as
those involving economic behavior or equity.

Simplification has the potential to reduce the tax gap for at least three
broad reasons. First, it could help taxpayers to coraply voluntarily with
more certainty, reducing inadvertent errors by those who want to coraply
but are confused because of complexity. Second, it may limit
opportunities for tax evasion, reducing intentional noncompliance by
taxpayers who can misuse the complex code provisions to hide their
noncompliance or to achieve ends through tax shelters. Third, tax code
complexity may erode taxpayers’ willingness to comply voluntarily if they
cannot understand its provisions or they see others taking advantage of
complexity to intentionally underreport their taxes.

Simplification could take muitiple forms. One form would be to retain
existing laws but make them simpler. For example, in our July 2005
report" on postsecondary tax preferences, we noted that the definition of
a qualifying postsecondary education expense differed somewhat among
some tax code provisions, for instance with some including the cost to
purchase books and others not. Making definitions consistent across code
provisions may reduce taxpayer errors. Although we cannot say the errors
were due to these differences in definitions, in a limited study of paid
preparer services to taxpayers, we found some preparers claiming
unallowable expenses for books.” Further, the Joint Committee on
Taxation suggested that such dissimilar definitions may increase the
likelihood of taxpayer errors and increase taxpayer frustration.”

“GAO, Student Aid and Postsecondary Tax Preferences: Limited Research Exists on the
Effectiveness of Tools to Assist Students and Families through Title IV Student Aid and Tax
Preferences, GAO-05-684 (Washington, D.C.: July 29, 2005).

“GAO, Paid Tax Return Preparers: In a Limited Study, Chain Preparers Made Serious
Errors, GAO-06-563T (Washington, D.C.: Apr. 4, 2006).

1.8, Congress, Joint Committec on Taxation, Study of the Overall State of the Federal Tax
System, vol. 11, 125-6 (April 2001).
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Another tax code provision in which complexity may have contributed to
the individual tax gap involves the earned income tax credit, for which IRS
estimated a tax loss of up to about $10 billion for tax year 1999." Although
some of this noncompliance may be intentional, we' and the National
Taxpayer Advocate' have previously reported that confusion over the
complex rules governing eligibility for claiming the credit could cause
taxpayers to fail to comply inadvertently.

Although retaining but simplifying tax code provisions may help reduce
the tax gap, doing so may not be easy, may conflict with other policy
decisions, and may have unintended consequences. The simplification of
the definition of a qualifying child across various code sections is an
example. We suggested in the early 1990s that standardizing the definition
of a qualifying child could reduce taxpayer errors and reduce their
burden.” A change was not made until 2004." However, some have
suggested that the change has created some unintended consequences,
such as increasing some taxpayers’ ability to reduce their taxes in ways
Congress may not have intended.”

Another form of simplification could be to broaden the tax base while
reducing tax rates, which could minimize incentives for not complying.
This base- broadening could include a review of whether existing tax
expenditures are achieving intended results at a reasonable cost in lost
revenue and added burden and eliminating or consolidating those that are
not. Among the many causes of tax code complexity is the growing
number of preferential provisions in the code, defined in statute® as tax

MIRS measured the extent of noncompliance with the eamed income tax credit in a study
separate from NRP.

GAO-06-208T.

““Internal Revenue Service, Taxpayer Advocate Service, National Taxpayer Advocate 2004
Annual Report to Congress (Washinglon, D.C.: Dec. 31, 2004).

V8ee GAQ, Tax Adrministratic Dependent and Filing Status Claims,
GAQ/GGD-93-60, (Washington, D.C: Mar.19, 1993).
*pub. L. No. 108-311 (2004).

See Nina E. Olson, “Uniform Quahfying Child Definition: Uniformity for Most Taxpayers,”
Tax Notes, (April 10, 2006), 225-228; and John Buckley, “Uniform Definition of a Child:
Large Unintended Consequences,” ax Nofes, (March 20, 2006), 1345-1349.

“The C: ional Budget and Control Act of 1974, Pub. L. No. 93-344, § 3,
88 Stat. 208 (July 12, 1974) (codified at 2 US.C. § 622(3)).
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expenditures, such as tax exemptions, exclusions, deductions, credits, and
deferrals.” The number of these tax expenditures has more than doubled
from 1974 through 2005. Tax expenditures can contribute to the tax gap if
taxpayers claim them improperly. For example, IRS's recent tax gap
estimate includes a $32 billion loss in individual income taxes for tax year
2001 because of noncompliance with these provisions. Simplifying these
provisions of the tax code would not likely yield $32 billion in revenue
because even simplified provisions likely would have some associated
noncompliance. Nevertheless, the estimate snggests that simplification
conld have important tax gap cc particularly if simplification
also accounted for any noncompliance that arises because of complexity
on the income side of the tax gap for individuals.®

Despite the potential benefits that simplification may yield, these credits
and deductions serve purposes that Congress has judged to be important
to advance federal goals. Eliminating them or consolidating them likely
would be complicated, and would likely create winners and losers.
Elimination also could conflict with other objectives such as encouraging
certain economic activity or improving equity.

Similar trade-offs exist with possible fundamental tax reforms that would
move away from an income tax system to some other system, such as a
consumption tax, national sales tax, or value added tax. Fundamental tax
reform would most likely result in a smaller tax gap if the new system has
few tax preferences or complex tax code provisions and if taxable
transactions are transparent. However, these characteristics are difficult
to achieve in any system and experience suggests that simply adopting a
fundamentally different tax system may not by itself eliminate any tax
gap.® Any tax system could be subject to noncompliance, and its design
and operation, including the types of tools made available to tax
administrators, will affect the size of any corresponding tax gap. Further,
the motivating forces behind tax reform likely include factors beyond tax

2GAO,

; and. flity: Tax i
Federal Commitment and Need to Be ined, GAO-05-690 (3
D.C.: Sept. 23, 2005).

“The tax gap for underreported individual income taxes exceeded $150 billion for tax year
2001. Howeveér, IRS dees not have data on how much of this noncompliance arose because
of complexity.

BFor example, in a 2004 report, the National Audit Office in the United Kingdom reported

on the 15.7 percent gap for the value added tax, which was introduced three decades
earlier.
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compliance, such as economic effectiveness, equity, and burden, which
could in some cases carry greater weight in designing an alternative tax
system than ensuring the highest levels of compliance.

Providing IRS with
Additional
Enforcement Tools
Potentially Could
Improve Compliance
Significantly, but
Identifying and
Designing Such Tools
Can Be Challenging

Changing the tax laws to provide IRS with additional enforcement tools,
such as expanded tax withholding and information reporting, could also
reduce the tax gap by many billions of doliars, particularly with regard to
underreporting—the largest segment of the tax gap. Tax withholding
promotes compliance because employers or other parties subtract taxes
owed from a taxpayer's income and remit them to IRS. Information
reporting tends to lead to high levels of compliance because income
taxpayers earn is transparent to them and IRS. In both cases, high levels of
compli tend to be maintai over time. Also, withholding and
information reporting help IRS to better identify noncompliant taxpayers
and prioritize contacting them, which enables IRS to better allocate its
resources. However, designing new withholding or information reporting
requirements to address underreporting can be challenging given that
many types of income are already subject to at least some form of
withholding or information reporting, underreporting exists in varied
forms, and the requirements could impose costs and burdens on third
parties.

Taxpayers tend to report income subject to tax withholding or information
reporting with high levels of compliance, as shown in figure 1, because the
income is transparent to the taxpayers as well as to IRS. Additionally, once
withholding or information reporting requirements are in place for
particular types of income, compliance tends to remain high over time. For
example, for wages and salaries, which are subject to tax withholding and
substantial information reporting, the percentage of income that taxpayers
misreport has consistently been measured at around 1 percent over time.

GAO07-391T
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Figure 1: Indivi Net Income Mi: ing C. ized by the Extent of Income
Subject to Wi ing and i porting, Tax Year 2001
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In the past, we have identified a few specific areas where additional
withholding or information reporting requirements could serve to improve
compliance:

Require more data on information returns dealing with capital
gains income from securities sales. Recently, we reported that an
estimated 36 percent of taxpayers misreported their capital gains or losses
from the sale of securities, such as corporate stocks and mutual funds.*
Further, around half of the taxpayers who misreported did so because

“GAO, Capital Gains Tax Gap: Requiring Brokers to Report Securities Cost Basis Would
Improve Cc i if Related Challenges Are d, GAD-06-603 (' D.C.
June 13, 2006).
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they failed to report the securities’ cost, or basis, sometimes because they
did not know the securities’ basis or failed to take certain events into
account that required them to adjust the basis of their securities. When
taxpayers sell securities like stock and mutual funds through brokers, the
brokers are required to report information on the sale, including the
amount of gross proceeds the taxpayer received; however, brokers are not
required to report basis information for the sale of these securities. We
found that requiring brokers to report basis information for securities
sales could improve taxpayers’ compliance in reporting their securities
gains and losses and help IRS identify noncompliant taxpayers. However,
we were unable to estimate the extent to which a basis reporting
requirement would reduce the capital gains tax gap because of limitations
with the compliance data on capital gains and because neither IRS nor we
know the portion of the capital gains tax gap attributed to securities sales.

Requiring tax withholding and more or better information return
reporting on pay s made to independ contractors. Past IRS
data have shown that independent contractors report 97 percent of the
income that appears on information returns, while contractors that do not
receive these returns report only 83 percent of income. We have also
identified other options for improving information reporting for
independent contractors, including increasing penalties for failing to file
required information returns, lowering the $600 threshold for requiring
such returns, and requiring businesses to report separately on their tax
returns the total amount of payments to independent contractors.”

Requiring information return reporting on payments made to
corporations. Unlike payments made to sole proprietors, payments made
to corporations for services are generally not required to be reported on
information returns. IRS and GAQ have contended that the lack of such a
requirement leads to lower levels of compli; for small corp jons.
Although Congress has required federal agencies to provide information
returns on payments made to contractors since 1997,” payments made by
others to corporations are generally not covered by information returns.
Information reporting helps IRS to better allocate its resources to the
extent that it helps IRS better identify noncompliant taxpayers and the
potential for additional revenue that could be obtained by contacting these
taxpayers. For exaraple, IRS officials told us that receiving information on

#GAQ, Tax inistrati for. i
Compliance, GAO/GGD-92-108 (Washington, D.C.: July 23, 1992).

Paxpayer :elief Act of 1997, Pub. L. No. 106-34 (1997).
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basis for taxpayers' securities sales would allow IRS to determine more
precisely taxpayers’ income for securities sales through its document
matching programs and would allow it to identify which taxpayers who
misreported securities income have the greatest potential for additional
tax assessments. Similarly, IRS could use basis information to improve
both aspects of its ination prog aminations of tax returns
through correspondence and examinations of tax returns face to face with
the taxpayer. Currently, capital gains issues are too complex and time

for IRS to ine through cor d However, IRS
officials told us that receiving cost basis information might enable IRS to
examine noncompliant taxpayers through correspondence because it
could productively select tax returns to examine. Also, having cost basis
information could help IRS identify the best cases to examine face to face,
making the examinations more productive while simultaneously reducing
the burden imposed on compliant taxpayers who otherwise would be
selected for examination.

Although withholding and information reporting lead to high levels of
compliance, designing new requirements to address underreporting coutd
be challenging given that many types of income, including wages and
salaries, dividend and interest income, and income from pensions and
Social Security are already subject to withholding or substantial
information reporting. Also, challenges arise in establishing new
withholding or information reporting requirements for certain other types
of income that are extensively underreported. Such underreporting may be
difficult to determine because of complex tax laws or transactions or the
lack of a practical and reliable third-party source to provide information
on the taxable income.

For example, while withholding or information reporting mechanisms on
nonfarm sole proprietor and informal supplier income” would likely
improve their cc i compr i i that are practical
and effective are difficult to identify. As shown in figure 1, this income is
not subject to information reporting, and these taxpayers misreported

“Nonfarm proprietors are self-employed individuals other than farmers who should file
Schedule C with their individual tax returns to report profits and losses from their
husinesses. Sole proprietors include those who provide services, such as doctors or
accountants; produce goods, such as manufacturers; and sell goods at fixed locations, such
as car dealers and grocers. Informal suppliers are sole proprietors who work alone or with
few workers and, by definition, operate in an informal manner. Informal suppliers include
those who make home repairs, provide child care, or sell goods at roadside stands. These
taxpayers should report business profits or losses on Schedule C.

B GAO-07-391T
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about half of the income they eamed for tax year 2001. Informal suppliers
by definition receive income in an informal manner through services they
provide to a variety of individual citizens or small businesses. Whereas
businesses may have the capacity to perform withholding and information
reporting functions for their employees, it may be 1 ing to extend
withholding or information reporting responsibilities to the individual
citizens that receive services, who may not have the resources or
knowledge to comply with such requirements.

Finally, implementing tax withholding and information reporting
requirements generally imposes costs and burdens on the businesses that
must implement them, and, in some cases, on taxpayers. For example,
expanding information reporting on securities sales to include basis
information will impose costs on the brokers who would track and report
the information. Further, trying to close the entire tax gap with these
enforcement tools could entail more intrusive recordkeeping or reporting
than the public is willing to accept.

Devoting Additional
Resources to
Enforcement Likely
Could Reduce the Tax
Gap, but to What
Extent Is Difficult to
Predict

Devoting more resources to enforcement has the potential to help reduce
the tax gap by billions of dollars, as IRS would be able to expand its
enforcement efforts to reach a greater nuraber of potentially noncompliant
taxpayers. However, determining the appropriate level of enforcement
resources to provide IRS requires taking into account many factors, such
as how effectively and efficiently IRS is currently using its resources, how
to strike the proper balance between IRS’s taxpayer service and
enforcement activities, and competing federal funding priorities. If
Congress were to provide IRS more enforcement resources, the amount of
the tax gap that could be reduced depends in part on the size of any
increase in IRS’s budget, how IRS would manage any additional resources,
and the indirect increase in taxpayers’ voluntary compliance that would
likely result from expanded IRS enforcement.

Given resource constraints, IRS is unable to contact millions of additional
taxpayers for whom it has evidence of potential noncompliance. With
additional resources, IRS would be able to assess and collect additional
taxes and further reduce the tax gap. In 2002, IRS estimated that a $2.2
billion funding increase would allow it to take enforcement actions against
Jal ially nonc li payers it identifies but cannot contact and

GAO-07-391T
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would yield an estimated $30 billion in revenue.” For example, IRS
estimated that it contacted about 3 million of the over 13 million taxpayers
it identified as potentially noncompliant through its matching of tax
returns to information returns. IRS estimated that contacting the
additional 10 million potentially noncompliant taxpayers it identified, at a
cost of about $230 million, could yield nearly $7 billion in potentially
collectible revenue. We did not evaluate the accuracy of the estimate, and
as will be discussed below, many factors suggest that it is difficult to

reliably net i that might come from additional
enforcement efforts.”

Although additional enforcement funding has the potential to reduce the
tax gap, the extent to which it would help depends on several factors.
First, and perhaps most obviously, the amount of tax gap reduction would
depend in part on the size of any budget increase. Generally, larger budget
increases should result in larger reductions in the tax gap. The degree to
which revenues would increase from expanded enforcement depends on
many variables, such as how quickly IRS can ramp up efforts, how well
1RS selects the best cases to be worked, and how taxpayers react to
enforcement efforts, Estimating those revenue increases would require
assumptions about these and other variables. Because actual experience is
likely to diverge from those assumptions, the actual revenue increases are
likely to differ from the estimates. The lack of reliable key data
compounds the difficulty of estimating the likely revenues. To the extent
possible, obtaining better data on key variables would provide a better
understanding of the likely results with any increased enforcement
resources.

With additional resources for enforcement, IRS would be able to assess
and collect additional taxes, but the related tax gap reductions may not be
immediate. If IRS uses the resources to hire more enforcement staff, the
reductions may occur gradually as IRS is able to hire and train the staff.
Also, several years can elapse after IRS assesses taxes before it actually
collects these taxes. \

#Commissioner of Intemnal Revenue Charles 0. Rossotti, Report to the IRS Oversight
Board: Assessment of IRS and the Tax System, October 2002

“The overall tax gap has many components. Thus, if the tax gap in a specific area is

reduced either through actions like or through IRS
actions, the size of the overall gap may not be reduced if other portions of the gap increase.

GAO-07-391T
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Similarly, the amounts of taxes actually collected can vary substantially
from the related tax d through enf actions by the
type of tax or taxpayer involved. In a 1998 report, we found that 5 years
after taxes were assessed against individual taxpayers with business
income, 48 percent of the assessed taxes had been collected, whereas for
the largest corporate taxpayers, 97 percent of assessed taxes had been
collected.*

Over the last 2 years, IRS has requested and received additional funding
targeted for enforcement activities that it estimated will result in
additional revenue. In its fiscal year 2007 budget request, IRS requested an
approximate 2 percent increase in funding from fiscal year 2006 to expand
its enforcement efforts, including tax return examination and tax
collection activities, with the goal of increasing individual taxpayer
compliance and addressing concerns that we and others have raised”
regarding the erosion of IRS’s enforcement presence. In estimating the
revenue that it would obtain from the increased funding, IRS accounted
for several factors, including opportunity costs because of training, which
draws experienced enforcement personnel away from the field;
differences in average enforcement revenue obtained per full-time
employee by enforcement activity; and differences in the types and
complexity of cases worked by new hires and experienced hires. IRS
forecasted that in the first year after expanding enforcement activities, the
additional revenue to be collected is less than half the amount to be
collected in later years. This example underscores the logic that if IRS is to
receive a relatively large funding increase, it likely would be better to
provide it in small but steady amounts.

‘The amount of tax gap reduction likely to be achieved from any budget
increase also depends on how well IRS can use information about
noncompliance to manage the additional resources. Because IRS does not
have cc i data for some of the tax gap and others are
based on old data, IRS cannot easily track the extent to which compliance

NGAO, Tax Administration: IRS Measures Could Provide a More Balanced Picture of Audit
Results and Costs, GAO/GGD-98-128 (Washington, D.C.: June 23, 1998).

“GAQ issued a number of products regarding the erosion of IRS's enforcement presence
and a continued growth in noncompliance. For examples, see GAO, Tax Administration:
Impact of Compliance and Collection Program Declines on Taxpayers, GAO-02-674
(Washington, D.C.: May 22, 2003); High Risk Series: An Update, GAO-05-207 (Washington,
D.C.: January 2005); and our tax gap products cited earlier in this statement, GAO-06-1000T,
GAO-06-463T, GAO-06-208T, GAO-05-753, and GAO-05-527T.
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is improving or declining. IRS also has concerns with its information on
whether taxpayers unintentionally or intentionally fail to comply with the
tax laws. Knowing the reasons for taxpayer noncompliance can help IRS
decide whether its efforts to address specific areas of noncompliance
should focus on nonenforcement activities, such as improved forms or
publications, or enforcement activities to pursue intentional
noncompliance. To the extent that compliance data are outdated and IRS
does not know the reason for taxpayer noncompliance, IRS may be less
able to target resources efficiently to achieve the greatest tax gap
reduction at the least taxpayer burden.

IRS has taken important steps to better ensure efficient allocation and use.
For example, the NRP study has provided better data on which taxpayers
are most likely to be noncompliant. IRS is using the data to improve its
audit selection processes in hopes of reducing the number of audits that
result in no change, which should reduce unnecessary burden on
compliant taxpayers and increase enforcement staff productivity (as
measured by direct enforcement revenue).

As part of an effort to make the best use of its enforcement resources, IRS
has developed rough measures of return on investment in terms of tax
revenue that it assesses from uncovering noncompliance. Generally, IRS
cites an average retum on investment for enforcement of 4:1, that is, IRS
estimates that it collects $4 in revenue for every $1 of funding. Where IRS
has developed return on investment estimates for specific programs, it
finds substantial variation depending on the type of enforcement action.
For instance, the ratio of estimated tax revenue gains to additional
spending for pursuing known individual tax debts through phone calls is
13:1, versus a ratio of 32:1 for matching the amount of income taxpayers
report on their tax returns to the income amounts reported on information

+ returns. In addition to returns on investment estimates being rough, IRS
lacks information on the incremental returns on investment from pursuing
the “next best case” for some enforcement programs. It is the marginal
revenue gain from these cases that matters in estimating the direct
revenue from expanded enforcement. Developing such measures is
difficult because of incomplete information on all the costs and all the tax
revenue ultimately collected from specific enforcement efforts. Because
IRS’s current estimates-of the revenue effects of additional funding are
imprecise, the actual revenue that might be gained from expanding
different enforcement efforts is subject to uncertainty.

Given the variation in estimated returns on investment for different types
of IRS compliance efforts, the amount of tax gap reduction that may be

GAO.07-391T
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achieved from an increase in IRS's resources would depend on how IRS
allocates the increase. Although it might be tempting to allocate resources
heavily toward areas with the highest estimated retum, allocation
decisions must take into account diverse and difficult issues. For instance,
although one enforcement activity may have a high estimated return, that
return may drop off quickly as IRS works its way through potential
noncompliance cases. In addition, IRS dedicates examination resources
across all types of taxpayers so that all taxpayers receive some signal that
noncompli is being add d. Further, issues of faimess can arise if
IRS focuses its efforts only on particular groups of taxpayers.

Beyond direct tax revenue collection, expanded enforcement efforts could
reduce the tax gap even more, as widespread agreement exists that IRS
enforcement programs have an indirect effect through increases in
voluntary tax compliance.” The precise magnitude of the indirect effects
of enforcement is not known with a high level of confidence given
challenges in measuring compli ; developing bl ption:
about taxpayer behavior; and accounting for factors outside of IRS’s
actions that can affect taxpayer compliance, such as changes in tax law.
However, several research studies have offered insights to help better
understand the indirect effects of IRS enforcement on voluntary tax
compliance and show that they could exceed the direct effect of revenue
obtained™

Concluding
Observations

When taxpayers do not pay all of their taxes, honest taxpayers carry a
greater burden to fund government programs and the nation is less able to
address its long-term fiscal challenges. Thus, reducing the tax gap is

“Two types of indirect effect are (1) the increase in voluntary compliance in the larger
population resulting inati r and tion:
on targeted taxpayers, and (2) the increase in voluntary compliance of the targeted
taxpayer in subsequent years.

PEconomists have estimated the indirect effect of an examination on voluntary compliance
to range from 6 to 12 times the amount of proposed tax adjustments. See Alan H. Plurley,
The Determinants of Individual Income Tax Compliance: Estimating The Impacts of Tax
Policy, En and IRS i i 1916 (Rev. 11-96) (Washington,
D.C.: November 1996), 2, 35-36; Jeffrey A. Dubin, Michael J. Graetz, and Louis L. Wilde,
“The Effect of Audit Rates on the Federal Individual Income Tax, 1977-1986,” 43 National
Tax Joumal, (1990), 395, 396, 405; and Jeffrey A. Dubin, “Criminal Investigation
Enforcement Activities and Taxpayer Noncompliance” (paper written for the IRS Research
C June 2004), hetpy irs.gov/pubyi i in.pdf duly 1,
2005).
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important, even though closing the entire tax gap is neither feasible nor
desirable because of costs and intrusiveness. All of the approaches [ have
discussed have the potential to reduce the tax gap alone or in
combination, and no single approach is clearly and always superior to the
others. As a result, IRS needs a strategy to attack the tax gap on multiple
fronts with multiple approaches.

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, this concludes my
testimony. I would be happy to answer any question you may have at this
time.

Contact and
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Chairman CONRAD. Thank you, very much.
Next we will turn to Mr. Satagaj from the Small Business Tax
Compliance and Fairness Coalition. Welcome.
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STATEMENT OF JOHN SATAGAJ, SMALL BUSINESS LEGISLA-
TIVE COUNSEL, SMALL BUSINESS TAX COMPLIANCE AND
FAIRNESS COALITION

Mr. SATAGAJ. Good morning. My name is John Satagaj. I am
here on behalf of the Coalition for Fairness in Tax Compliance. I
co-chair this with my colleagues at the National Federation of Inde-
pendent Business and the U.S. Chamber of Commerce.

Bob above mentioned that he has been doing this for 30 years.
Mike was telling me he has been at GAO 30 years. I have been
doing small business 30 years. So you have a lot of experience be-
fore you.

It reminded me, when Bob started his remarks, it is all about
perspective. He started out his comments about we are a Nation
of honest wage earners. I think of us as a Nation of small busi-
nesses and entrepreneurs taking risk, creating jobs, and signing
the paycheck of those wage earners. So my perspective on this
comes from that perspective, that of those small business that are
creating those jobs. We have a few points.

Our coalition is not anti-tax gap. We are here to find solutions
to this. But it is important for us that several things happen. No.
1, we have the proper research to understand what the problems
are. Mike has mentioned some of the problems that we have there.

That we find reasonable solutions, the ones that do not create
burdens, that respect the complaint taxpayer. Do not forget, most
of this money is coming in a voluntary system and people are com-
pliant. So what we do cannot hurt the compliant folks. So we have
to remember those things as we move forward on this.

And as we look at what we need to do, you will find out, as Mike
as already mentioned, we are failing to get the research done that
we need to understand what causes the tax gap, why people are
not reporting their income. Tax gap studies started in the 1960’s.
I think GAO published the first report in the 1970’s. You can look
at everyone of those reports, and I guarantee you almost every one
of th}e;m says the same thing about we do not have enough re-
search.

It is easy to paint this with a nice broad brush. Tax gap, one so-
lution fits all. It does not work that way. When you get below that
level, it is hard to figure all of those disparate and discrete areas,
that are the problems in the tax gap and understanding then.

Let me give you one quick example, sole proprietors. We say $68
billion comes from the folks that fill out their 1040, attach a Sched-
ule C and have business income. 21 million taxpayers are sole pro-
%rietors. 13 million of them have $25,000 or less on that Schedule

What is the problem? Some folks say let us do withholding. 21
million taxpayers, withholding tomorrow. There is one big question,
if you are going to do withholding, that no one can answer for me.
How many of those 21 million do business primarily with con-
sumers? If you do business primarily with consumers, I ask you,
who is going to impose withholding, telling the consumer by the
way, when you do business with X, withhold $20 from them? We
cannot answer that very fundamental question.

No. 2, if you are going to have a reasonable burden on those
folks, on the 21 million, if 13 million of them do $25,000 or less,
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you are going to have to look pretty carefully at what you impose
on them in order to get any sort of revenue. Even if they are the
worst tax cheats in the world and they are only reporting half of
their income, that is still a $50,000 business. That is a very small
business we are talking about here. So you are challenged to come
up with a solution.

First, we need the research. Second, we need reasonable solu-
tions that are directed to the problem. And until you understand
what the problem is, you are not going to come up with a solution.

Next, about respect. It is easy, and we know how it is here, par-
ticularly when we are talking about public policy as opposed to the
compliance at the IRS. The tax gap. We are going to use the tax
gap at least 20,000 times in this Congress to pay for something.
The important thing is that when we work on the tax gap, let us
be honest with the taxpayers and work on tax gap initiatives, not
on something that is used for another purpose.

A good example of one that has already spun out of control in
the last Congress, Government contractors’ withholding. The notion
was there was a problem there. Well, now all Government contrac-
tors have a 3 percent withholding on them. That spiraled right out
of control right from the very beginning.

There are going to be proposals that people are going to say we
want to use it for PAYGO. But you know what, they are going to
call it tax gap closing. And I guarantee one that is going to be
called that way, a proposal to repeal LIFO. It came up in the last
Congress and I bet it will come up in this Congress as a PAYGO
for something. And somebody is going to get up on the Senate floor,
one of you is going to say, you know what, let us close the tax gap
and repeal LIFO. LIFO is a legitimate concern. If you choose to
look at that, look at it for that purpose. But do not call it tax gap
closing, because it is not tax gap closing. There are honest tax-
payers out there who have been relying on this for years in order
to do this.

What we need to do is get the research, get the reasonable re-
sults, and let us respect the compliant taxpayer in the process.

A couple of last things—

Chairman CONRAD. Maybe I could just stop you on that point be-
cause I am sure there are people who are listening who wonder
what is LIFO about? That is last-in first-out accounting for inven-
tory.

That is important to say to people who might be listening and
wondering what is about.

Mr. SATAGAJ. Good point. And it is one that obviously is allowed
under the tax code.

Chairman CONRAD. I think we should make very clear, you are
right, that does not have anything to do with the tax gap, because
that is in law. What we are talking about here is people who are
not obeying the law.

Mr. SATAGAJ. Exactly. And that is my point exactly, is that we
need to have the discipline. When we are talking about the tax gap,
let us stay focused on the tax gap and respect the compliant tax-
payers.
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The last point I would like to make is about the size of the tax
gap. Bob started out by saying it was $345 billion. It could be big-
ger.

I started out $345 billion, it is actually $290 billion. It is smaller
because there is a net amount that you could collect $55 billion
really is a timing issue and so forth. So it is actually smaller than
the $345 billion from a starting point then we discussed there.

So in conclusion, we are here to work with everybody. We want
to work with all of you here on Capitol Hill, in Congress, work with
the GAO. We have met numerous times already with the IRS and
Treasury looking at identifying the research that we need, what
kind of solutions we can come up with that meet those things.

We can do this, but there is no short-term solution and this is
not going to happen overnight. It is going to take a lot of work on
all of our part.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Satagaj follows:]
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My name is John S Satagaj, and I am the President and General Counsel of the Small Business
Legislative Council (SBLC)*. I am appearing here today on behalf of the Coalition for Fairness
in Tax Compliance (CFTC). I co-chair the coalition with my colleagues from the National
Federation of Independent Business** and the United States Chamber of Commerce.***

Today, my goal is to address several important issues regarding the tax gap. First, I will talk
briefly about the CFTC and its mission in addressing the tax gap. Second, I will share CFTC’s
perspective of the tax gap data and point out areas where the data can be improved in order to
allow for better-targeted proposals. Third, I will illustrate a small component of the tax gap by
examining the underreporting of sole proprietors and the limited information we have in this area
to address the problem. Fourth, I plan to discuss the role that enforcement, education, and
simplification can play in closing the tax gap. Finally, I will recommend using caution against
harming the compliant taxpayer at the expense of resolving the tax gap.

THE COALITION AND ITS MISSION:

The CFTC was recently formed in response to efforts by the executive and legislative branches
to address the "Tax Gap," the difference between what the federal government is owed in taxes
and what it is actually paid. While it is the position of the CFTC that every individual and
business should pay in a timely manner their fair share of taxes, and those taxpayers that do not
fulfill this obligation place compliant taxpayers at a disadvantage; regulatory and legislative
strategies to collect outstanding obligations can place excessive and obtrusive burdens on the
backs of honest taxpayers.

Honest small business taxpayers are especially at risk of being subjected to needless and
unwarranted regulatory burdens in an attempt to capture the few "bad actors" that do not fulfill
their tax obligations. Small businesses already bear a disproportionate share of the cost of
regulation.

The CFTC is a coalition of small business organizations that will fight for the rights of these
honest small business taxpayers as the executive and legislative branches develop strategies to
address the "Tax Gap." It is the mission of the Coalition for Fairness in Tax Compliance to fight
for the rights of tax compliant small business owners by:

¢ Supporting the accurate use and collection of information on the source, size, and scope
of the problem of tax non-compliance that forms the foundation for policy decisions.

* Supporting targeted, sensible, regulatory and legislative measures that will reduce tax
non-compliance without generating undue burdens on the general small business
community.

¢ Encouraging tax compliance by developing tax simplification proposals for sections of
the tax code that are confusing and complicated.

* Opposing regulatory and legislative strategies proposed by lawmakers in an attempt to
increase tax compliance that impose excessive and obtrusive burdens on honest small
business owners.

We are eager to facilitate a dialogue. To that end, we have established a website at
www taxcompliancefaimess.org.
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WHAT IS THE TAX GAP?

Before we can begin a discussion of the causes of the tax gap and potential solutions, the first
step is to establish the magnitude of the gap. The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has estimated
the “Tax Gap” to be approximately $345 billion. However $55 billion of this amount is
eventually collected. It is just a timing issue. The appropriate starting number is $290 billion,

Other than making that point about the magnitude, we will leave it to others to argue about the
size, or even the existence of the “Tax Gap.” We are prepared to deal with it as a reality.
Whatever the actual number, the “Tax Gap” covers a broad spectrum of business activities and
tax compliance activities. The sources of the gap, and therefore the possible solutions for
improvement, have to be understood and evaluated as discrete, and often disparate, situations.
One solution does not fit all.

Underreporting by individuals has been identified as a problem area. According to the IRS
figures, $56 billion is attributable to non-business income. Half of the $56 billion is attributable
to “other” non-business income, the other half is scattered among nine different income
categories.

Underreporting by individuals of business income is estimated at $109 billion. Some $68 billion
is attributed to underreporting by sole proprietorships. Rent and royalties underreporting is
measured at $13 billion and underreporting by partnerships and S corporations is measured at
$22 billion.

Overstated deductions by individuals are estimated to contribute $32 billion to the tax gap.

Underreporting of income by corporations is estimated at $30 billion, with $25 billion attributed
to large corporations and the remainder to small corporations.

Underreporting of employment taxes is estimated to contribute $64 billion to the “Tax Gap.”
However, that estimate is largely dependent on the re-characterization of the underreported
income by individuals as earned income.

When you look at the information available, two observations immediately jump out. The
aggregate "Tax Gap" is simply a collection of dozens of tax-compliance functions, business
activities, and taxpayer profiles which have little or nothing in common. Solutions must be up to
the task of yielding tax revenues without placing a disproportionate burden on the affected
taxpayers. Second, the data and research necessary to make informed decisions does not appear
to exist. There are so many questions we need to answer before we can begin to craft solutions
that will be effective and not burdensome.

SOLE PROPRIETORS, FOR EXAMPLE

Both observations noted above can be illustrated by examining one component of the “Tax
Gap”—underreporting by sole proprietors. Small businesses organized as sole proprietorships
are unincorporated business. For tax purposes, the income from their business “flows through”
to their personal income tax calculations. They report their income on the Form 1040, The
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business income and expenses are reported on Schedule C, a form that accompanies the Form
1040.

As noted above, the “Tax Gap” report issued by the IRS identifies underreporting of income by
Schedule C filers as a significant source of the “Tax Gap.” What do we know about them?

In tax year 2004, 20.6 million individual tax returns reported non-farm income on the Schedule
C. Approximately 13 million of these businesses had gross receipts of $25,000 or less. This is
an important point that I will come back to with regard to realistic, not burdensome solutions.

Of the 20.6 million returns, the number with any net income was 15 million. Of that number, 3.7
million filed on a Schedule C-EZ, meaning they had business expenses of $5,000 or less, used
the cash accounting method; had no inventories; did not report a deficit from the business; had
only one business as a sole proprietor; had no employees, did not itemize depreciation; claimed
no deduction for home business expenses; and had no prior year disallowed passive activity
losses from business.

Although we do not know much about the causes of the “Tax Gap,” there is already some
discussion of solutions such as more third-party reporting or the withholding of tax from income
payments. I generally hold to the axiom, “Don’t ask a question that you don’t know the answer
to.” I will break my rule today. Do we know if there is a difference in underreporting in
business to business transactions versus consumer to business transactions?

As you know, businesses that engage the services of sole proprietors have to issue a 1099 for
amounts over $600. For years, the debate has focused on business to business (B2B) service
transactions. Some suggest the current information reporting system is not working. What is the
problem with the current system? Are the bulk of B2B transactions under $600? Or is there a
failure to file 1099s? Are there statistics on the amount of underreporting when 1099s have been
issued? For that matter, do we know how many sole proprietors receive a 1099? How many
receive multiple 1099s? Can we break that information down by business activity? It seems to
us if we had answers to some of these data questions, we might be able to get a better handle on
the sole proprietor underreporting situation.

In recent years I have come to think the underreporting problem, to the extent it may exist, might
be more prevalent in the direct consumer to business transactions. In such situations, there is no

information reporting, and it does not lend itself to withholding. But, I have not seen an analysis
that drills down below the generalization that sole proprietors underreport.

If a sole proprietor is primarily engaged in providing services to consumers, it will be difficult to
impose a “traditional” income reporting and/or withholding requirement to close the “Tax Gap.”
As the recipient of the service, a consumer would be the party required to report or withhold. On
a theoretical level, it is not likely this kind of new tax compliance burden would be well
received. On a practical level, the number of transactions could be astounding. Without
knowledge of how many sole proprietors provide services primarily to business or primarily to
consumers, different solutions to closing the tax gap will have to be identified and developed. So
I circle back to my questions: How many of the approximately 21 million Schedule C filers are
engaged primarily in transaction with consumers?
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When you look at some of the business activity sectors of sole proprietors, it also raises the

question of whether one solution fits all.

| Selected Sectors Number of Schedule Cs
Construction 2.6 Million
Specialty Trade Contractors portion 2.1 Million
Wholesale Trade 350, 0000
Retail Trade 2.4 Million
Non-store Retailer portion 990, 000
Miscellaneous Store Retailers portion 551,143
Real Estate 1.2 Millien
Transportation 980,000
Finance and Insurance 670,000
Professional, Scientific, and Technical 2.9 Million
Legal Services portion 353,000
Accounting Services portion 407,000
Architectural, Engineering portion 291,000
Management, Scientific, Technical Consulting portion | 735.000
Administrative and Support 2 Million
Health Care and Social Assistance 1.8 Million
Ambulatory Health Services (e.g. doctors’ offices) 869.000
portion
Child Care portion 694,000
Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 1.1 Million
Other Services 2 Million
Personal & Laundry Services portion 1.3 Million

are the top three sectors.

Another way to look at the sole proprietor sector is by size based on net income. The fol

lowing

Total Sole Proprietorships Net I $247 billion
Top Three Sectors by Aggregate Net Income

Professional, Scientific, and Technical 56.9 billion
Health Care and Social Assist 42 billion

Real Estate

27.9 billion
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Again, at the risk of repeating myself, what I see in those statistics are a lot of sole proprietors
potentially providing services to consumers. How can we consider solutions such as third-party
reporting or withholding until we have a firm understanding of how large a role a consumer
plays in the transaction?

As an aside, I thought it interesting that the Information Reporting Program Advisory Committee
(IRPAC), the group that advises the IRS on reporting burdens, recommended that the reporting
threshold (currently $600 on a Form 1099 Misc.) for health care professionals should be
increased to $5,000. The IRPAC said, “We believe this change in the reporting threshold will
not adversely impact the tax gap since it is our understanding, and our expectation that most, if
not all, of the medical providers are compliant taxpayers. This understanding is based upon the
nature of the business that they conduct as licensed and regulated medical service providers.”

I do not know if their conclusion is correct or not, but if you look at the tables above, this sector
is a rather large segment of the sole proprietor community by number or by net income. It is
hard to reconcile these various observations without a comprehensive research analysis.

The sole proprietor sector is just one example. I believe you will find we really do not know
enough yet about the causes of underreporting to craft solutions.

ENFORCEMENT, EDUCATION OR SIMPLIFICATION

Now, as I promised, back to the gross receipts statistics for sole proprietors. Thirteen million are
reporting less than $25,000 in gross receipts. Thirteen million. When I look at the number what
comes to my mind is that we cannot “audit our way out of this.” Yes, there will be anecdotal
information about the need for better and more audits, but there is simply no way we can allocate
the resources to reach the very taxpayers whom the aggregate “Tax Gap” data has identified.
This would suggest we need to find non-enforcement solutions.

Even then, when we do identify the causes, we still need to find non-burdensome solutions.
Thirteen million sole proprietors with less than $25,000 in gross receipts. Even if we make a
wild assumption that they are only reporting half of their income, what solutions can we find that
will produce new revenues that won’t impose extraordinary burdens on the smallest of small
businesses?

Taxpayer education must remain one of our primary tools. We believe the IRS has made
significant headway since it was given the mandate almost a decade ago to pursue more
aggressive education outreach. It will take a long time to reach the 20 million or more small
businesses (indeed as most of us in the trade association world know, one cannot get discouraged
about how many we reach with our message), but we would submit it is not only appropriate, but
essential that we continue to try. Success is hard to measure but I suppose, ultimately, if we can
get the “Tax Gap” reduced, and education is a primary component, then we know we have been
successful.

1 would be remiss if I did not state again our belief that tax simplification would reduce the “Tax
Gap.” For small businesses, particularly the sole proprietors, the challenges of divining the
purpose and meaning of the tax code are formidable. Does the IRS have any figures on how
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much income is underreported because people do not understand the tax code? It is important to
understand why there is noncompliance with the tax code. The complicated and often
contradicting laws that make up the tax code form a barrier in many cases to compliance with the
tax code. Inadvertent errors and confusion are often caused by complex laws. These same
complex laws also contribute to intentional noncompliance. Many who do not understand the
tax code may perceive unfairness in the code. Studies have shown that these same people use
this feeling of unfairness to justify their noncompliance to themselves.

RESPECT

Finally, it is incumbent upon all of us to make sure we treat the compliant taxpayer with respect.
After all, the vast majority of our revenues are collected through voluntary cooperation with a
high compliance rate of 86 percent. It is important that we reserve the label “Tax Gap” for only
those proposals which are truly related to addressing the “Tax Gap.” We fear we will see variout
revenue offsets labeled as “Tax Gap” closers. In many cases, the revenue offSets alter long time
policies upon which compliant taxpayers have fairly and honestly relied. What message do we
send to the compliant taxpayer to label these items as “Tax Gap” closers?

Conversely, we must make certain “Tax Gap” initiatives are enacted for that purpose, not for the
sake of revenue raising. A prime example of a “Tax Gap” initiative that spiraled out of control
was the enactment of withholding on government contractors. A lot of compliant taxpayers got
pinned with a cash flow penalty under that proposal in the name of “closing the tax gap.”

In conclusion, we look forward to working with the Administration, Congress, and others to
understand the nature of the “Tax Gap” and to find reasonable, effective non-disproportionately
burdensome solutions. However, we view this challenge as a long-term project.

Thank you.

* SBLC is a permanent, independent coalition of nearly 60 trade and professional associations
that share a common commitment to the future of small business. Our members represent the

i of small busi in such diverse economic sectors as manufacturing, retailing,
distribution, professional and technical services, construction, transportation, and agriculture.
Our policies are developed through a consensus among our membership. Individual associations
may express their own views.

**NFIB is the leading advocacy organization representing small and independent businesses. A
nonprofit, nonpartisan organization founded in 1943, NFIB represents the consensus views of its
members in Washington and all 50 state capitals. NFIB's mission is to promote and protect the
right of our members to own, operate and grow their businesses.

**++The U.8. Chamber of Commerce is the world's largest business federation, representing more
than three million businesses and organizations of every size, sector, and region. More than 96
percent of the Chamber's members are small businesses with 100 or fewer employees, 70 percent
of which have 10 or fewer employees. Yet, virtually all of the nation’s largest companies are
also active members. We are particularly cognizant of the problems of smaller businesses, as
well as issues facing the business community at large.

Chairman CONRAD. Thank you, Mr. Satagaj, and thank you for
those constructive thoughts.

Just on the question of how big the tax gap is, I believe it is
much larger than $345 billion because I have looked into how they
made the estimates. And I do not want to bore people with the de-
tails of how that was done. But I think honestly if you evaluate the
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way they made the estimates, the likelihood is the tax gap is sub-
stantially bigger.

First of all, that is a number from 2001. We are in 2007. If we
look back historically, we have seen that the tax gap has grown in-
exorably and, in fact, has exploded in recent years.

Second, if you talk to people in the accounting profession, they
will tell you that what we call aggressive accounting has increased
geometrically. That is because of competitive pressures, accounting
firms have become much more willing, if not eager, to engage in
very aggressive accounting practices with respect to taxes that are

ue.

Let me just go to the question I would ask each of you. If you
could give two ideas that would make a meaningful difference with
respect to the tax gap, what would they be? Mr. McIntyre?

Mr. McCINTYRE. Well, if I only had two things, No. 1 would be to
get more information from the tax haven countries about our peo-
ple and corporations who have activities there or pretend to have
activities there.

And second, a very substantial increase in the IRS budget for en-
forcement.

Chairman CONRAD. All right. Mr. Brostek?

Mr. BROSTEK. I would first encourage more information report-
ing. Although I do not have a laundry list of things that would nec-
essarily bring $300 billion down to zero, if we get information re-
porting on various types of income, it will achieve high levels of
compliance, as we have seen.

I would also look for opportunities to simplify some of the com-
plex provisions that help people who would like to cheat figure out
ways of doing so and that confuse honest taxpayers.

Chairman CONRAD. OK. Mr. Satagaj?

Mr. SATAGAJ. There are two things. One is taxpayer education.
We started on a road in 1998 to encourage better education and
outreach to the community. If you work with small businesses, you
know it is hard work to get the message out. You have to repeat
it time and time again and over and over. And we are still not
reaching the level we can. We can do better on that.

Tax simplification, of course, is a way I believe that we can get
more folks in there because there are still is a lot of folks who say,
you know what, this is too complex and I am not doing the job. And
so I think those two things could go a long way to helping us.

Chairman CONRAD. Let me ask you this question, and ask each
of the witnesses. How about tax reform? We have a tax system that
was largely constructed in the 1930’s, the 1940’s, and the 1950’s.
The world has changed. We have, I think, what is clearly a growing
tax gap which raises questions about the efficiency of the under-
lying system. How much emphasis would you put on fundamental
tax reform in order to achieve a result? Mr. McIntyre?

Mr. MCINTYRE. If we could take the tax system back to say
where it was—at least on the base—after the 1986 reform act, that
would help a lot. Since then we have added all kinds of new special
tax breaks, made the tax forms finer and finer print to fit because
of all of the extra lines. And that has annoyed the honest taxpayer
and created opportunities for those who would like to be less than
honest. So that would help.
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But perhaps most important about that kind of a tax simplifica-
tion reform effort would be to correct a growing problem. You have
the IRS running half of the Government these days, it seems like.
Health care, education, savings policies. They have to do all of
these things. That is not what they are supposed to be doing. It is
not what they are trained to do. They are supposed to be collecting
revenues fairly and efficiently. If they could get back to their real
job, they would do a much better job of it.

Chairman CONRAD. Mr. Brostek, what would you say about this
question of tax reform as an essential component?

Mr. BROSTEK. I do believe that tax reform should be part of the
strategies that are pursued for reducing the tax gap, in part be-
cause if we are able to make the code simpler, reduce the number
of credits and deductions and exclusions from income, we can have
lower tax rates. And the lower the tax rate is, the less incentive
somebody has to escape taxation. It would also help us raise reve-
nues efficiently in the economy.

I would also point out that tax reform is not necessarily synony-
mous with high levels of compliance. One of the things that is
sometimes thought about when tax reform is discussed is moving
to a consumption tax. Consumption taxes can have high levels of
noncompliance, as well. The National Audit Office in the U.K. has
estimated that their value added tax has had a tax gap of about
15.7 percent. That is roughly what we have in this country.

So reform itself can be helpful, but it is how that reform is done.
We really need to have transactions transparent to the tax admin-
istrator in order to have tax reform work well.

Chairman CONRAD. Mr. Satagaj?

Mr. SATAGAJ. I have already tipped my hand because I men-
tioned tax simplification as one of the ways I think we do a better
job, and that is fundamental to tax reform. I think you do have to
be a little careful of the difference between tax reform and tax sim-
plification.

As Mike has already pointed out, you can get tax reform without
actually simplifying. I think the important point is the comfort
level of the taxpayer has to be high enough, whatever system you
have, that they are willing to be compliant at the levels that they
are currently compliant.

Chairman CONRAD. Let me just say on the point that Mr. McIn-
tyre made, we have a building down in the Cayman Islands, one
building, a five-story building, that is the home to something like
8,000 companies.

Senator GREGG. Do you have a picture?

Chairman CONRAD. I do, it is on its way.

This building is home to some 8,000 companies all claiming they
are doing business out of that building. I have said it is the most
efficient building in the world, a very modest building. But an
amazing amount of business activity out of that building.

I think, Mr. McIntyre, you have hit on something here with re-
spect to information from tax haven countries. There is tremendous
leakage in those countries. When I was tax commissioner in my
State, and for a time the chairman of the Multistate Tax Commis-
sion, I followed the transactions of one multinational corporation
and found that in the sale of grain, that grain had changed hands
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eight times before it left this country and then went offshore. The
last I was able to follow it, it was down in the Cayman Islands,
selling from one company to another. It was amazing, no taxes re-
ported in this country, and although they showed tremendous prof-
its in the Caymans, no taxes there because they did not have any
taxes.

I found that when I was tax commissioner, one oil company that
showed losses at every step of the marketing chain in the United
States, showed huge profits in the Cayman Islands with one em-
ployee. Millions of dollars in profits because that is where they
showed all of their profits.

Actually, that man is really a hard worker. He is down there pro-
ducing millions of profits when thousands of employees in the
United States produced none.

Look, these are scams that are being run that are really unfair
to the vast majority of people who are honest. I think, Mr. Satagaj,
you said it well. The fact is most people, I think a significant vast
majority of Americans, pay what they legitimately owe. Companies
pay what they legitimately owe to the extent they understand it.

But there are a group out there, and unfortunately I think it is
a growing group, who think they can get away with murder. And
they are shoving the burden onto all of the rest of us.

Senator Gregg?

Senator GREGG. Thank you.

Picking up on that note, obviously better transparency as to what
is happening offshore would be very useful. But it does require an
international effort. I think Mr. McIntyre made that point. If we
do it unilaterally we actually end up disadvantaging ourselves in
the international trade. So it has to be done with the Europeans
and with the major economies in Southeast Asia. But it should be
done, I am 100 percent in agreement with that.

I also have some horror stories I could relate that I am familiar
with, as to people avoiding taxes by using those shelters.

So I think that is something that can be done. This committee
does not have jurisdiction over that, but it should be done.

Something else that could be done is better reporting basis on
capital assets. I think that is clearly some direction we are moving
into and it clearly should occur.

I am interested, however, in this question which you have point-
ed out, Mr. Satagaj, that is basically that unless you have the sys-
tem that people have confidence in is fair and understandable, you
are never really going to get compliance. This goes back to the 1986
act which has been highlighted here as an example of an attempt
to make our system fairer and more level, in which a lot of deduc-
tions were eliminated in exchange for reducing rates.

I guess I would ask whether or not people think that is a tem-
plate that we should return to? It has been 20 years since the 1986
act, and we have now recluttered the code with all sorts of new de-
ductions for purposes which are outside the intention of raising
revenue.

That initiative, in 1986, I was on the Ways and Means Com-
mittee. It was a bipartisan initiative led by Chairman Rosten-
kowski and the President, with the Congressional leaders being
Jack Kemp and Bill Bradley. I guess the question is should we re-
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turn to that sort of a really major effort to reduce the underbrush
and the tax laws and get back to rates that are simpler but collect
more revenues because there are fewer deductions that are being
used for the purposes of avoiding taxes?

Mr. McCINTYRE. I am obviously for it.

Senator GREGG. That is great. I am impressed that your organi-
zation would be for that. I think that is very positive.

Mr. MCINTYRE. I just want to point out that in 1986 we played
a major role in getting that bill through the Congress with the
studies we did exposing the kinds of tax avoidance that got the
public exercised and got President Reagan on board, as a matter
of fact, according to his Treasury Secretary at the time.

So yes, 1986 was the right direction. It had one flaw which was
easily corrected, that it did not raise enough money to pay for the
Government. But that is just a rate issue. That is what we need
to do, establish a tax base like 1986, with rates sufficient to pay
for what we spend. What we spend and what we take in are obvi-
ously two important questions. But whatever you decide to spend,
you ought to pay for it.

Senator GREGG. Mr. Brostek?

Mr. BROSTEK. I think that broad template is quite reasonable to
return to. It is not that there cannot be legitimate tax deductions
and tax credits. There can be things that are done well and effi-
ciently through the tax code. But we certainly think that the
growth of these special provisions ought to be reviewed. And we
ought to make sure that the provisions we have are accomplishing
a purpose at a reasonable revenue cost.

Mr. SATAGAJ. Obviously, I agree. One of the important things,
though, is you have to decide—which is just what Mike said. You
have to decide what is the purpose. Not a purely neutral system.
But our current tax code does have some purposes and we reward,
for example, home ownership as important. And if you go into a tax
reform debate, you need to decide that. Are we going to accomplish
some goals in addition to just raising revenue?

And that is the big challenge of sorting that out. Once you get
that decision made, it becomes a little easier how or where you go.
But the notion that you are just going to do this to raise revenue,
I do not think, is an acceptable starting point.

Senator GREGG. I appreciate all of your comments. I would like
to see us move in that direction.

Another ancillary point that has been made here is the account-
ing firms. We are down to four major accounting firms in this coun-
try, and that has been a function really of reform. We have essen-
tially reformed our way out of accounting firms and competition
amongst accounting firms, and therefore we do not have any ac-
counting firms left.

I guess my question would be to you, do you think having more
accounting firms and some competition there would create a better
atmosphere? Or are four major firms doing all of the audits in this
country the way to do it?

Mr. SATAGAJ. I will wear my entrepreneurial hat. I would like to
see more small accounting firms. I think obviously that small busi-
nesses—are not going to the big firms anyway. They need good ac-
counting advice and so I think it would be very helpful.
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We have talked about it. Commissioner Everson has been very
aggressive in a lot of areas as it relates to tax shelters and the like.
We have a lot of work being done in that area. But it is what we
do with the small businesses and the advice we give them that I
think is important. And I think some more activity in that area is
a plus in my book.

Mr. MCINTYRE. It would be nice to have some more accounting
firms that were less ethically challenged than the current four.

Senator GREGG. I would be interested in your thoughts on how
we do that in the context of today, when you require size in order
to basically meet the amount of compliance that we put on these
firms.

I guess my last question would be in the context of the 1986 act,
was the Breaux-Mack Commission, did they put forward some
ideas that would lead to some better compliance? Or do you reject
their ideas? Because that is the most recent major tax commission.

Mr. McCINTYRE. They had some fundamental problems. They had
a $7 trillion add-on to the deficit over the next 10 years. But be-
yond that, on the international area they said they were going to
make it harder for the IRS to get compliance. So I was very dis-
appointed in that effort, as well. It was not that fine of a piece of
work, in my view.

Mr. SATAGAJ. I do actually. Chairman Rossotti was on that com-
mission, as well. There is actually a large small business compo-
nent to what they proposed. And intriguingly, it actually promotes
more of a cash accounting system but it provides incentives to go
to that. And it is a little bit about the transparency.

I think those of us in the small business community, maybe we
would be willing to give some more transparency in return for
something that makes our life easier. If you could get to cash ac-
counting and in return you did have to make some more trans-
parency, that would be good.

A lot of folks do not look at the small business proposal in the
Breaux-Mack Commission’s work. But there are some interesting
thoughts about how you work with the small business community
to make it simpler but more transparent.

Senator GREGG. Thank you.

Chairman CONRAD. Given the number of senators here, we are
going to go to 5 minute rounds to accommodate as many Senators
as we can.

Senator WYDEN.

Senator WYDEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. This has been an ex-
cellent panel. I have been particularly pleased because, having in-
troduced the fair flat tax reform which modernizes the 1986 act by
closing loopholes so that you can lower rates, I have been really
pleased with the response that you all have given this morning.

Ever since I introduced that legislation, when witnesses show up
they all say we ought to try to update the 1986 kind of concept.
But gosh, everyone says it cannot ever be done. The newspaper re-
porters are always describing it will not happen, this is a lonely
crusade that this fellow from Oregon has taken on.

What I found striking this morning is you all have given us a
way to jumpstart the effort to close the tax gap and also do tax re-
form. And that is through tax simplification.
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There have been 15,000 changes in the tax code since the last re-
form. It comes to three for every working day over the last 20
years. People spend more to fill out forms than our Government
spends on higher education.

I have a one page 1040 form with 30 lines in my Fair Flat Tax
Act. Senator Gregg mentioned the Breaux-Mack Commission.
Their’s is about seven lines longer. For purposes of Government
work, it is a no-brainer to put the two of them together.

I just want to go down the row and ask, we can start with Mr.
MeclIntyre, would it not make sense to come out of this hearing and
say the next step that could promote common ground—and I note,
Mr. McIntyre, you have been trying to do that with your cleanse
the code effort, and I have been glad to be part of it—would it not
make sense to come out of this effort and say let us go now to tax
simplification and use it to jumpstart a real plan to close the tax
gap and to reform our tax law?

Let’s start with you.

Mr. MCINTYRE. I am certainly in favor of the outlines of your tax
reform plan. I have a couple of quibbles, but very few. So if we
could find a way to move that forward, and if this was a good way
to make that happen I would be in favor of it.

My big caveat is I cannot figure out how any good tax reform
could be signed by the current president of the United States. So
it makes me very nervous that we would end up with something
bad.

Senator WYDEN. I told the President that another tall Democrat
on the Senate Finance Committee named Bill Bradley wanted to
work this out, as well. My jump shot is not as good as a Bradley’s,
but I still think the spirit of 1986 can be replicated.

Mr. MCINTYRE. There is one difference. When Ronald Reagan
read our corporate studies, finding out that General Electric, his
former employer, was not paying any taxes, he was appalled and
said, “do something about it.” When we put out our most recent
corporate study, saying that under President Bush’s policies 82
companies out of 275 were paying nothing at all, Bush’s people
said, “is it only 82?”

Senator WYDEN. Mr. Brostek, on starting this with tax sim-
plification, what is your reaction to that?

Mr. BROSTEK. I think that is a good strategy for starting to try
to address the tax gap.

Senator WYDEN. Very good.

Mr. Satagaj, I was really pleased to hear your comments today
on tax simplification, because I know, having worked with my
small business community, that people are just fighting for sur-
vival. And so the inclination is to always kind of tinker with the
code a little more. But I gather you would be comfortable with that
simplification, as well.

Mr. SATAGAJ. Simplification, my caveat is the one I said a few
moments ago, you have to buy into a purpose of what you are going
to do with the tax code. That is far more difficult. It is nice to look
at the 1040 and the lines and stuff like that. But if you look, for
example, at the rest of the recommendations of the President’s Ad-
visory Group, there is a lot of complexity behind that, particularly
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on the business side. It is not just a little form to fill out. There
are a lot of decisions that go behind that.

So is a far more difficult challenge than getting a little consensus
that it is time to clean up. It is getting the consensus on the pur-
pose that is far more important.

Senator WYDEN. Mr. Chairman, I would just note that a number
of us here serve not just on this committee but on the Finance
Committee. Given the number of witnesses that constantly come up
and say you have to drain this swamp, I think we need to do some-
thing. One member of the Senate Finance Committee told me, “I
do not really know about your bill as it relates to every provision.
But after 20 years, this has just gotten out of hand. We have to
cleanse the code.”

And I hope, Mr. MclIntyre, that your group, the Cleanse the Code
Coalition, can really get out and prosecute the case about what we
can do in this country by cleaning out some of the clutter, getting
more transparency, closing the tax gap and jump starting us to real
tax reform.

I commend all three of you for an excellent presentation. Mr.
Satagaj, I am going to be back at you specifically about my legisla-
tion.

Mr. SATAGAJ. I look forward to it.

Senator WYDEN. I thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman CONRAD. Senator Wyden.

I would like to take this moment to indicate that I am going to
form at least two working groups of the Budget Committee, one on
health care and one on this whole issue of tax gap tax reform. I
am going to ask, on the health care piece of it, that Senator Wyden
and Senator Whitehouse lead that effort. I am going to ask, with
respect to that tax reform piece of it, that Senator Wyden and Sen-
ator Stabenow be involved with that. I would welcome the interest
of other members on these two committees. And I am going to indi-
cate that there will be others that we will form.

The magnitude of the challenges that we face are so large that
I think we have to establish some working groups of smaller mem-
bers of the committee to come back to the full committee with spe-
cific proposals. I have had long discussions with Senator
Whitehouse and Senator Wyden on the whole question of the
health care piece of it. I know that Senator Wyden has been espe-
cially engaged in that issue, as well as the tax reform. I do not
know if it is fair to burden with asking you to also be involved on
the tax reform piece.

And Senator Stabenow, you are a member of the Finance Com-
mittee. I hope that you would be engaged in that effort.

We will ask Senator Grassley to be involved on the other side
with the tax reform pieces, the ranking member of the Finance
Committee. On health care, we will ask members on both sides
who is willing to put in additional time with respect to those
issues.

But I think it is absolutely urgent that we come back with spe-
cific proposals and that is what I am going to be asking these
working groups to do.
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These will not be the only, there will be a number of other areas
that we need to address as well, and we will be talking about those
in the coming days.

Senator Allard, thank you for your patience, sir.

Senator ALLARD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you for
setting up this panel.

In this discussion, I think the assumption is that the IRS is the
perfect agency and they do not make mistakes and some of the
things that they deal with are ignored, as far as performance is
concerned.

I do not know whether anybody on this panel has looked at the
business system modernization that has been going on at the Inter-
nal Revenue Service. But what I see in looking at what shows on
paper is that that particular program is not meeting its perform-
ance goals. The President, in the last budget, actually had de-
creallsed its funding because it was not meeting its performance
goals.

Can either one of you comment on the purpose of that particular
program, and whether it is working from your perspective or not?

Mr. SATAGAJ. Actually, I am glad you brought that point up be-
cause earlier when the Chair asked for a couple of suggestions on
how to close the tax gap, I had a third. One of them is the problem
in the IRS with its ability to accomplish anything with the informa-
tion it currently has. For example, if you get into the 1099s and
t}ﬁe i‘?ssue of matching them and do you have the capability to do
that?

Right now it is my belief that the IRS is behind in exactly the
way you are saying in those kind of things. I remember the first
time I saw an IRS Service Center and they had what they called
a Gideon table. I do not know if you all are familiar with that, but
is a desk with about a zillion little slots that they throw tax re-
turns into.

Well, I saw that in 1985 and it is still in use. They may still have
it.

But the notion of the computerization and the modernization and
all of that, it has a long way to go yet. There is no doubt about
that, in my opinion.

Senator ALLARD. Anybody else looked at that program?

Mr. BROSTEK. Although I have not personally be involved in re-
viewing that program, GAO has looked at it a number of different
times. And it is certainly true that it is well behind the milestones
that were originally established and IRS has struggled over a num-
ber of years to be sure that it has sufficient management capacity
to manage this kind of transformation in their IT systems.

It is also fundamental to getting efficiency improvement in how
IRS uses its own resources. The ability to process more information
electronically and to analyze it rapidly, is key to then better identi-
fying how to allocate their own resources.

Senator ALLARD. Do you think electronic filing would help with
that particular program?

Mr. BROSTEK. I do. One of the things that that allows IRS to
do—and give them some credit, they have begun doing this—is to
reduce the amount of work force that is doing the kind of things
that Mr. Satagaj just mentioned, pushing paper around, and in-
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stead use work force that have higher-level abilities to actually fig-
ure out who is non-compliant and audit them and get the money
that is owed. IRS has been able to close down the paper processing
pipeline in a couple of service centers because of the increase in
electronic filing. Further electronic filing will help them continue
that.

Senator ALLARD. I have run into several individuals who are just
starting out in life. They are young families. And the IRS has sent
a notice to them that they did not pay enough taxes. One family
pointed out and said well, they are claiming I do not have a kid.
I said I distinctly remember getting up early in the morning and
changing diapers. So do not tell me I do not have a kid.

But to try and correct that, I mean the margin of error on some-
thing to correct that form is $85 or $65, it is some amount less
than $100. And what their accountant will tell them is, you are
better off just to pay the thing instead of fight the IRS on it.

Has anybody ever done a study to find out how much effort is
made to collect money from taxpayers who owe under $100? You
are getting down to a minuscule amount. On one taxpayer it may
not amount to much. If you are just a starting family, it is a for-
tune. If that happens with 500,000 families, for example that file
joint returns, you are talking about $50 million.

So has anybody ever looked at those small collections that the
IRS spends time on and enforces? How much enforcement action is
put in that particular area? And what do you do about those kind
of situations?

Mr. BROSTEK. I am not personally aware of whether a study has
been done on that exact issue of how much resources go into these
kinds of small dollar issues.

I do know that IRS has various thresholds in pretty much all of
its enforcement programs, and they do try to allocate their re-
sources to go after suspected noncompliance that would be worth
pursuing.

It is, in part, a speculation on my part, but a situation that you
are talking about could be something that is being turned out from
their information returns program where they match up informa-
tion returns. That is a fairly inexpensive program for them, be-
cause it is largely computerized. The generation of the notice is
computerized. Their biggest expense is when people call in to try
and figure out how they can take care of their situation.

So there are some situations where a relatively small dollar
amount might still be efficiently pursued by the IRS.

Senator ALLARD. In that electronic program, how does an error
like that happen? They did not even recognize the one kid.

Mr. BROSTEK. Again, I do not know what the circumstances were
there. It is possible that they had not recorded the Social Security
number for the dependent on their tax return, or perhaps made an
error in putting that number down on the tax return, and therefore
the IRS did not recognize that there was a valid child for the cou-
ple.

Senator ALLARD. Thank you. My time has expired.

Chairman CONRAD. Senator Stabenow.

Senator STABENOW. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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And first, thank you for once again providing us with a very im-
portant hearing that is extremely relevant to what our task is. So
thank you for doing that.

Also, thank you for the working groups. As Senator Snowe and
I have been working on the issue of health information technology,
which I know you are interested in, and Senator Whitehouse and
I have spoken about it as well. We are looking at at least $100 bil-
lion in savings there if we focus on health IT. So I am hopeful that
we might wrap that into what we are talking about, as well. There
is tremendous savings there.

Welcome to all of our panelists. Thank you for your thoughtful
information. Particularly Mr. Satagaj, I want to welcome you rep-
resenting small business. You are, I know, connected with the asso-
ciation of a dear friend of mine, Peter Perez. He certainly keeps me
focused on what small businesses are concerned about.

Mr. SATAGAJ. Me, too.

Senator STABENOW. So I appreciate your being here.

I did want to look from a broad perspective at what we have
heard today because I am very concerned about what this means
for middle income families, small businesses, the majority of people
in our country.

Mr. McIntyre, you said that the largest cause of the enormous
deficits has been the drop in personal income taxes, about 28 per-
cent, again the highest income individuals less likely to be a wage
earner, more likely to be a non-wage earner, a 28 percent drop. The
lowest, in terms of revenues as a share of GDP, in the last 55
years.

But then when we look at that and then we look at also your tes-
timony saying that it is actually a wage earner, a person who gets
a paycheck, which is the majority of Americans, who are most like-
ly to file their taxes, the most honest in that sense of filing and
reporting and so on. And that where the challenge is are non-wager
earners whose income comes from stocks, real estate annuities, for-
eign income and so on, where there is more of a challenge in under
reporting for reasons whether that is on purpose or not. And it may
not be.

But it shows a picture, Mr. Chairman, that is of great concern
to me about what is happening to the majority of Americans who
did not receive a benefit from the tax cuts, are paying their taxes
dutifully. What they get from the bargain is less resources for their
children’s school or access to college or challenges around health
care or whatever.

And yet we see of the $350 billion, or whatever the number is,
that if everyone was paying their fair share, we would in fact be
investing in things that all Americans believe are important for
quality of life. So I think this is a critical, critical issue.

In terms of enforcement, Mr. McIntyre, I'm wondering if you are
recommending that the majority of enforcement go to non-wage
earners? It seems to me we hear about a lot of folks, middle income
families and so on, the IRS issues related to working folks. Are you
recommending that, in fact, we change the focus more toward those
individuals based on this picture that represent the majority of
noncompliant taxpayers?
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Mr. McINTYRE. Yes. The increase in enforcement that is needed
the most is going after these upper income people and large multi-
national corporations that are moving income and profits offshore.
There are other tax shelters that need to be investigated, too, and
Senator Grassley has exposed a number of those. But the offshore
situation is the worst. And I can tell you that it is not your average
wage earner engaged in these abusive practices.

Senator STABENOW. Absolutely.

When you mentioned the penalties when you were speaking, in-
creasing penalties, could you give an example of what kind of in-
crease, which you would recommend as it relates to penalties to ad-
dress these kinds of things?

Mr. McCINTYRE. For instance, we have some penalties for tax pre-
parers that intentionally file wrong returns for people. Some of
them are only $50 or $100. With an audit rate now in the 0.8 per-
cent range, and clients that will pay you to help them cheat—some
will, anyway—well, it is just not enough because you are not going
to get caught very often. So if the chances are one in 100 of getting
caught, we want a penalty that is very severe, not $50 or $100 but
thousands of dollars. Maybe that will scare some of these people.

Senator STABENOW. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman CONRAD. Thank you, Senator Stabenow.

If I could just put up the—on the question Mr. McIntyre was just
raising, here is now the picture of the building in the Cayman Is-
lands. I was wrong. I think I said 8,000 or 10,000.

Mr. McCINTYRE. They probably got 4,000 more in the time you
had to get that put together.

Chairman CONRAD. 12,748 companies call this building home.
Looks like a relatively modest building but it must be wired with
the latest technology to have 12,000 companies doing business out
of this building.

They are not doing business out of this building. They are en-
gaged in a tax dodge out of this building. And that is precisely
what Mr. McIntyre is referencing when he is talking about these
offshore tax havens.

Frankly, if you look at the estimates that the IRS has for the tax
gap, I think this is where they really missed the boat. I think tens
of billions of dollars are being flushed through these tax haven op-
erations and it is really terribly unfair to the vast majority of hon-
est taxpayers in this country.

Senator WHITEHOUSE.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Satagaj, I assume that the Chairman’s picture, where you
have 12,000 businesses crammed into a five-story building, is not
the type of small business that you are representing?

Mr. SATAGAJ. I was thinking that. I am pretty sure none of our
members are one of those occupants.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. When you all talked about the idea of re-
quiring substantially increased enforcement, I could sort of feel a
chill emanating across the country from this committee room as
people who spent—we heard from Chairman Bernanke—an aver-
age of 27 hours coping with the filling out of their tax forms. The
ordinary wage earner these days probably has two jobs and also
moonlights, so it is a little bit more complicated. And I think there
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are a lot of Americans who have the sense that if the IRS really
came after them, somehow or other they would probably be able to
find something just because it is so complicated.

So the idea of additional enforcement, I think, carries some real
hazard in terms of public acceptance. And in terms of dealing with
that question, I am interested in having you quarter up a little bit
more the question that Senator Stabenow raised, which is the focus
of that additional enforcement will fall into four rough categories:
major corporations, small businesses, high net worth individuals,
and ordinary folks. Roughly, where do you think the $350 billion
or more, specifically the $100 billion that you think is readily col-
lectible, where does that fall in rough numbers into those four cat-
egories of corporate and individual taxpayers? Or non-taxpayers, as
may be the case.

Mr. McCINTYRE. The offshore area, which is my primary focus
here, is all upper income, very upper income people and large cor-
porations. So those are your two areas that I think should be the
focus. I think that is where there is a huge amount of money.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. Out of the $100 billion, what would the
amount be that you would guess relates just to the offshoring?

Mr. MCINTYRE. There is probably $100 billion in those two alone,
according to estimates. Nobody knows for sure because these things
are all secret. But we do know that there is $11 trillion in offshore
accounts worldwide, which at some reasonable rate of return is
probably earning something like $1 trillion in income every year.
And the United States share of that is probably close to half.

So that is $500 billion on untaxed money right there that, even
at a 20 percent rate, is $100 billion.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. So the average American taxpayer can feel
reassurance that if we double the enforcement, there is not going
to be somebody knocking on their door?

Mr. McINTYRE. The average American taxpayer wants the police
to go after criminals. If you told the average American that we
were going to hire some more policemen because there is a crime
wave going on in your neighborhood, they will be happy about that,
not sad.

Well, we have a crime wave going on among people who are very
respectable and very wealthy and very prestigious, but they are not
the average American.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. Thank you.

Mr. BROSTEK. I am not sure that I can give you a clear answer
on how to quarter this up.

I agree with the point that we really do not know well, for these
overseas transactions, what the level of noncompliance is. It is an
area that is very difficult to study because of the transparency
issue that we talked about before. If somebody is trying to hide
something, it is difficult for IRS to get behind that, particularly
when you are talking about sovereign nations. There does seem to
be a potential that there are big dollars involved. We are pleased
that IRS has been trying to put some emphasis into trying to figure
out how to tackle that.

Small businesses, for the universe that IRS has the best meas-
urement of, which is the individual income tax, small businesses do
stick out as one of the noncompliant groups, in general. It is a
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tough problem, given what Mr. Satagaj was talking about. There
are millions of really small businesses. It all adds up to big dollars
but you are talking about a lot of small dollars to go after.

And from the taxpayers’ perspective, one of the things that was
mentioned earlier is that small businesses are less than 50 percent
fully compliant. That means that those who are compliant are com-
peting against a business that has an unfair advantage. And that
can be a substantial unfair advantage.

So I think that is part of what IRS needs to take into account.

Senator WHITEHOUSE. Mr. Chairman, I think that it is important
to get after this. And just from my own personal experience, I can
remember as U.S. Attorney running an FBI investigation that
ground to a halt, probably in a building very like yours, where the
FBI, pursuing a criminal matter, simply could not penetrate the
multiple veils of Cayman Islands offshore corporate shells in pur-
suit of a criminal case. So to ask the IRS to do it more effectively
without further help from this committee, I think is a tough burden
to put on them.

Chairman CONRAD. I think the Senator makes a very good point
and a powerful point.

That this thing is going on right before our eyes, it is inexcusable
really. Mr. Satagaj, you are here representing small business. I
come from a small business family. My family was in the printing
and newspaper business. They paid their taxes. And it was not al-
ways comfortable to do so. But to have this kind of scam going on,
were others just evade and avoid what they legitimately owe and
stick the rest of us with the bill, this just cannot be acceptable.

We have to find a way to aggressively go after this. To have
12,000 companies supposedly doing business out of this building is
not credible. It is farcical.

And there are so many other scams. We have a situation now
where companies are buying sewer systems—this is true, this is
not a joke. They are buying sewer systems in Europe, depreciating
them on their books, leasing them back to the cities in Europe that
paid for them with taxpayer dollars there. I mean, that is inexcus-
able, that that kind of thing is going on.

Senator SANDERS.

Senator SANDERS. Mr. Chairman, thank you for holding this very
important hearing.

I just came, and the reason that I was late is I came from a
meeting of the Veterans’ Committee where some of us believe that
the VA is grossly underfunded, that our veterans are not getting
the health care and other benefits that they need. One of the rea-
sons is that there is presumably not enough money available.

So this is not some kind of abstract issue. This is a question of
whether children get health care, veterans get the benefits that
they need. And it is absolutely appropriate for this committee to
take a hard look at why people who have the capability are inten-
tionally avoiding paying what they are supposed to be paying in
taxes according to the law.

I just have a few questions. According to a recent New York
Times article written by David K. Johnson, he says—and I quote—
“Top officials at the IRS are pushing agents to prematurely close
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audits of big companies with agreements to pay only a fraction of
the additional taxes that could be collected.”

One IRS employee, according to the New York Times, says that
when it comes to corporate audits the IRS is “giving away the
store.”

Another describes the corporate audit process as “catch and re-
lease.”

I would like to ask Mr. McIntyre and Mr. Brostek if they believe
that the IRS is doing all that it can in collecting corporate taxes?
And if not, what do you believe that they should be doing. Mr.
McIntyre?

Mr. McCINTYRE. I think it is a question of resources, not a ques-
tion of intent on the IRS’s part. As the auditors told the New York
Times, they are not doing as much as they should be doing.

Last September GlaxoSmithKline settled a long-running tax dis-
pute with the IRS for $3.5 billion, which is a record settlement.
Great, except that the IRS pointed out they actually owed $15 bil-
lion. So they were only paying 23 cents on the dollar. That is the
kind of thing that you were talking about from those New York
Times articles, that they just do not have enough people who can
sit on these cases and pursue them long enough. So they are doing
these fast audits, where they get what they can.

But you were a corporation that for whatever reasons thinks you
should not be paying taxes hey, you get caught and you pay back
22 cents on the dollar.

Senator SANDERS. These large corporations, large drug compa-
nies, have incredible resources and can hire the best tax people and
the best lawyers in America.

Mr. MCINTYRE. Or the worst, depending on your point of view.

Senator SANDERS. Certainly, the IRS does not have that capa-
bility. Isn’t that our fundamental problem, with a Government
agency taking on corporations that have unlimited resources and
incredible capabilities of getting the best, or the worst if you like?

Mr. McCINTYRE. These cases, typically once they are discovered,
are not that complicated. You do not have to have a graduate de-
gree in tax sheltering to figure out that they are illegal. The deal
is that they are covered up so that they are very hard to discover.
Once they are discovered, with most of these offshore things, a
first-year law student could win the case.

So it is not that the Government employees are incompetent. It
is just they have too much work to do, compared to the number of
people they have.

Senator SANDERS. Mr. Brostek?

Mr. BROSTEK. I certainly would agree that there is a large audit
universe out there that IRS cannot get to with its current re-
sources. There is a decision for Congress to make about how that
weighs up against other governmental priorities.

I do not know precisely how this initiative is working that was
written up in the article. One of the things that IRS is, I think,
trying to take into account is the deterrent effect of auditing more
people. And so I think part of their philosophy or their thinking
here is we may not get all of the money from some of these corpora-
tions that we audit. But if we can audit more of them, have an
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audit presence across a larger portion of the corporation universe,
we may actually improve compliance more than if we go for every—

Senator SANDERS. And one can understand that. But isn’t the an-
swer to do both?

Mr. BROSTEK. If you were unconstrained in resources, that would
certainly be—

Senator SANDERS. But isn’t that a good investment? Here is a
case of hiring more staff, which one would think would more than
pay for itself if we began to make a dent on some of these issues
that the Chairman was talking about. Am I missing something
here?

If you could bring in billions of additional dollars hiring a few
hundred or even a few thousand more staff would be minuscule
compared to what you are bringing in. Am I missing something on
that?

Mr. BROSTEK. Your logic is generally sound, yes.

Senator SANDERS. Mr. Brostek, in February of 2004 the GAO
found that Department of Defense contractors owed about $3 bil-
lion in unpaid taxes as of September 30, 2002 because the DOD
had failed to implement IRS collection procedures.

In addition, GAO often “found abusive or potential criminal ac-
tivity relating to the Federal tax system” through a GAO audit in-
vestigation of 47 DOD contractors.

To your knowledge, has the Department of Defense or the IRS
done anything to collect these unpaid taxes?

Mr. BROSTEK. I would have to get back to you on that, sir. That
is not an area that I was doing the work in. Perhaps I could give
you a response for the record.

Senator SANDERS. If you could, please.

Let me ask you another question, sir. In 2004, the GAO found
59 of the largest publicly traded contractors in fiscal year 2001 re-
ported having a subsidiary in a tax haven country. Do you believe
that companies with offshore tax havens have an unfair advantage
over companies that do not in competing for Government contracts?
If so, what can we do to correct this problem?

Mr. BROSTEK. As I recall, the conclusion in that report was that
the contractor who had an offshore presence in a jurisdiction that
had a low tax rate could have a cost advantage over a purely do-
mestic contractor. We did not have a recommendation for how to
address that situation and I do not have one for you today, I'm
afraid.

Senator SANDERS. That is something that we should be—yes.

Mr. McIntyre, in your testimony, you gave us a number of op-
tions to consider that would reduce the tax gap, ranging from
cracking down on offshore tax shelters and stock option abuse to
increased reporting requirements on capital gains and an addition
of more IRS auditors. What do you think would be the most impor-
tant step for Congress to take in making sure the corporations and
wealthier individuals pay their fair share?

Mr. MCINTYRE. You could raise tax rates, but that only gets the
honest people. So if you are trying to get the ones who are not pay-
ing their fair share, then the answer is you need more enforcement.
And you also need more disclosure.
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Because so much of this tax sheltering is happening offshore, we
need to resuscitate an effort that President Bush jettisoned back in
2001 and get these tax haven countries to tell us, and tell Britain
and France and Germany and all of the other developed countries,
what our citizens and their citizens are doing in those places.

If we get that information, then most of those schemes can be
uncovered and people will stop doing them eventually.

Senator SANDERS. What kind of staff increases do you think the
I}I}S ?needs to do? What has to be done? Do you have any sense on
that?

Mr. McCINTYRE. They are down about one-third from where they
were 10 years ago in enforcement. So you would need a 50 percent
increase just to get back to where you were 10 or 12 years ago. And
we are a bigger economy and so forth now.

Senator SANDERS. And more complicated tax laws as well.

Mr. MCINTYRE. Yes. You might talk about thinking about how to
double the size of that enforcement staff over a period of time. You
cannot do it instantly. It takes a long time to train people and work
them in. But that would be the kind of goal.

Senator SANDERS. I presume you have little doubt that paying for
that increased staff would more than be balanced by the kinds of
revenue that you are bringing in?

Mr. MCINTYRE. It is hard to imagine that it would not be. The
IRS has an $11 billion budget and brings in $2.2 trillion, so it is
about 230-to-one on the whole process. With incremental—increase
in funding, you are not going to get that ratio. But you are going
to get $10 or $20 or $30 or $40 per dollar spent, depending on
where you put the money.

Senator SANDERS. Thank you, very much. Thank you, Mr. Chair-
man.

Chairman CONRAD. Thank you, Senator Sanders.

Let me just conclude by asking each of you how much do you
think can be reasonably obtained by reform of our current proc-
esses: increased reporting, increased withholding where appro-
priate, increased resources for IRS, tax reform, going after this
international tax haven, requiring reporting of those transactions.

How much do you think over a period of time—obviously I am
talking 3 years out because you are not going to turn around this
ship quickly. But three or four or 5 years out, how much money per
year do you think could be obtained by an aggressive approach to
this tax gap?

Mr. McCINTYRE. That is a hard question because of the required
training of the IRS employees and so forth. But let us say we had
not cut back 10 years ago and the IRS still had full manpower. I
would think you could be picking up—if you also made some of the
changes TI've suggested here—$100 billion a year more in a steady
state. Maybe more than that if people stop doing these things.

Scaring people out of entering into shelters is even better than
catching them after they do it. And that is one of our goals here.

Chairman CONRAD. Mr. Brostek?

Mr. BROSTEK. I really do not have an empirical basis to give you
a good estimate there.

One piece of input on that. Commissioner Rossotti, in his last re-
port to the IRS Oversight Board, estimated that—if they had the
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resources in IRS to followup on all of the cases of suspected non-
compliance; where they were pretty sure someone was noncompli-
ant—he calculated that about a $2.2 billion increase in their budg-
et would yield about $30 billion.

Again, we did not audit that estimate. I do not know how reliable
it is. But it gives you a sense just from the enforcement perspec-
tive, that there would be large amounts of money that could be
available.

y Ch%irman CONRAD. Over what period of time was that? Do you
now?

Mr. BROSTEK. He was suggesting that the way to approach this,
given what we have been talking about, that it takes some time for
IRS to gear up, would be—and it was his proposal—to give IRS a
real budget increase of 2 percent a year over a number of years.
I do not remember the specific number, but it was seven, eight or
10 years in time, to allow them to increase their capacity gradually.

And so that $30 billion would have been after IRS had received
these budget increases that he was proposing.

Chairman CoONRAD. That would just be on the enforcement side?

Mr. BROSTEK. Correct.

Chairman CONRAD. Frankly, I think there is more money to be
recovered on the reporting side by increased reporting that on the
enforcement side. I do not denigrate the need to have more enforce-
ment.

But frankly, I think if you had more transparency on these inter-
national transactions, but also in reporting on money flows where
the IRS then had the ability to match up what is reported versus
virlhat is actually happening. I think there is bigger money to be had
there.

Mr. BROSTEK. I would agree with you, that if you had the ability
to do more transparent transactions, that you are going to obtain
higher levels of compliance and probably not need the IRS re-
sources.

In the charts that were shown earlier, if you have information
reporting that IRS can make use of, the level of compliance is very
high. And it stays high because, in essence, we are auditing all of
those transactions every year.

Chairman CONRAD. And that is self-policing in the sense that
people know look, everybody is going to know what it is.

Mr. BROSTEK. Right.

Chairman CONRAD. Mr. Satagaj, let me ask you this question, be-
cause you are here representing an extremely important constitu-
ency group. You earlier talked about how do you do this without
hurting the compliant taxpayer, those who are already paying—
and they are the significant majority here—who are paying what
they legitimately owe or pretty close to what they legitimately owe.

What do you think the tradeoff is here, what could we do that
would be seen as fair by small business in terms of increased re-
porting to get the bad actors—especially on this international side.
Very few small businesses are—I would venture to say none of your
constituents are over in this Cayman Islands building. I do not
think they have offices over in the Caymans.

What do you think? How could this be done in a way that would
enjoy the support of the small business community?
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Mr. SATAGAJ. We have been looking at it a lot already. As I said
at the beginning, we are not against this. We want to find some
way and find some solutions.

Do not forget, we are dealing with primarily compliant tax-
payers. This is under reporting of income by someone who is in the
system. So you do not want a proposal that pushes people out of
the system. We will end up with a cash economy, even with the in-
formation reporting or withholding, you will push people in the
wrong direction.

And we do not know why they are under reporting. You would
say yes, well, we can do the information return. But if you are
under reporting, are you going to capture the information in an in-
formation return? Where is that going?

For example, right now with 1099s—and Mike knows this as well
as I do—they require someone to issue a 1099 for $600. That low,
that is a pretty small transaction.

Now who are you missing in there, when you are under $600?
Anq? why are they under reporting? Is it collusion between two par-
ties?

There is so much there that what my guess is that what you are
going to find out—and this is the danger with the information re-
porting or withholding—is you push people in the wrong direction
instead of the right direction. I think we just have to figure out and
identify more carefully who is it that is under reporting? And what
is the transaction that they are under reporting? We have no sense
of that in any of the data or the research that I have seen.

Chairman CONRAD. Let me just say from talking to people in the
accounting profession, I will tell you what they tell me, and these
are the people who are on the front lines. I have a lot of people that
I have worked with over the years who are in the accounting pro-
fession. We have had some bad actors in the accounting profession.
We have also had some—I used to be a tax commissioner. I can tell
you firms that were the gold standard in accounting who I knew
were honest and did a good aggressive job of representing their cli-
ents. But at the end of the day advised their people to pay what
they legitimately owed.

What they are telling me is you have several classes here. You
have under reporting, especially in places where basis is an issue.
I sel(z all of the witnesses nodding. I think we all know how that
works.

If you are looking, especially at real estate transactions, what
matters is what you paid for the property, the depreciation you
took while you held that property, and what you sold the property
for. Your basis for tax purposes is determined by subtracting from
what you paid for the property the depreciation you took.

People in the accounting profession tell me there is tremendous
under reporting of what is the true basis in a property and real es-
tate.

That the same is true for purposes of capital gains. Obviously,
there you do not have the depreciation issue but you have what you
paid for stock initially versus what you sold it for. And that there
is an appropriate reporting there.

The third area is those who are self-employed who are simply
under reporting their income.



205

The fourth area, and the accounting profession has told me re-
peatedly, is this offshore business. That this is huge and growing
and extremely abusive. That companies simply moving this income
offshore, where there is no transparency, no ability for serious
oversight, and this is a real hemorrhage of both wealthy individ-
uals and a certain sector of corporate America. A minority, but sig-
nificant in dollar terms.

Those are areas that people who are in the accounting profession,
talking off the record to me, have said they think are the biggest
areas of abuse.

Any response to any of that? Any sense from your own experi-
ence or own contacts? Mr. Satagaj?

Mr. SATAGAJ. Just on one point, and we all have anecdotal infor-
mation, and that is part of the problem. Particularly with the sole
proprietors, I go back to one of the very first questions I raised. We
do not know how many sole proprietors do business primarily with
consumers versus other businesses. And so my guess is that it is
a consumer-to-business transaction that is most likely not to be re-
ported as income.

You can hear your accountant friends say that and I do tax law,
I know what you are talking about, too. But we do not know in any
way that we can make a systematic decision OK, this is what we
need to do about it. Because you are going to deal with that under
reporting far differently than someone who is getting their income
from business.

You can go to these areas, but the truth is we are really missing
some basic information here.

Chairman CONRAD. That is a point very well taken. If there is
one thing that is very frustrating, first of all, we are dealing with
a study that tries to indicate the size of the tax gap in 2001. And
it is based off returns from the 1980’s, updated through a series of
attempts to make it relevant to today.

Truthfully, I believe that I think the tax gap is far in excess of
the Revenue Service estimate, now that I understand how the Rev-
enue Service made that estimate. I sat down with representatives
and went through in some detail how they arrived at this number.
I think, if anything, it just jumps out at me that it probably signifi-
cantly understates how big it is.

We have come to the end here. I want to thank all of the wit-
nesses for participating in this panel. It is certainly beneficial to
this committee, as we wrestle with these issues and try to address
the longer-term fiscal imbalances that our country faces, which ac-
cording to the first two witnesses we had before this committee—
the head of the General Accounting Office and now most recently
last week, the Chairman of the Federal Reserve—they alerted us
to the very serious nature of these long-term fiscal imbalances and
the adverse effect it could have on our country of a failure to act.

We thank you very much for your constructive suggestions here
today.

With that, we adjourn the meeting.

[Whereupon, at 11:45 a.m., the hearing was concluded.]
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ENCLOSURE ENCLOSURE

GAO RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS FOR THE
RECORD ON THE JANUARY 23, 2007 TAX GAP TESTIMONY

QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR LAUTENBERG

Question 1: We know that the Enforcement Division at the IRS generates four dollars
in revenue for every one dollar that it spends. Is there a point where extra funding for
this division would not pay for itself?

Answer: Conceptually, a tipping point would exist where extra funding for
enforcement would not pay for itself. However, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) does
not know where that point is and the tipping point could vary depending on where
additional resources are used. Expanding some types of enforcement might result in
enforcement costs exceeding enforcement revenue more rapidly than others. IRS does
not have reliable data on the marginal returns of investing more resources in various
enforcement activities and this further complicates analyses of possible tipping points.

Question 2: According to the IRS 2001 Tax Gap Study, the underreporting of business
income was one of the single largest causes for the tax gap and made up to 31 percent or
$109 billion of the total tax gap. Do you think that the reduction of Tax Payment
assistance centers has been problematic with respect to the tax gap?

Answer: We are not aware of any data that demonstrates the effect that taxpayer
service centers have on the tax gap. It is widely accepted that taxpayer service does help
increase compliance, particularly among those who wish to comply. However, since a
relatively small portion of all taxpayers use taxpayer service centers, any reduction in
service from the centers is likely to have a relatively small effect on the overall tax gap.

Question 3: Considering the recommendations in your report and also the Department
of the Treasury’s Tax Gap Reduction Strategy, do you think that the President’s 2007
budget request for the Enforcement division was sufficient?

Answer: Although we have testified that IRS identifies millions of cases of apparent tax
noncorpliance that it cannot pursue now but could pursue if it had more enforcement
resources, determining whether and how much to expand IRS funding is a policy choice
for Congress to make. As our January 23, 2007, testimony stated, determining the
appropriate level of enforcement resources requires taking into account many factors,
such as how effectively and efficiently IRS is currently using its resources, how to strike
the proper balance between IRS's taxpayer service and enforcement activities, and
competing federal funding priorities.



207

ENCLOSURE ENCLOSURE

GAO RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS FOR THE
RECORD ON THE JANUARY 23, 2007 TAX GAP TESTIMONY

QUESTION FROM SENATOR SANDERS

Question 1: In February 2004, GAO found that Department of Defense contractors
owed about $3 billion in unpaid taxes as of September 30, 2002, because DOD had failed
to implement IRS collections procedures. In addition, GAO often "found abusive or
potentially criminal activity relating to the federal tax system" through a GAO audit of 47
DOD contractors. To your knowledge, has the Department of Defense or the IRS done
anything to collect these unpaid taxes?

Answer: In our report on Department of Defense (DOD) contractors with tax debt—
GAOQ-04-95, Financial Management: Some DOD Contractors Abuse the Federal Tax
System with Little Consequence, February 2004,—we reported that DOD was not
assisting IRS in collecting tax debt from its contractors because the Defense Finance and
Accounting Service (DFAS) had not made most of its payments to contractors available
to the Department of the Treasury's Financial Management Service’s (FMS) Federal
Payment Levy Program (FPLP). IRS and FMS use the FPLP to withhold a portion of the
payments going to federal contractors (and other recipients of federal payments) with
tax debt as a method of collecting the taxes they owe. We also reported that even if DOD
were participating in the FPLP, many of DFAS'’s payments would not be levied because
the tax identification numbers (TINs) in DFAS's systers had not been validated and
many did not match IRS’s records. This matching is crucial to the government’s ability to
levy such payments.

In response to recommendations contained in our report, DOD has worked with FMS to
develop procedures for more thorough participation in the FPLP. For example, DOD
began submitting payments made by all but two of its payment systems to FMS for levy
through the FPLP. According to the Federal Contractor Tax Compliance Task Force
(established as a result of GAO'’s work in this area), the two systems not in the FPLP
account for less than one percent of DFAS's payments to DOD contractors.

DOD, FMS and IRS have also taken additional actions to improve the collection of tax
debt owed by federal contractors. Specifically,

¢ In 2006, DOD began informing FMS and IRS of the contracts it enters into with
contractors, which allows IRS to begin preliminary tax collection procedures that are
necessary prior to IRS placing tax debtors into the FPLP. This early notification
allows DOD and IRS to begin levying contractor payments earlier than had been
possible in the past;
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ENCLOSURE ENCLOSURE

GAO RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS FOR THE
RECORD ON THE JANUARY 23, 2007 TAX GAP TESTIMONY

o DOD has begun a process to validate the TINs in the government’s Central Contractor
Registration (GCR) to ensure that they are valid and match the TINs in IRS's records;
and

« DOD, FMS, and IRS have implemented a provision of the American Jobs Creation Act
of 2004 (26 U.S.C. § 6331 (h)(d)) that allows for the levy on payments to federal
contractors to be up to 100 percent of the payment amount. Prior to this, the
maximum amount that could be levied was limited to 15 percent of each payment.'

As aresult of these efforts and other improvements in IRS’s FPLP-related tax collection
policies and procedures, tax collections from FPLP levies on payments to DOD
contractors has risen from less than $1 million in fiscal year 2003 to over $26 million in
fiscal year 2006. Cumulatively, between fiscal years 2003 and 2006, IRS has collected
over $52 million in tax debt from DOD contractors through the FPLP.

In our report, we also discussed 47 contractors whom DOD had paid significant sums—
in some instances, several million dollars—at the time they also had significant tax debt.
Our investigation of those 47 cases found abusive or potentially criminal activity relating
to the Federal tax system. Further, 23 of the 47 cases were included in the FPLP as of
December 31, 2005--the last date on which we have updated information. As of then, the
status of the 47 cases was:

o in 3 cases, IRS had collected all of the outstanding tax debt;

s in4 cases, the contractor had agreed to pay the tax debt through installment
payments;

s In 27 cases, IRS was no longer attempting to collect the debt because IRS records
indicated that the contractors were either bankrupt, out of business, or IRS had
determined that they were unable to pay the tax debt. Limited additional follow up
on our part indicated that some of these companies continued to operate, but they
were doing so under different names and TINs;

e in 4 cases, IRS had initiated criminal investigations based on our referral; and

e in the remaining 9 cases, IRS records indicated it was pursuing collection of the tax
debt through its various routine collection activities.

(450565)

"This provision has been implemented only for DOD contractors. Implementation for non-DOD contractors is
awaiting a technical change in the law to accommodate limitations in FMS’s payment systems that do not exist
within DFAS's systems.
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U.S. SENATE,
COMMITTEE ON THE BUDGET,
Washington, DC.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:03 a.m., in room
SD-608, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Kent Conrad, chair-
man of the committee, presiding.

Present: Senators Conrad, Nelson, Cardin, Whitehouse, Gregg,
and Allard.

Staff present: Mary Naylor, Majority Staff Director, Scott Gudes,
Staff Director for the Minority.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN KENT CONRAD

Chairman CONRAD. The Committee will come to order.

I want to welcome everyone to the hearing today on the Congres-
sional Budget Office’s January budget and economic outlook.

I want to particularly welcome our new Director of the Congres-
sional Budget Office, Dr. Peter Orszag. I notice that Dr. Orszag has
with him a special assistant. Maybe Dr. Orszag, you could intro-
duce your daughter, who is with you.

Mr. ORSZAG. Yes, my 6-year-old daughter, Layla, is sitting right
behind me. And she’s very good at math. So if I need some help
she might step up here.

Chairman CONRAD. We will look forward to that.

We are delighted that Dr. Orszag has taken this position. Dr.
Orszag is a distinguished economist, one of the most prolific writ-
ers in the economic field. He has dealt with almost all of the major
islfueg that are facing us as significant challenges in the years
ahead.

I am also especially pleased to note that he was a successful
businessman and brings those skills to the job, as well.

We also want to recognize Dr. Marron, who is the Acting Direc-
tor. We are especially pleased that we understand that you will be
staying and we are delighted by that. We thank you for your serv-
ice, as well.

We have this hearing to review CBO’s outlook.

Senator GREGG. All three of us went to the same high school.

Chairman CONRAD. Oh, we did? I deny it.

[Laughter.]

Chairman CONRAD. I have had a chance now to review CBO’s re-
port, which was released yesterday. I think it is very important for
us to say there is nothing in this report which alters the fact that
our Nation’s long-term fiscal condition is completely unsustainable.

(209)
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It is important to remember that CBO is required to assume a
continuation of current law and is not allowed to add in the cost
of likely policy changes. So this is no criticism of CBO. They are
constrained by the requirements under which they operate.

Looking just at 2007, CBO’s deficit estimate understates the
shortfall because it does not account for the $100 billion war sup-
plemental President Bush is expected to send to us. Nor does it ac-
count for the cost of fixing the Alternative Minimum Tax.

Again, this is not any fault of CBO’s. This is the way they are
required to do things. They are required to base their assessments
on current law without respect to policy changes that might occur.

Let me put up the first slide and we will try to go through this
quickly. While CBO estimates with omitted costs that the deficit
will fall to $218 billion, that number tells only half of the story. Let
me indicate that $218 billion is not their estimate. Their estimate
is $172 billion. But when we add back what we see as omitted
items, the President’s war supplemental that has not come up here,
the need to fix Alternative Minimum Tax, we come to a deficit of
$218 billion. But that significantly understates the red ink, because
the debt will increase by $510 billion during this year.

Increase in Debt in 2007 is Far Greater
Than the Estimated $218 Billion Deficit

{$ in billions)
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Source: CBO, SBC Democratic staff

Note: Omitted costs include supplemental funding for the wars in fraq and Afghanistan, AMT relief, and expiring tax provisions.

The 10-year baseline projection by CBO understates actual defi-
cits because CBO, as I have said, has to assume continuation of
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current law. We get a more realistic picture when we put back ad-
justments for the following items: we add in the cost of the Presi-
dent’s proposal to make the tax cuts permanent. That is a cost over
10 years of $2.3 trillion. We add in the cost of Alternative Min-
imum Tax reform. That is a cost over 10 years of over $1 trillion.
We add in the cost of the President’s proposed defense buildup, and
that is a cost of well over $800 billion. No, the defense buildup is
somewhere around $260 billion. The ongoing war cost is over $860
billion. We add in the associated cost of debt service on all of the
above items and that is approaching $900 billion.

CBO’s Ten-Year Baseline
Estimate Understates Deficit

Adjustments:

» Cost of Making Tax Cuts Permanent $2.34 T
* AMT Reform $1.04T
* Bush Defense Buildup $267 B
* Funding for Ongoing War Costs $857 B
* Debt Service $986 B
* Remove Extension of 2007 Supplementals -$920 B

Total $46T

Source: CBO and SBC Democratic staff
Note: Remove extension of 2007 suppiementals inciudes debt service

We remove the multiyear cost of extending the 2007 emergency
funding and get a total adjustment of $4.6 trillion over the next 10
years. The $4.6 trillion is not to the good side, it is the red ink side.

Once we have made these adjustments to CBO’s baseline esti-
mate, this is the picture we get of our long-term budget outlook.
It shows that significant deficits continue throughout the next 10
years at a time we should be paying down debt to prepare for the
coming retirement of the baby boom generation.
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Long-Term Budget Outlook

($ in billions)
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Source: CBO and SBC Democratic staff
Note: CBO January 2007 estimate with tax cuts made permanent, AMT reform, ongoing
war costs, Bush defense buildup, and without extension of 2007 emergency funding.

The reality is that we are facing a wall of debt. At the end of
2001, the year the President took office, gross debt was $5.8 tril-
lion. Under CBOQO’s adjusted baseline, we can see the gross debt will
reach $9 trillion by the end of 2007. And if we continue with these
policies, gross debt is projected now to soar to over $12 trillion by
the end of 2012. I want to emphasize, that is not CBO’s estimate.
That is our estimate, taking the CBO number and adjusting it for
these omitted costs.
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Building a Wall of Debt
Gross Federal Debt Soars

($ in trillions)
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Source: OMB, CBO and SBC Democratic staff
Note: CBO January 2007 estimate with tax cuts made permanent, AMT reform, ongoing
war costs, Bush defense buildup, and without extension of 2007 emergency funding.

The revenue improvement in CBO’s report results from adjust-
ments in CBO’s calculations that have nothing to do with stronger
economic growth. In fact, CBO’s latest figures for economic growth
in 2006 and 2007 are actually weaker than the Agency predicted
last August. Let me indicate, for 2006 the forecast for economic
growth was reduced from 3.5 percent to 3.3 percent. And looking
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ahead to this year the previous forecast, which estimated economic
growth would be about 3 percent, now says economic growth will
be 2.4 percent.

Economic Growth for 2006 and 2007 Weaker
than in CBO’s August 2006 Update

{Real GDP growth)
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Source: CBO

The revenue improvement that we see in this forecast must be
considered in the context of the serious collapse in revenue that oc-
curred after 2000. Real revenues, that is adjusted for inflation, only
recently exceeded their 2000 level. I know my colleague will want
to talk about the last 3 years where we have had significant rev-
enue growth, but that is after we saw significant revenue declines.
We saw in 2000 we had revenue of just over $2 trillion. We only
got back to that amount in real terms in 2006. So we have had rev-
enue stagnation for six or 7 years and now the estimate for this
year is good growth.
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Real Revenues Only Recently
Exceeded 2000 Level
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Unfortunately, when we compare this revenue growth to previous
recoveries, we still see that this is lagging well behind the revenue
growth we have seen in previous recoveries. In fact, if we look at
the average of the nine previous business cycles, look at all of the
recoveries since World War II and compare revenue growth to
teach of those other recoveries this recovery is running $127 billion
short of the typical recovery.
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Real Revenues Lag Typical
Recovery Even with
Recent Revenue Gains

{(inflation-Adjusted Federal Revenues, Percent Change from Business-Cycle Peak)
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In his recent testimony before the Senate Budget Committee the
head of the GAO, Mr. Walker, summed up our fiscal outlook as fol-
lows: “We are an imprudent and unsustainable long-term fiscal
path, and while the short-term deficits have improved in recent
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years, the long-term is getting worse every second of every minute
of every day and the time for action is now.”

GAO Comptroller General Walker on
Solving Nation’s Fiscal Problems

“We are on an imprudent and
unsustainable long-term fiscal path,
and while the short-term deficits
have improved in recent years, the
long term is getting worse every
second of every minute of every day
and the time for action is now.”

- Government Accountability Office
Comptroller General David Walker
Testimony before Senate Budget Committee
January 11, 2007

Comptroller General Walker has it exactly right. And I am
pleased to say on that issue Senator Gregg and I are in agreement.
Our long-term situation is unsustainable. We need to respond to it
and we need to do it as quickly as we can.

With that, I welcome Senator Gregg.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR JUDD GREGG

Senator GREGG. Thank you.

Doctor, it is nice to have you. It is especially nice to have your
daughter here, future Exeter student probably.

Let me pick up where Senator Conrad left off, which is the issue
of the long-term. Because essentially what the CBO projections say,
and although I do not agree with all of the comments made by the
Senator from North Dakota, the Chairman, he is correct that there
is a lot that is left out because of the rules that you have to func-
tion under, such as the war costs and the AMT issue.

But following the mechanics of the CBO baseline, basically if we
put things on automatic pilot we would end up in surplus in 2012.
But the statutory baseline obviously leaves things off the table that
Congress is likely to be put back in, so the baseline surplus number
in 2012 would end up being different. Even though a possible sur-
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plus looks like that is good news, obviously very good news, it does
not address that truly acute issue which we confront, which is the
fact that once the baby boom generation begins to retire, all of the
numbers go south on us in a very aggressive way.

And in your own estimates you are projecting that there is going
to be an approximately 6 percent average annual growth in entitle-
ments over the next 10 years, and that by the year 2017, entitle-
ments will absorb close to 11 percent of the GDP. And as we move
out into the years, that number goes up dramatically and becomes
unsustainable.

I think it is important, to note that these short-term deficit pro-
jections, which are improved, are a function primarily of revenue
growth. If you look at what percentage of GDP is the Federal Gov-
ernment generating in revenues, historically we get 18.2 percent of
GDP. Today we are getting about 18.4 percent of GDP. So our reve-
nues are robust and they are getting stronger. And CBQO’s projec-
tions are for fairly strong revenue growth as we go forward. And
as a result, the Government is moving in a very positive direction
for the next few years from a standpoint of the deficit.

But that does not resolve the problem in the out years because
you cannot tax your way out of this problem. You cannot grow your
way out of this problem. The only way that you are going to ad-
dress this problem is if you look at the programs which are in place
and try to make them affordable for our children at the same time
as we allow them to continue to be strong programs for those who
are retired.

So I would be interested in your thoughts on that, and I do think
it is important that we highlight that and that would not allow the
short-term good news, which is very positive, to cause us to take
our eye off the real issue which is the long-term seriousness of the
problem.

So we appreciate you coming here today. We appreciate your
willingness to take on this job.

I also want to join the Chairman in thanking Donald Marron for
his wonderful service, extraordinarily good service, and the fact
that he is willing to stay on and participate at CBO is critical.

You are our umpire, our fair arbiter, and we appreciate the fact
that you have been willing to take on this job, and to have your
expertise at the table is going to be a big assistance to us.

Thank you.

Chairman CONRAD. Thank you, Senator Gregg.

Dr. Orszag, please proceed with your testimony.

STATEMENT OF HON. PETER R. ORSZAG, DIRECTOR,
CONGRESSIONAL BUDGET OFFICE

Mr. OrszAG. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chair-
man and Senator Gregg, I want to first note that I very much look
forward to working with you and the rest of the committee and the
rest of the Congress as I assume this new position.

I also want to just emphasize how delighted I am to be coming
into a position that has such an outstanding staff and that allowed
me to get briefed and ready for this testimony in a short period of
time.
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I want to make five points about the document that we released
yesterday, and I think it is important in interpreting the economic
and budget outlook to take all five points into account. So with that
caveat in mind, the first point is the path of the budget under the
baseline.

As you both know very well, that baseline has a particular set
of rules associated with it which I will return to in a moment. But
under that path, the budget deficit does fall from $248 billion in
2006 to $172 billion this year and then falls further in 2008 to
under $100 billion. It then increases slightly in 2009 and 2010. It
essentially reaches balance in 2011 as various revenue provisions
expire as scheduled under current law, and then moves into sur-
plus in 2012 and thereafter, again under the assumptions of the
baseline. Under that baseline, publicly held debt would fall from 37
percent of the economy to 20 percent by the end of the 10-year pe-
riod.

The second point though is that, as is now well known, that offi-
cial baseline reflects a particular concept, which is the application
of current law with regard to both revenues and spending. It there-
fore leaves out various things that outside observers believe will
occur in terms of change policy that will affect budgetary outcomes.

Mr. Conrad, as you have already mentioned, what we did was we
provided a variety of alternative policy paths, changes in policies,
that would allow members of this committee and others to evaluate
the impact on the budgetary outcomes. I provide just one example
of those changes in policies.

The baseline, as you know, assumes that discretionary spending
only keeps pace with inflation and not with population growth or
with overall economic growth. As a result, discretionary spending
falls from 7.8 percent of the economy to 5.8 percent of the economy.
If instead, and excluding the spending on the global war on ter-
rorism, discretionary spending kept pace with overall economic
growth, the budget balance in 2012 would deteriorate by $122 bil-
lion and over the 10-year period by $1.5 billion. Those are inclusive
of debt service costs associated with the change in policy.

Furthermore, the official baseline assumes that all of the tax pro-
visions that are scheduled to expire, most of which in 2010, actu-
ally do expire. If instead the 2001 and 2003 tax legislation were
continued past 2010, the deficit in 2012 would be $267 billion lower
and the 10-year impact is $2.3 trillion.

Furthermore, the baseline assumes that the Alternative Min-
imum Tax will rise from affecting 4 million taxpayers in 2006 to
33 million by 2010. The combination of the assumptions with re-
gard to current law on the EGTRRA and JGTRRA, that is the 2001
and 2003 tax provisions, and with regard to the Alternative Min-
imum Tax provide the primary explanation for why revenue in-
creases from 18.6 percent of the economy this year to roughly 20
percent in 2011 and thereafter.

If you prevented the Alternative Minimum Tax from growing in
the way that is suggested under the baseline, again the deficit im-
pact in 2012 would be roughly $50 billion and the 10-year impact
would be over $700 billion. The Alternative Minimum Tax and the
2001 and 2003 tax provisions interact, and taking those inter-
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actions into account would add another $61 billion in 2012 and
$542 billion over 10 years.

Put that together and instead of a surplus of $800 billion, under
this change in policy there would be a deficit of over $4 trillion over
the 10-year window.

Obviously, policymakers can evaluate different courses of future
policy and evaluate the impact on the budget outcomes under those
changes.

My third point is that there is significant uncertainty that sur-
rounds budgetary projections because of future economic develop-
ments and other technical changes. Just to put that in context, this
year spending will be about $2.7 trillion, revenue we project at $2.5
trillion. That means that if you are 5 percent too high on spending
and 5 percent too low on your revenue projection, you shift from
a projected deficit of $200 billion to an actual surplus of more than
$50 billion. I think it is important for everyone to realize, because
the deficit is the difference between two large numbers; being
slightly off on those two large numbers can have a very big impact
on the difference between the two, the deficit.

So we try to characterize or present for you the implications of
that uncertainty. Under our baseline, in 2010 we show a deficit of
roughly 1 percent of GDP, 0.9 percent of GDP. But based on past
experience, there is a 20 percent probability the deficit may be 3
percent of GDP or larger under current law and there is a 5 per-
cent probability that the budget would actually be in surplus of 3
percent of the economy or more.

So we are trying to provide some insight into the span of the un-
certainty that surrounds future budgetary outcomes.

The fourth point is that, consistent with the emergence of pro-
jected surpluses under the baseline, there has been a significant
shift in the budget baseline since last August. I would emphasize
immediately though, and Senator Conrad you already pointed to
this, this is not the result primarily of changes in economic as-
sumptions. Those changes in economic assumptions have a very
modest effect on the 10-year numbers.

Nor are the 10-year numbers primarily due to changes on the
revenue side. In fact on the revenue side, from all the various com-
ponents, the overall impact is only a little bit more than $50 billion
over the 10-year window. There is a more significant impact in the
short term and then that diminishes over the long-term. For the
10-year period as a whole, most of what is happening is on the out-
lay side.

There are two parts. One part is purely artificial. It reflects for
how we account for, under current law, discretionary spending. As
you know, we take enacted appropriations in the current year and
inflate them out over the rest of the projection window in the base-
line. Last August, when we were doing the projections, the enacted
appropriations included $120 billion for Iraq, Afghanistan, and the
global war on terrorism and $56 billion for domestic relief activi-
ties, for example with regard to Hurricane Katrina.

This year thus far the Congress has appropriated $70 billion for
operating if Iraq and Afghanistan and there is no corresponding
appropriation for domestic relief activities. As a result, our baseline
now is reduced by $497 billion on defense spending and $500 bil-
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lion on non-defense spending. In other words, roughly half of the
improvement in the 10-year numbers is purely a mechanical impli-
cation of how we account for supplemental and unusual spending
and does not reflect anything about the underlying fiscal environ-
ment.

Another component of it though does reflect changes on the out-
lay side with regard in particular to Medicare and Medicaid. There
have been some real changes in projections of those programs.
There has been an improvement over the 10-year window of rough-
ly $445 billion in Medicare spending, the majority of which is in
Part D. Part D spending we now project for that 10-year window
to be $265 billion lower than in August. That reflects both the ac-
tual information we now have on enrollee behavior and patterns
and the fact that bids for this year are coming in 15 percent lower
than last year, and also that we now expect that larger share of
beneficiaries will have other coverage and not take up the Part D
benefit. I would be happy to talk further about those changes dur-
ing the question and answer period.

But, I would emphasize that nothing in those changes alters the
fundamental conclusion that over the long term Medicare and Med-
icaid will continue to grow more rapidly than the overall economy
and will put severe pressure on the overall fiscal picture.

That brings me to my final and perhaps most important point.
The long-term picture facing the Federal Government is not pretty.
Under current law, without addressing in particular ongoing cost
increases in our health programs, we face a very serious fiscal im-
balance. I would agree with both Chairman Bernanke and Mr.
Walker that it is better to address that sooner rather than later be-
cause it opens up more options for how to address the problem.

Even within the budget window you can start to see the pressure
that is building. Medicare and Medicaid, the Federal share of Med-
icaid, amount to 4.5 percent of the economy today. By 2017, the
end of our projection window, we project that they will amount to
5.9 percent of our economy. If health care costs continue to grow
at the same rate as they have over the past 40 years, which is the
top line in this chart, by 2050 those two programs alone would ac-
count for 20 percent of the economy, which is basically the size of
the entire Federal Government today.

Even if health care cost growth slowed so that it is only 1 per-
centage point faster than economic growth, those two programs
would account for 10 percent of the economy. That is the funda-
mental long-term problem facing the Federal Government, and it
is related to a problem facing the private sector also, which is cost
growth in the health sector.

I look forward to working with you to provide you with the ana-
Iytical input so that you can start to address that fundamental
problem in the long-term fiscal picture for the United States.

So just to very briefly summarize, there is some short-term good
news in this report. But the good news is not quite as good as it
might initially seem. And the long-term picture remains very, very
serious and deserving of attention.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Orszag follows:]
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Chairman Conrad, Senator Gregg, and Members
of the Committee, thank you for giving me this
opportunity to present the Congressional Budget
Office’s (CBO’s) budget and economic outlook for
fiscal years 2008 to 2017.!

If current laws and policies remained the same, the
budget deficit would equal roughly 1 percent of
gross domestic product (GDP) each fiscal year
from 2007 to 2010, the Congressional Budget
Office (CBO) projects. Those deficits would be
smaller than last year’s budgetary shortfall, which
equaled 1.9 percent of GDP (see Table 1). Under
the assumptions that govern CBO’s baseline pro-
jections, the budget would essentially be balanced
in 2011 and then would show surpluses of about

1 percent of GDP each year through 2017 (the end
of the current 10-year projection period).

The favorable outlook suggested by those 10-year
projections, however, does not indicate a substan-
tial change in the nation’s long-term budgetary
challenges. The aging of the population and con-
tinuing increases in health care costs are expected
to put considerable pressure on the budget in com-
ing decades. Economic growth alone is unlikely to
be sufficient to alleviate that pressure as Medicare,
Medicaid, and (to a lesser extent) Social Security
require ever greater resources under current law.
Either a substantial reduction in the growth of
spending, a significant increase in tax revenues
relative to the size of the economy, or some com-
bination of spending and revenue changes will be
necessarg to promote the nation’s fong-term fiscal
stability.

1. See Congressional Budget Office, The Budget and
Economic Outlook: Fiscal Years 2008 to 2017 (January
2007).

. For a detailed discussion of the long-term pressures
facing the federal budget, see Congressional Budget
Office, The Long-Term Budget Outlook (December
2005), Updated Long-Term Projections for Social Secu-
rity (March 2005), and The Outlook for Social Security
(June 2004).

0

CBO’s baseline budget projections for the next 10
years, moreover, are not a forecast of future out-
comes; rather, they are a benchmark that lawmak-
ers and others can use to assess the potential
impact of future policy decisions. The deficits and
surpluses in the current baseline are predicated on
two key projections (which stem from fongstand-
ing procedures that were, until recently, specified
in law).2

m Revenues are projected to rise from 18.6 per-
cent of GDP this year to almost 20 percent of
GDP in 2012 and then remain near that histori-
caily high level through 2017. Much of that
increase resuits from two aspects of current
law that have been subject to recent policy
changes: the growing impact of the alternative
minimum tax (AMT) and, even more signifi-
cantly, various provisions originally enacted in
the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconcil-
iation Act of 2001 (EGTRRA) and the Jobs
and Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of
2003 (JGTRRA) and modified by subsequent
legislation, which are scheduled to expire by
December 31, 2010,

Outlays for discretionary programs (activities
whose spending levels are set anew each year
through appropriation acts) are projected to de-
cline from 7.8 percent of GDP last year to 5.8
percent of GDP by 2017—a lower percentage
than any recorded in the past 45 years. That pro-
jection derives mainly from the assumption in
the baseline that discretionary funding will
grow at the rate of inflation, which is lower than
the growth rate that CBO projects for nominal
GDP. The projection for discretionary spending

bl

The Balanced Budget and Emergency Deficit Control
Act of 1985, which established rules that govern the cal-
culation of CBO’s baseline, expired on September 30,
2006. Nevertheless, CBO continues to prepare baselines
according to the methodology prescribed in that faw.
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Table 1.

CBO’s Baseline Budget Outlook

Total, Total,
Actuai 2008- 2008-
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2012 2017
fn Biflians of Doftars
Total Revenues 2,407 2542 2720 2809 2901 3167 3,404 3550 3717 3896 4084 4,284 15001 34531
Totai Qutlays 2654 2714 2818 2,926 3038 3179 3234 3391 3,533 3,687 3892 4,034 15194 33731
Total Deficit {-) or Surplus  -248 -172 -98 -116 -137 -12 170 159 185 208 192 249 -194 800
On-budget 434  -357 299 332 367 258 -85 -101 79 -57 72 <10 -1342 -1,662
Off-budget” 186 185 201 216 230 246 255 261 264 265 264 259 1,148 2,461
Debt Held by the Public
atthe End of the Year 4,829 4995 5104 5232 5380 5403 5242 5089 4912 4709 4521 4,274 na. na,
As a Percentage of Gross Domestic Product
Total Revenues 184 186 190 187 184 192 198 198 198 199 200 201 191 195
Totat Qutlays 203 199 197 195 193 193 188 189 188 188 191 189 193 19.1
Total Deficit {-) or Surplus ~ -L9 -1.3 7 -08 09 -0.1 Lo 0.9 Lo 11 0.9 12 =0.2 0.5
Debt Held by the Public
atthe End of the Year 370 366 357 348 342 328 305 283 262 240 221 201 n.a. n.a.
Memorandum:
Gross Domestic Product
{Bittions of doliars) 13,066 13,645 14,300 15,014 15742 16,465 17,205 17,973 18,764 19,582 20,425 21,295 78,726 176,766

Source: Congressional Budget Office.
Note: n.a. = not applicable.

a. Off-budget surpluses comprise surpluses in the Social Security trust funds as well as the net cash flow of the Postal Service.

implicitly assumes that no additional funding is
provided for the war in Iraq in 2007 and that
future appropriations for activities related to the
war on terrorism remain equivalent, in real
(inflation-adjusted) terms, to the $70 billion
appropriated so far this year.

Policy choices that differed from the assumptions
in the baseline would produce different budgetary
outcomes. For example, if lawmakers continued to
provide relief from the AMT (as they have done
on a short-term basis for the past several years)
and if the provisions of EGTRRA and JGTRRA
that are scheduled to expire were instead extended,
total revenues would be almost $3 trillion lower
over the next 10 years than CBO now projects.
Similarly, if discretionary spending (other than for

military operations in Iraq and Afghanistan) grew
at the rate of nominal GDP over the next 10 years,
total discretionary outlays during that period
would be nearly $1.3 trillion higher than in the
baseline. Combined, those policy changes—and
associated debt-service costs—would produce a
deficit of $328 billion (1.9 percent of GDP) in
2012 and a cumulative deficit over the 2008-2017
period of $4.2 trillion (2.4 percent of GDP).

Underlying CBO’s baseline projections is a fore-
cast that U.S. economic growth will slow in calen-
dar year 2007 but pick up in 2008. Specifically,
CBO anticipates that GDP will grow by 2.3 per-
cent in real terms in 2007, a full percentage point
fess than the growth recorded last year. For 2008,
CBO forecasts that GDP growth will rebound to



225

3.0 percent. Under the assumptions of the base-
line, real GDP growth would continue at a similar
rate in 2009 and 2010 and then slow to 2.7 percent
in 2011 and 2012. For the rest of the projection
period, average growth of real GDP is projected to
decrease to 2.5 percent per year as increases in the
size of the workforce continue to slow.

The Budget Outlook

CBO estimates that if today’s laws and policies
did not change, federal spending would total

$2.7 trillion in 2007 and revenues would total
$2.5 trillion, resulting in a budget deficit of

$172 bitlion. The additional funding that is likely
to be needed to finance military operations in Iraq
and Afghanistan would put that deficit in the
vicinity of $200 billion. Even so, this year’s short-
fall would be smaller than the 2006 deficit of
$248 billion.

Baseline Projections for the 2008-2017
Period

Under current laws and policies, the deficit would
drop further in 2008, to $98 billion. That decrease
results primarily from two factors. On the revenue
side of the budget, receipts from the AMT are esti-
mated to increase by about $60 billion next year
because of the scheduled expiration of the relief
provided through tax year 2006. (In addition, tele-
phone-tax refunds, which totaled $13 billion in
2007, are projected to drop by $10 billion in
2008.) On the spending side of the budget, outlays
for operations in Iraq and Afghanistan and for
relief and recovery from hurricane damage are
about $14 billion lower in 2008 than in 2007 under
the assumptions of the baseline.

The baseline deficit is projected to rise modestly
over the following two years, 2009 and 2010, as
outlays grow by about 3.8 percent annually and
revenues increase by about 3.3 percent a year. That
projected growth rate for revenues is lower than in
recent years, mainly because corporate profits and
capital gains realizations are expected to revert to

levels that are more consistent with their historical
relationship to GDP.

After 2010, spending related to the aging of the
baby-boom generation will begin to raise the
growth rate of total outlays. The baby boomers
will start becoming eligible for Social Security
retirement benefits in 2008, when the first mem-
bers of that generation turn 62. As a resuit, the
annual growth rate of Social Security spending is
expected to increase from about 4.5 percent in
2008 to 6.5 percent by 2017.

In addition, because the cost of health care is
likely to continue rising rapidly, spending for
Medicare and Medicaid is projected to grow even
faster—in the range of 7 percent to 8 percent
annually. Total outlays for those two health care
programs are projected to more than double by
2017, increasing by 124 percent, while nominal
GDP is projected to grow only half as much, by
63 percent (see Figure 1). Consequently, under the
assumptions of CBO’s baseline, spending for
Medicare, Medicaid, and Social Security will
together equal nearly 11 percent of GDP in 2017,
compared with a little less than 9 percent this year.

Revenues are projected to increase sharply after
2010 given the assumption that various tax provi-
sions expire as scheduled. In the baseline, total
revenues grow by 9.2 percent in 2011 and by

7.5 percent in 2012, thereby bringing the budget
into surplus. Beyond 2012, revenues are projected
to grow at about the same pace as outlays

(by roughly 4.5 percent a year), keeping the bud-
get in the black through 2017 under baseline
assumptions.

Relative to the size of the economy, outlays are
projected to range between 18.8 percent and

19.7 percent of GDP during the 2008-2017 period
under the assumptions of CBO’s baseline—lower
than the 20.6 percent average of the past 40 years
(see Figure 2). Mandatory spending (funding
determined by laws other than annual appropria-
tion acts) is projected to grow by 5.9 percent a
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Figure 1.

Projected Growth of the U.S. Economy and Federal Spending for

Major Mandatory Programs

(Cumulative nominal percentage growth from 2006 level)
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year over that period, which is faster than the
economy as a whole. By contrast, discretionary
appropriations are assumed simply to keep pace
with inflation and, to a lesser extent, with the
growth of wages. Thus, discretionary outlays are
projected to increase by about 2.0 percent a year,
on average, or less than half as fast as nominal
GDP.

CBO projects that revenues will average 18.7 per-
cent of GDP from 2008 to 2010 (close to the 18.6
percent level expected for this year) before jump-
ing sharply in 2011 and 2012 with the expiration
of tax provisions originally enacted in EGTRRA
and JGTRRA. After that, revenues are projected to
continue growing faster than the overall economy
for three reasons: the progressive structure of the
tax code combined with increases in total real
income, withdrawals of retirement savings as the
population ages, and the fact that the AMT is not
indexcd for inflation. Under the assumptions of
the baseline, CBO projects that revenues will

equal 20.1 percent of GDP by 2017—a level
reached only once since World War I1.

Federal government debt that is held by the public
(mainly in the form of Treasury securities sold
directly in the capital markets) is expected to equal
almost 37 percent of GDP at the end of this year.
Thereafter, the baseline’s projections of smaller
annual deficits and emerging surpluses diminish
the government’s need for additional borrowing,
causing debt held by the public to shrink to

20 percent of GDP by 2017.

Changes in the Baseline Budget Outlook
Since August

Although the long-term budgetary picture contin-
ues to be worrisome, the baseline outlook for the
next 10 years has brightened in the five months
since CBQ issued its previous projections.’

4. Those projections were published in Congressional Bud-
get Office, The Budget and Economic Outlook. An
Update (August 2006).
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Figure 2.
Total Revenues and Outlays as a Percentage of Gross Domestic Product,
1966 to 2017
{Percent)
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Source: Congressional Budget Office.

Budgetary outcomes have improved for each year
from 2007 to 2016 (the period covered by

the previous projections), from a reduction of
$114 bilion in the deficit for 2007 to a swing of
$285 billion in the bottom line for 2016 (from a
deficit of $93 billion to a surplus of $192 billion).
In all, those reductions represent a difference of
about 1.2 percent of GDP over 10 years.

Those changes overstate the fundamental
improvement in the underlying budget outlook,
however. Roughly half of the total change stems
from the baseline’s treatment of previous supple-
mental appropriations for disaster relief and the
irregular pattern of funding for military operations
in Iraq and Afghanistan. Consequently, more than
half of the improved bottom fine is unrelated to
changes in the underlying budgetary and economic
environment,

Much of the remaining change to the current base-
line comes from lower projected spending for
Medicare. Total outlays for that program over the
2007-2016 period are nearly 8 percent lower in

this baseline than in CBO’s August projections.
That reduction is largely attributable to new esti-
mates of per capita costs for all Medicare benefits,
but it also reflects lower projections of the number
of enrollees in the prescription drug benefit pro-
gram. Those recent changes, however, do not sig-
nificantly alter the upward trajectory of Medicare
spending in the long term.

The Economic Outlook

The Federal Reserve’s shift in monetary policy
over the past two and a half years and the recent
decline in housing construction are expected to
restrain economic growth this year, but the econ-
omy is likely to post solid gains next year. CBO
forecasts that GDP will grow by 2.3 percent in real
terms in calendar year 2007 but by 3.0 percent in
2008 (see Table 2).

Gains in employment, which remained solid in
2006 despite a slowdown in economic growth dur-
ing the second half of the year, are expected to
lessen in 2007. That change may cause unemploy-
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Table 2.

CBO’s Economic Projections for Calendar Years 2007 to 2017

(Percentage change)

Forecast Projected Annual Average
2006 2007 2008 2009-2012 2013-2017
Nominal GDP
Billions of dollars 13,235 13,805 14,472 17,395 * 21519°
Percentage change 6.3 43 48 47 43
Real GDP 33 23 3.0 29 2.5
GDP Price Index 29 19 18 18 18
PCE Price Index’ 28 17 19 20 2.0
Core PCE Price Index® 23 21 19 20 20
Consumer Price Index* 34 19 2.3 2.2 2.2
Core Consumer Price Index' 26 2.6 23 22 2.2
Unemployment Rate (Percent) 4.6 47 49 5.0 5.0
Interest Rates (Percent)
Three-month Treasury bills 47 48 45 44 44
Ten-year Treasury notes 48 4.8 5.0 52 5.2

Sources: Congressional Budget Office; Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis; Department of Labor, Bureau of

Labor Statistics; Federal Reserve Board.
Notes: GDP = gross domestic product.

Percentage changes are measured from one year to the next.

. Levetin 2012,
. Level in 2017,

S

. The personal consumption expenditure chained price
index.

. The personal consumption expenditure chained price
index excluding prices for food and energy.

e. The consumer price index for alt urban consumers.

1.

The consumer price index for all urban consumers excluding prices for food and energy.

ment to edge up from the 4.6 percent rate recorded
for 2006. As housing construction stabilizes, how-
ever, economic growth and employment should
start to recover by the middle of 2007.

Last year, robust investment by businesses and
solid growth in exports helped the U.S. economy
absorb the decline in housing construction. Invest-
ment and exports are expected to continue to sup-
port the economy in 2007. For many years, busi-

nesses’ capital stock (the plant, equipment, and
software they use for production) grew more
slowly than overall demand for U.S. goods and
services; as a result, despite the recent growth of
investment, the nation’s capital stock is still low
relative to the level of demand. Investment should
therefore continue to increase, even if the growth
of demand slows. Similarly, export growth is
likely to remain strong because increases in
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demand for U.S. products overseas are durable
enough to withstand a slight slowdown in U.S.
demand for other countries’ exports.

In the absence of any adverse price shocks to the
economy, the core rate of inflation—which
excludes prices for food and energy—is expected
to ease slightly this year. Overall inflation (as mea-
sured by the year-to-year change in the price index
for personal consumption expenditures) will fall
from last year’s rate of 2.8 percent to 1.7 percent
in 2007 because of a large drop in prices for motor
fuels near the end of last year. The core rate of
inflation, however, is expected to decline less rap-
idly during 2007.

CBO anticipates that the interest rate on three-
month Treasury bills will drop slightly this year
from the 4.9 percent rate seen at the end of 2006.
